Adapted Substrate Delivery Strategies to Enhance Production in Ethanol Fermentation

by

Yueh-Hao Hung

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Bioresource and Food Engineering

Department of Agricultural, Food & Nutritional Science University of Alberta

© Yueh-Hao Hung, 2024

Abstract

Bioethanol, a renewable liquid biofuel, has been widely used to reduce carbon emissions from road transportation. Lignocellulosic biomass, such as forestry wood biomass or agricultural residues, is a sustainable resource for fuel ethanol production which does not compete with food supply. However, bioethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass still faces technological and economic challenges; hence the production steps – pretreatment, hydrolysis, fermentation, and purification - require further advancements. Despite fermentation being extensively applied to lignocellulosic ethanol production, studies on the management of substrate delivery to improve fermentation performance are limited. For instance, self-cycling fermentation (SCF), a semicontinuous fermentation approach, enables sustained yeast growth in the exponential phase and enhanced ethanol productivity through cycling operations. However, the final ethanol titer is restricted in this system by low substrate loading. The primary objective of this thesis is to advance efficient control of substrate delivery in the fermentation process to enhance ethanol production.

In the first study two adapted feeding strategies, in which feed medium addition was adjusted to increase the supply of fermentable sugar, were investigated in pulsing fed-batch fermentation with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Specifically, a linear adapted feeding strategy was established based on changes in cell biomass, and an exponential adapted feeding strategy was developed based on cell biomass accumulation. These two adapted feeding strategies led to increases in overall ethanol productivity of ~20% compared to fixed feeding operations. The results suggest that adjusting sugar feedings based on cell biomass in pulsing fed-batch fermentation leads to higher ethanol productivity than the fixed feeding modes. As the pulsed feeding operation spiked the feed medium into the 5-L bioreactor, glucose concentration increased dramatically followed by depletion until the next feeding.

To maintain lower glucose content during the feeding period, a second study explored adapted feeding strategies using a continuous feeding approach. Evolved gas production, which positively correlated with glucose consumption, was used to adjust the sugar feed rate in fed-batch fermentations. As the sugar feed rate gradually increased, the residual glucose content remained near zero until the yeast was metabolically impacted by the ethanol accumulated. The results showed that the adapted feeding strategy enhanced ethanol productivity by 21% compared to the fixed continuous feeding strategy, in which the sugar feed rate was stable. In addition, the adapted continuous feeding strategy maintained the same ethanol productivity even under low-nitrogen feeding conditions. This study suggests that evolved gas production, a metabolic monitoring parameter, can be used to guide the continuous feeding approach for effectively delivering sugar in yeast ethanol fermentation.

Finally, in the third study, the continuous adapted feeding strategy was integrated into SCF operation. Additionally, a single pulse feed second stage was implemented to further enhance ethanol titer and productivity. The two-stage integrated high-cell density SCF system was successfully applied to the fermentation of hydrolysate from steam-exploded poplar, achieving \sim 11% (v/v) ethanol, which is considered economically favorable for subsequent recovery in the bioethanol industry.

Overall, this thesis demonstrates that adapted feeding strategies, based on the yeast's metabolic responses, can efficiently manage sugar delivery through either pulsing or continuous feeding approaches in ethanol fermentation, thereby enhancing ethanol production. Furthermore, this thesis acts as a foundation to promote lignocellulosic ethanol production, especially when developing an integrated fermentation approach for large-scale production.

Preface

This thesis is an original work performed by Yueh-Hao Ronny Hung. A part of the thesis has been published, with other chapters submitted or in preparation for publication.

Chapter 2 will be submitted for publication. David C. Bressler, Dominic Sauvageau, and Yueh-Hao Ronny Hung have contributed to the published version of the manuscript with Yueh-Hao Ronny Hung serving as the primary author and major contributor. David C. Bressler and Dominic Sauvageau helped in editing the manuscript.

Chapter 3 was published as Hung, Y. H. R., Chae, M., Sauvageau, D., & Bressler, D. C. Adapted feeding strategies in fed-batch fermentation improve sugar delivery and ethanol productivity. Bioengineered. 2023; 14:2250950. David C. Bressler, Dominic Sauvageau, Michael Chae, and Yueh-Hao Ronny Hung conceived and designed experiments. Yueh-Hao Ronny Hung performed experiments and analyzed data. Yueh-Hao Ronny Hung and Dominic Sauvageau wrote the manuscript. David C. Bressler, Dominic Sauvageau and Michael Chae provided assistance in data analysis and troubleshooting and edited the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Chapter 4 will be submitted for publication. David C. Bressler, Dominic Sauvageau, and Yueh-Hao Ronny Hung conceived and designed experiments. Yueh-Hao Ronny Hung performed experiments and analyzed data. Yueh-Hao Ronny Hung and Dominic Sauvageau wrote the manuscript. David C. Bressler and Dominic Sauvageau provided assistance in data analysis, troubleshooting, and edited the manuscript.

Chapter 5 will be submitted for publication. As the primary author, I was responsible for designing, performing, and analyzing experiments, and writing and editing the manuscript. Under my guidance, Mr. Les Dean, an electronics technician in Faculty of Engineering (University of

Alberta), helped me to modify the SCF system for automatic controls on continuous feeding pumps and to launch the LabView software program. David C. Bressler and Dominic Sauvageau provided supervisory contributions to experimental designs and participated in data analysis, troubleshooting, and edited the manuscript.

Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank my supervisors Dr. David C. Bressler and Dr. Dominic Sauvageau for providing this great opportunity and supervising me to pursue the Ph.D. degree at the University of Alberta. I really appreciate your continuous support and guidance in my program. I always learn valuable expertise from you, like academic knowledge, professional writing skills, an active attitude on doing research, and so on. In addition, with your mentorship, I learned how to communicate my research in academic conferences and comfortably share stories with industrial experts. I believe these characteristics will help create further opportunities to develop my future career. And thank you for sharing the Canadian culture with me and I really enjoy it!

I want to express my special gratitude to my supervisory committee Dr. Lisa Stein for giving me insightful feedback and comments on my research. Thank you, Lisa, for your time and comments in every C1B meeting. This really helped me to deliver my research and have your insights to further improve my research designs. Many thanks to candidacy examiners Dr. Michael Gaenzle and Dr. Ravin Narain for your excellent viewpoints to my research. Also, thanks to Dr. Feral Temelli for kindly chairing the candidacy exam and making the meeting smooth. Many thanks to oral defense examiners Dr. Daniel Barreda and Dr. Lars Rehmann for helping me to make my thesis better. Also, thanks to Dr. Wendy Wismer for your kind assistance being the examiner chair for my defense and making the flow smoothly.

I would like to heartfeltly thank Dr. Michael Chae for all your kind help. When I join Dr. Bressler's lab, Mike always provides me with practical advice to assist me get on the right track, either on research or life. I was suffering from my language in the beginning of the program, and your patience meant a lot to me. Your encouragement truly helps me to express my thoughts loudly and properly. Thank you for pointing out my weaknesses, leading me to face reality and to have a chance to improve myself. I really appreciate everything you taught. Also, I would like to particularly thank Dr. Justice Asomaning. Thank you, Justice, for your solid chemical and mechanical knowledge always helping me troubleshooting bioreactors. I appreciate your feedback on my research as well, allowing me to analyze data from a different viewpoint.

During my program, I am grateful for having financial support from Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC: Discovery Grants, RGPIN 298352-2013), Canada First Research Excellence Fund, and Future Energy System (FES: T01-P01). Without these supports, my research project cannot be made. I am also thankful to Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research (FGSR) and Department of Agricultural, Food & Nutritional Science (AFNS) at the University of Alberta for the travel scholarships, supporting me to join research conferences and broaden my horizon. I would like to acknowledge Alicat Scientific for providing discounts on mass flow meter, helping me to have a reliable device to conduct research. A special thanks to Mr. Les Dean, an electronics technician (Faculty of Engineering, University of Alberta). Thank you for your assistance in modifying and troubleshooting the self-cycling fermentation system with LabView program. It was a nice experience to work with you.

I want to thank all my colleagues in Dr. Bressler's lab, including but not limiting to Afees, Amin, Andres, Angie, Bernardo, Bingxin, Dagem, Dawit, Elisabeth, Emmanuella, Fantahun, Fiona, Frehiwot, Haley, Heather, Jaquelinne, Jie, John, Koel, Lisandra, Mahfuzul, Marttin, Minh, Mushafau, Ramesh, Reza, Samuel, Santiago, Sara, Tao, Victor, Yeling, Zak, and new lab mates. Thank you all for letting me experience your wonderful home culture and language. Really glad to work with you. Also, I must kindly thank Jingui, an amazing laboratory technician in Dr. Bressler's lab. Thank you so much for all the technical support in the lab. With your help, we can arrange our experiments easily. Your management makes the lab neat and well-organized, providing a safe working environment for us. I would also like to acknowledge all the teammates in Dr. Sauvageau, and Dr. Stein labs, including but not limiting to Amy, Ana, Brittany, Cerrise, Elizabeth, Fatemeh, Hem, Jinyu, Liliana, Marina, Mark, Melissa, Pablo, Shibashis, Yadong, and Yusheng. Really appreciate your help and every feedback and suggestion you have given.

I would like to give thanks to Dr. Valerie Miller for providing me with opportunities to demonstrate and share my research with kids and parents in public science events. I appreciate Dr. Urmila Basu and Coco Tsai for giving me a chance to work with you in the AFNS store, which was a great working period. I also had a good time working with Dawit in the fermentation facility. Thank you, Dawit, for your kind support, and I won't forget to have lobster for dinner.

Lastly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my family. Thank you, thank you, and unlimited thanks. Without your trust and support, I couldn't study abroad and have such an achievement. I also want to thank the great place I have stayed for a long time, Edmonton (and Alberta). It has a wonderful summer season, which brings me a lot of fun and exciting hiking experiences. Overall, thanks for everything I have experienced so far. Life is such painful and joyful, isn't it?

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction1
1.1 Research background1
1.2 Research objectives
Chapter 2 Literature review6
2.1 Ethanol fermentation
2.2 Fundamental fermentation modes for ethanol production
2.2.1 Batch fermentation
2.2.2 Fed-batch fermentation10
2.2.2.1 Feeding strategies
2.2.2.2 Limitations in fed-batch fermentation
2.2.3 Continuous fermentation
2.3 Advanced fermentation modes for ethanol production
2.3.1 Repeated batch fermentation16
2.3.2 Sequential batch fermentation
2.3.3 Self-cycling fermentation
2.3.4 Extractive fermentation
2.4 Control strategy in feeding regimes for ethanol fermentation
2.4.1 Open-loop control
2.4.2 Feedback control
2.5 Potential limitations in ethanol fermentation for lignocellulosic ethanol production28
2.5.1 Separated hydrolysis fermentation
2.5.2 Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation

2.5.3 Pentose utilization from lignocellulosic feedstocks	
2.5.4 Inhibitory compounds in lignocellulosic hydrolysate	
2.6 Integrations of fermentation modes for bioethanol production	
2.7 Summary	42
Chapter 3 Adapted pulsed feeding strategies in fed-batch fermentation	improve sugar
delivery and ethanol productivity	43
3.1 Abstract	43
3.2 Background	44
3.2 Methods and Materials	46
3.2.1 Yeast, medium, and cultivation	46
3.2.2 Fermentation	47
3.2.2.1 Fermentation settings	47
3.2.2.2 Fed-batch fermentation	47
3.2.2.3 Feeding strategies	48
3.2.3 Analytical methods	49
3.2.4 Statistical analysis	50
3.3 Results and Discussion	50
3.3.1 Impact of adapted pulsed feeding strategies	50
3.3.2 Monitoring evolved gas during fed-batch fermentation	59
3.4 Conclusions	61
Chapter 4 Adapted continuous feeding strategies in fed-batch fermentation in	mprove ethanol
productivity	62
4.1 Abstract	62

4.2 Background
4.3 Methods and Materials
4.3.1 Yeast, media, and cultivation
4.3.2 Fed-batch fermentation
4.3.2.1 Settings and accessories for 5-L bioreactors
4.3.2.2 Continuous feeding strategies
4.3.3 Analyses of fermentation samples
4.4 Results and Discussion
4.4.1 Impact of continuous feeding strategies on ethanol fermentation
4.4.2 Overall advancements in ethanol fermentation by adapted feeding strategies
4.5 Conclusions
Chapter 5 Ethanol production from steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate through a two-stage
high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system80
high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system 80 5.1 Abstract
high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system 80 5.1 Abstract 5.2 Background
high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system 80 5.1 Abstract 80 5.2 Background 81 5.3 Methods and Materials 82
high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system 80 5.1 Abstract 80 5.2 Background 81 5.3 Methods and Materials 82 5.3.1 Fermentation media 82
high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system 80 5.1 Abstract 80 5.2 Background 81 5.3 Methods and Materials 82 5.3.1 Fermentation media 82 5.3.2 Yeast cultivation 83
high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system 80 5.1 Abstract 80 5.2 Background 81 5.3 Methods and Materials 82 5.3.1 Fermentation media 82 5.3.2 Yeast cultivation 83 5.3.3 Fermentation configurations 83
high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system 80 5.1 Abstract 80 5.2 Background 81 5.3 Methods and Materials 82 5.3.1 Fermentation media 82 5.3.2 Yeast cultivation 83 5.3.3 Fermentation configurations 83 5.3.3.1 Self-cycling fermentation with continuous adapted feeding strategy (stage 1) 83
high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system 80 5.1 Abstract 80 5.2 Background 81 5.3 Methods and Materials 82 5.3.1 Fermentation media 82 5.3.2 Yeast cultivation 83 5.3.3 Fermentation configurations 83 5.3.3.1 Self-cycling fermentation with continuous adapted feeding strategy (stage 1) 83 5.3.3.2 Pulsed feed second fermentation (stage 2) 84
high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system 80 5.1 Abstract 80 5.2 Background 81 5.3 Methods and Materials 82 5.3.1 Fermentation media 82 5.3.2 Yeast cultivation 83 5.3.3 Fermentation configurations 83 5.3.3.1 Self-cycling fermentation with continuous adapted feeding strategy (stage 1) 83 5.3.3.2 Pulsed feed second fermentation (stage 2) 84 5.3.4 Analytical methods 85

5.4.1 High-cell density SCF system with synthetic fermentation medium (stage 1).	
5.4.2 Single pulsed feed fermentation with synthetic fermentation medium (stage 2	.)89
5.4.3 Integrated two-stage system	91
5.4.4 Enzymatic hydrolysate from steam-exploded poplar	93
5.4.5 High-cell density SCF system with lignocellulosic fermentation medium (stag	ge 1)94
5.4.6 Single pulsed feed fermentation with lignocellulosic fermentation medium (st	tage 2)97
5.5 Conclusions	101
Chapter 6 Discussion, conclusions, and future perspectives	
6.1 Discussion and conclusions	102
6.2 Future perspectives	105
Bibliography	109
Appendix A: supplementary materials	127

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Applications and limitations of fermentation modes on bioethanol production
Table 3.1 Overall performance in ethanol fermentation by four pulsed feeding strategies
Table 3.2 Lignocellulosic ethanol production via simultaneous saccharification and fermentation
using Saccharomyces cerevisiae58
Table 4.1 Overall fermentation performance from fixed and adapted continuous feeding strategies
Table 5.1 Fermentation performance of the high-cell density SCF system (stage 1) with single
pulsed feed fermentation (stage 2) in synthetic fermentation medium
Table 5.2 Sugar composition and inhibitors in the steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate
Table 5.3 Fermentation performance of the high-cell density SCF system (stage 1) with single
pulsed feed fermentation (stage 2) in lignocellulosic fermentation medium100

List of Figures

Figure 3.1 Changes in cell dry weight (a–d), glucose content (e–h), ethanol titer (i–l), and evolved
gas flow rate (m-p) from 5% fixed (circle), 10% fixed (triangle), linear adapted (square), and
exponential adapted (diamond) feeding strategies
Figure 4.1 The correlation between evolved gas produced (mL/L) and glucose consumed (g/L)
per reactor volume in ethanol fermentation of <i>S. cerevisiae</i>
Figure 4.2 Cell dry weight (a, e, i), glucose concentration (b, f, j), ethanol concentration (c, g, k),
and evolved gas flow rate (d, h, l) in fed-batch fermentation of S. cerevisiae cultures
undergoing fixed (a-d, circle) and adapted (e-h, triangle) continuous feeding strategies, and
adapted continuous feeding strategy with low nitrogen feed medium (i-l, diamond). Means
are reported for analytical triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation.
Figure 4.3 Glucose consumption rate in fed-batch fermentation of S. cerevisiae cultures
undergoing fixed and adapted continuous feeding strategies
Figure 4.4 Cell growth in adapted continuous feeding strategies with high (white circle) or low
nitrogen feed medium (black circle). Means are reported for independent triplicates (n=3),
with error bars representing standard deviation74
Figure 4.5 Cell dry weight (a), glucose concentration (b), ethanol concentration (c), and evolved
gas flow rate (d) in fed-batch fermentation of S. cerevisiae cultures undergoing fixed
continuous feeding strategies with low nitrogen medium. Means are reported for analytical
triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation76
Figure 4.6 Glucose consumption rate in fed-batch fermentation of S. cerevisiae cultures

- Figure 5.1 Glucose (a), ethanol (b), cell dry weight (c), cycle time (d), evolved gas flow rate (e), and evolved gas production (f) in synthetic fermentation medium undergoing SCF with continuous adapted feeding (stage 1). Cycle numbers are indicated at the beginning of the cycle. Means are reported for analytical triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation.
- **Figure 5.2** Glucose, ethanol, and cell dry weight in the harvested cycles 1–6 synthetic fermentation medium (a–f) undergoing stage 2. Symbol "x" shown at 0 h indicates the ethanol content in the initial harvested medium before the single pulse addition. Means are reported for analytical triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation. ..90
- Figure 5.3 Volumetric ethanol productivity in the SCF with continuous adapted feeding (stage 1) and the single pulsed feed fermentation (stage 2) in synthetic fermentation medium. Means are reported for analytical triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation.
- Figure 5.5 Glucose, ethanol, and cell dry weight in the harvested cycles 1–6 lignocellulosic fermentation medium (a–f) undergoing stage 2. Symbol "x" shown at 0 h indicates the ethanol content in the initial harvested medium before the single pulse addition. Means are reported from analytical triplicates (n=3) with error bars representing standard deviations.

List of Abbreviations

5-HMF	5-hydroxymethylfurfural
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
CBP	Consolidated bioprocessing
ccm	Cubic centimeter per minute (the unit of gas flow rate)
CDW	Cell dry weight
CER	Carbon dioxide evolution rate
CNCs	Cellulose nanocrystals
FPU	Filter paper unit
g/L	Gram per liter
GC	Gas chromatography
h	Hours
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
IEA	International Energy Agency
mL	Milliliter
mM	Millimolar
N:C	Nitrogen-to-carbon
OD600	Optical density at 600 nm
RID	Refractive index detector
rpm	Revolutions per minute
SCF	Self-cycling fermentation
SEP	Steam-exploded poplar
SHF	Separate hydrolysis and fermentation
SSCF	Simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation
SSF	Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation
v/v	Volume by volume
w/v	Weight by volume
w/w	Weight by weight
YNB	Yeast nitrogen base
YPDA	Yeast extract-peptone-dextrose agar

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Research background

Developing biofuels from renewable materials is essential to enhancing the sustainability of energy sources and reducing carbon emissions in transportation. Bioethanol, as a promising liquid biofuel, is widely used as an alternative fuel for road transportation in many countries, such as the United States of America, Brazil, and Canada, offsetting the usage of gasoline. As the bio-industrial economy continues to develop, the use of bioethanol and, thus, its related research have widely expanded [1]. According to the International Energy Agency (IEA), under the projected Net Zero Scenario, the global demand for bioethanol will increase by about 63% from 2022 to 2030 [2]. Lignocellulosic biomass, such as forestry-provided woody materials, straw and other agricultural biomass, are viewed as sustainable feedstocks for bioethanol production that is not in competition with food sources [3]. Furthermore, the integration of bioethanol production and co-production of value-added products from lignocellulosic biomasses is a potential strategy to further enhance economic competitiveness. However, it should be noted that compared to the sugar- or starch-based bioethanol pathways, the commercial availability of lignocellulosic ethanol is relatively limited and requires both technical and non-technical advancements for broader adoption [4]. Reduction of processing costs for lignocellulosic ethanol production is a subject of great interest for the industry moving forward. A generalized process for lignocellulosic ethanol includes pretreatment, hydrolysis/saccharification, fermentation, and ethanol recovery [1]. Among these steps, fermentation is a key processing step for converting substrate to ethanol using microorganisms, which is the primary focus of this thesis.

Self-cycling fermentation (SCF) is a cyclic, semi-continuous approach which comprises three parts: harvest, refill, and fermentation [5]. In each cycle, half of the volume of the fermentation

broth is harvested and replaced with an equal volume of fresh medium to continue the fermentation [6]. A major advantage of using SCF is to keep the microorganism growing in exponential phase, which means that lag phase, stationary phase, and death phase are eliminated, or at least greatly reduced, during the fermentation [7]. SCF has been widely applied for the production of secondary metabolites, such as biosurfactant [8], antibiotics [9], biodegradable plastics [10] under aerobic conditions. However, studies on the potential and capability of the SCF system for bioethanol production are limited. In previous work from our laboratory, an effective SCF system for lignocellulosic ethanol production was explored and established. Firstly, Wang et al. [7] showed that volumetric ethanol productivity in shake flasks improved by $43.1 \pm 11.6\%$ compared to batch fermentation. This study demonstrated a proof-of-concept that SCF can be applied to ethanol production using a commercial distiller yeast strain. In a second study, Wang et al. [11] further scaled up the fermentation to 5-L bioreactors and developed an automated SCF system for precisely controlling the fermentation process. The results showed that ethanol productivity improved by 37.5–75.3% in SCF cycles compared to batch fermentation. In a third study, Wang et al. [12] successfully applied the SCF to a lignocellulosic hydrolysate made from wood pulp and indicated that ethanol productivity increased by 54–82% compared to batch operation. In addition, they designed a two-stage fermentation process, incorporating an additional stage after cycling operations to make the yeast further consume xylose for ethanol production; as a result, overall ethanol productivity was improved by 63–95% beyond than of a traditional batch operation. These three studies achieved a great milestone for potentially utilizing SCF for lignocellulosic ethanol production.

On the other hand, in this earlier work, the ethanol titer achieved in each SCF cycle was only 2.0-2.5% (w/v) when using a synthetic medium [11] and around 2.0% (w/v) when using the wood

pulp hydrolysate [12]. To make lignocellulosic ethanol production more economically viable, the ethanol titer must be increased to lower the energy demand and recovery costs from the subsequent downstream processes [13]. The minimal ethanol titer required for economically viable recovery in industrial settings is 4% (w/v) [14, 15]. As a comparison, fuel ethanol made from first-generation feedstocks (sugar- and starch-based biomass) generally reaches above 11% (v/v) [16]. In this context, fed-batch fermentation is a strategy with the potential to address the low final ethanol titer seen in previous SCF studies.

It is known that fed-batch fermentation helps to mitigate substrate inhibition through adding substrates gradually or stepwise [17]. In addition, fed-batch fermentation can improve ethanol yield [18] and productivity [19] by intermittently or continuously adding fresh nutrients in bioreactors to increase cell density beyond what is possible in batch fermentation. Hence, higher ethanol concentration can be achieved in fed-batch operation compared to batch mode. It is worth noting that feeding strategies or regimes are critical to impact the effectiveness of fed-batch fermentation. The addition of fermentable sugar especially influences overall ethanol yield and productivity in the fermentation process [20]. However, only a few studies have focused on the management of substrate delivery in fed-batch fermentation for lignocellulosic ethanol production.

Therefore, my research first aims to develop adapted feeding strategies in fed-batch fermentation, allowing the efficient management of substrate delivery. Secondly, these strategies will be integrated into the SCF system to further enhance final ethanol titer, as compared to a single fermentation system. Finally, the integrated fermentation system will be investigated for the utilization of lignocellulosic feedstock for ethanol production, providing critical insights on the implementation of multiple fermentation approaches for lignocellulosic ethanol production in the bioethanol industry.

1.2 Research objectives

The overall objective of this research is to investigate adapted fed-batch strategies, which enable efficient control of substrate delivery in ethanol fermentation, followed by their integration into a SCF system. This is expected to further improve ethanol titer and productivity. The research suggested opportunities for applying the integrated SCF system in the lignocellulosic ethanol industry, highlighting the prospects of commercial bioethanol production.

- The specific objectives investigated and achieved in this research included:
 - (1) The development of adjustable and efficient feeding strategies for substrate delivery via either pulsing (Chapter 3) or continuous (Chapter 4) feeding in fed-batch fermentation for improving ethanol titer and productivity.
 - (2) The integration of the adapted feeding strategies into SCF and subsequent evaluation of ethanol concentration and volumetric ethanol productivity gains made through the integrated fermentation system using synthetic media, as compared to a batch mode (Chapter 5).
 - (3) The investigation of the potential for an integrated fermentation system to be applied to the fermentation of steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate for ethanol production and the assessment of the ability for this advanced fermentation system to further improve ethanol titer and volumetric productivity, as compared to a batch mode (Chapter 5).
- The promising outcomes from those specific objectives are:
 - (1) The first study (Chapter 3) demonstrates that cell growth is a significant variable for adjusting sugar delivery in pulsing fed-batch fermentation of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for ethanol production. The following major hypothesis was tested: *if glucose is fed as*

pulses adjusted based on changes in cell biomass, then ethanol productivity would be improved compared to constant pulse feeding. This study provides an efficient method to adjust glucose addition in a pulsing fed-batch system to enhance ethanol production.

- (2) The second study (Chapter 4) shows that evolved gas production from ethanol fermentation can be used as an effective monitoring parameter to estimate glucose consumption in the reactor and to guide the continuous, adapted sugar delivery in fedbatch fermentation of *S. cerevisiae*. The major hypothesis tested was: *if glucose addition is adjusted according to the evolved gas production when 10% (v/v) ethanol is achieved in the fermentation of S. cerevisiae, then ethanol productivity can be improved, as compared to a fixed continuous feeding mode*. This study contributes to a robust and adjustable feeding strategy for sugar delivery in continuous fed-batch fermentation.
- (3) The third study (Chapter 5) integrated the continuous adapted feeding strategy into a SCF system. Ethanol was accumulated at higher levels than in previous SCF studies [11], and was further increased (to above 10% (v/v)) by adding a second stage in which an additional pulse feed was added to complete fermentation. *The integrated fermentation system was successfully applied to both synthetic medium and the steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate*. This study provides baseline information to efficiently control ethanol fermentation using the advanced integrated fermentation system, suggesting its potential applicability to the cellulosic ethanol industry for commercial production.

Chapter 2 Literature review

The focus of this review is to provide a better understanding of the impact of fermentation modes on lignocellulosic ethanol production and address pathways to shorten the technical limitations for commercial lignocellulosic ethanol production from a fermentation perspective. Specifically, in this review article, fundamental and advanced fermentation modes for producing lignocellulosic ethanol will be investigated. Moreover, we will highlight possible limitations in various approaches to the fermentation of lignocellulosic ethanol and suggest opportunities for fermentation modes to provide opportunities to overcome hindrances. Finally, the opportunity for the integration of fermentation modes is discussed in terms of their potential in industrial lignocellulosic ethanol production and advanced processes.

*A version of this chapter will be submitted for publication.

2.1 Ethanol fermentation

Although various microorganisms can produce ethanol, the yeast *S. cerevisiae* has been widely used by the bioethanol industry, due to its high ethanol yield and environmental stress tolerance [21]. For example, the wild type *S. cerevisiae* can tolerate ethanol stress up to an ethanol content of approximately 15% (v/v) [22]. However, some industrial strains can tolerate ethanol contents above 20% (v/v) to purse higher ethanol yield [23]. Ethanol production under anaerobic conditions is a key aspect of the primary metabolism of *S. cerevisiae* consuming fermentable sugars, such as sucrose, maltose, glucose, fructose, galactose, and mannose. During this process, when sugars are metabolized, it is converted into ethanol and carbon dioxide. This conversion occurs through glycolysis and subsequent fermentation pathways. Additionally, the process generates adenosine triphosphate (ATP), which is essential for the yeast's cellular functions, including growth,

maintenance, and reproduction. [3, 24]. Based on this metabolism, glucose utilization is coupled with cell biomass formation, ethanol and carbon dioxide production, and cell maintenance in ethanol fermentation of *S. cerevisiae* [20].

These metabolic functions can be modeled in a batch culture according to the following kinetic equations [25, 26]:

(i) Cell biomass (X) growth rate: $\frac{dX}{dt} = \mu X$ Eq. (2.1) where μ is the specific growth rate (h⁻¹)

(ii) Substrate (S) utilization rate:
$$\frac{dS}{dt} = -\frac{\mu X}{Y_{x/s}}$$
 Eq. (2.2)

where Y_{X/s} is the yield coefficient of cell biomass on substrate (g-biomass/g-substrate)

(iii) Product (P) formation rate: $\frac{dP}{dt} = \mu X \cdot Y_{P/X}$ or $\frac{dP}{dt} = Y_{P/S} \cdot \left(\frac{dS}{dt}\right)$ Eq. (2.3) where Y_{P/X} is the yield coefficient of product on biomass (g-product/g-biomass) and Y_{P/S} is

the yield coefficient of product on substrate (g-product/g-substrate).

The information of the growth kinetic of the yeast is crucial for optimizing ethanol fermentation in fuel production [21]. Substrate concentration or the approach of substrate delivery becomes an important variable that influences the overall fermentation performance. In the following sections, fermentation approaches to substrate delivery for ethanol production are reviewed.

2.2 Fundamental fermentation modes for ethanol production

2.2.1 Batch fermentation

Batch fermentation is a closed operation mode. In batch operation, most of components, such as starter culture, base media, and substrates, are loaded into the bioreactor prior to fermentation, and the desired product is harvested in the end of operation [27-29]. It should be noted that the end of batch operation is not exactly equal to the end of fermentation. For example, after ethanol fermentation in the brewing process, most of beer requires additional conditioning (or aging) to form aromatic compounds for the purpose of enhancing flavors [30]. In this case, the batch reactor can also be used as the intermediate storage vessel. In addition, during batch fermentation, traditionally the volume of fermentation medium does not change substantially, and the change usually comes from sampling, gas exchange, or other essential control agents (e.g. antifoam, acid/alkali). Thus, compared to other fermentation operations, batch fermentation is easily controlled which makes it widely applied for food, chemical, pharmaceutical, and agricultural products.

To optimize microbial growth, batch fermentation is appropriate for use as a benchmark approach. Cell growth is influenced by intrinsic factors (e.g. pH, nutrient), extrinsic factors (e.g. gaseous environment, processing conditions), and implicit factors (e.g. specific growth rate) [31]. Certain levels of metabolic inhibiting compounds in lignocellulosic hydrolysate, such as furans, organic acids, and phenolic compounds can limit yeast growth and its ethanol production [32, 33]. However, through batch fermentation, the growth-related variables can be optimized for cell growth and ethanol production. As an example, the concentration of inhibitors has been evaluated and regulated in batch fermentation for lignocellulosic ethanol production, allowing the yeast to grow with inhibitors and reducing the potential of growth of microbial contaminants under a nonsterile condition [34]. Although fermentation is a complex bioprocess, interactions between growth-related variables in ethanol fermentation can be explored via batch approaches for optimizing cell growth. To maximize ethanol yield utilizing a batch approach, substrate concentration is a key design parameter. Chang *et al.* [35] pointed out that glucose concentration in the corncob hydrolysate influenced the alcoholic metabolism and cell accumulation of the yeast *Saccharomyces (S.) cerevisiae*. Either excessive or insufficient sugar loadings resulted in inefficient ethanol production, leading to high residual sugars or low ethanol content at the end of fermentation, respectively. It should be noted that the residual sugars in starchy ethanol production are typically kept lower than 2 g/L to prevent the growth of contaminants and to ensure high ethanol yield [22]. Studies have focused on optimizing substrate loadings in simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) to improve ethanol concentration and to reduce energy expenditure in subsequent distillation [36-38]. High amounts of solid substrate could limit mass transfer in the reactor and decrease the efficiency of enzymatic hydrolysis [37]. However, this limitation can be addressed by investigating fundamental batch operations, gaining a proper understanding of solid loading in SSF.

Compared to other fermentation approaches, applying batch fermentation alone can limit the efficiency of fermentation in lignocellulosic ethanol production. For instance, the initial substrate content is restricted in batch mode due to the potential substrate inhibition on microorganisms, thereby limiting the final ethanol concentration in the fermentation process [39]. Furthermore, intensive manpower has to be taken into consideration for batch operations since every batch requires the repetition of the same preliminary works for fermentation, such as medium preparation, cleaning, and harvesting [29, 40]. These time-consuming steps may reduce overall ethanol productivity and cause economic loss, as compared to a fermentation system working continuously [41]. As a result, to further enhance bioethanol production from different lignocellulosic feedstocks, various fermentation operations beyond batch mode are required, including fed-batch, continuous, self-cycling, and other advanced fermentation approaches.

2.2.2 Fed-batch fermentation

Fed-batch fermentation is a fermentation mode that combines batch and feeding operations. Through fed-batch approaches, substrates can be transferred intermittently or continuously into the bioreactor. Based on this characteristic, substrate inhibition on microorganisms can be minimized in the fed-batch pathway [42]. For example, Chang *et al.* [35] reported that fed-batch fermentation could gain higher sugar-to-ethanol ratio and biomass-to-ethanol ratio than the batch fermentation, due to low substrate inhibition in fermentation. When sugar concentration is greater than 25% (w/v), the environmental osmotic pressure can have significant impacts on reducing the yeast *S. cerevisiae* viability and its ethanol production [22]. As such, compared to batch fermentation that loads all the medium at once, fed-batch approach has an advantage in that it relieves the substrate inhibition by introducing fresh substrate at a controlled lower concentration during fermentation. Furthermore, with feeding controls, the log phase of the yeast is extended for ethanol production at the highest rate [20]. Due to this characteristic, high cell density can be also achieved by fed-batch fermentation [43]. Overall, fed-batch fermentation is a well-established fermentation approach in various industries [42], suggesting a promising pathway for large-scale commercial production of lignocellulosic ethanol.

2.2.2.1 Feeding strategies

In the fed-batch approach, feeding strategy is a crucial variable to control the fermentation process. Based on different feeding strategies, fermentation can be driven in a variety of corresponding directions. For instance, adding high amounts of sugars or salts in fermentation led to higher glycerol accumulation in yeast cells, due to changes in environmental osmotic pressure [20, 44]. Or supplying additional vitamins to yeasts could improve cell viability and the strain's overall ethanol tolerance [45]. In terms of limiting nutrients, fermentable sugar is a major carbon

source and thus impacts the yeasts' metabolism, ethanol yield, and ethanol productivity [20]. Controlling the sugar stream in the fed-batch fermentation is particularly critical for optimizing ethanol production. However, studies of adaptable feeding strategies for sugar delivery in lignocellulosic ethanol production are still very limited. A fixed rate substrate supply may not address limited fermentation performance and maximize ethanol production.

In terms of fed-batch strategies, substrate delivery can be achieved by one or multiple streams in either intermittent or continuous feeding operations until the desired end-point is reached [42]. Intermittent feeding strategy, also named pulsed feeding, features an approach in which specific quantities of limiting nutrients are added either at one time or at multiple times [18, 46]. On the other hand, continuous feeding strategy relies on pumping limiting nutrients into the bioreactor continuously [47, 48]. When it comes to feeding lignocellulosic hydrolysate for ethanol production, a continuous feeding strategy may favor ethanol fermentation more than pulsed feeding. This is supported by the realization that the exposure of microorganisms to metabolically inhibiting compounds, such as furfural derivatives, is reduced under continuous delivery. However, both pulsed and continuous feeding operations can reach the maximum concentration of the desired product [42]. The selection of feeding pathway should be aligned to the entire process design.

When developing feeding strategies, aligning to the chosen approach of fermentation system for the production process is also critical. In terms of lignocellulosic ethanol production, both separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF) and simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) can fit with fed-batch operations. In a SHF system, fermentable sugars can be transported using either hydrolysates or synthetic media. Reducing substrate inhibition, increasing final ethanol concentration, and other advantages are achieved by fed-batch operations in SHF [35, 49, 50]. Alternatively, fed-batch operations act slightly differently in SSF system because hydrolysis and fermentation are combined in the same step. As a result, feeding strategy can either focus on delivering substrates, enzymes, or both in combination, suggesting more opportunities to improve production efficiency. For example, high solid substrate loading in a batch SSF may have issues with mass transfer in the reactor [51]. However, by adjusting substrate or enzyme loadings with fed-batch operations, these limitations can be resolved for enhancing ethanol production [52, 53]. It should be noted that as compared to SHF system, the physical-chemical characteristics of substrates need more assessments when developing a feeding strategy in SSF. Variables like viscosity or contents of fermentable components may influence the overall efficiency of ethanol fermentation [54].

2.2.2.2 Limitations in fed-batch fermentation

Compared to batch fermentation, control variables (such as one stream or multiple streams feeding pathways) and maintenance in fed-batch fermentation is more complex, including an increase in capital costs for infrastructure and manpower [55]. Moreover, frequent feedings or adjustments to bioreactors may increase the risk of cross-contamination in the process. When substrates are fed into bioreactors, the working volume and composition of fermentation medium change. Additionally, the heterogeneous properties of the fermentation medium often affect the microbial growth in fermentation. For example, metabolic inhibitory compounds (e.g. furfural, 5-HMF) can be introduced and accumulated in the fermentation. Once the inhibitor concentration exceeds the tolerance of the microorganism, cell growth cannot be controlled by the feeding strategy and the fermentation efficiency may reduce [49, 56]. In addition, ethanol concentration is another variable known to induce environmental stress on microorganisms which requires further investigation and optimization in fed-batch approaches [22, 57]. However, these metabolic

limitations can be addressed or alleviated with effective feeding designs, thereby achieving high cell density, high product titer, or maximal product formation rate in fermentation. To reduce unfavored accumulation issues in fed-batch fermentation, various modified approaches can be introduced to the fermentation operational system, such as combining it with cycling operations.

Overall, fed-batch fermentation is viewed as a valuable approach for bioethanol production that can benefit final ethanol concentration and ethanol productivity. An adjustable feeding strategy plays a critical role in controlling yeast growth and maximizing ethanol production in the fed-batch fermentation. Feeding objectives, fermentation systems, or substrate characteristics can be suitable candidates to investigate when developing effective fed-batch approaches for lignocellulosic ethanol production.

2.2.3 Continuous fermentation

Continuous fermentation is an open culture system, including both feeding and harvesting operations continuously which at steady state results in a constant culture volume during the fermentation process. Two forms of steady states are mainly recognized in continuous fermentation. The first is a chemostat and the second is the turbidostat, which either focus on controlling culture environment or cell biomass concentration, respectively [58]. Most ethanol production conducted in continuous fermentation is conducted under the chemostat approach, due to various production goals of the fermentation. For example, a chemostat provides a potential pathway to address the effect of a single limiting nutrient on both yeast growth and ethanol productivity at the same time [59]. In terms of reactor designs, plug-flow reactors and continuous stirred tank reactors (CSTR) are known classes applied in continuous fermentation for ethanol production [60].

Compared to batch fermentation, continuous fermentation provides several advantages in ethanol production. Primarily, it enhances the product throughput. With continuously feeding and harvesting, the growth of yeast is kept in the exponential phase, leading to the highest ethanol productivity in the growth curve during ethanol fermentation [20, 60]. Ahn et al. [61] showed that ethanol productivity was enhanced 1.57 times by continuous fermentation over batch fermentation. When the dilution rate increases, ethanol productivity can boost as well [62, 63]. Due to the improvement in ethanol productivity, bioreactors are likely to be designed with smaller working volumes for continuous fermentation which reduces the capital cost of infrastructure [64]. Furthermore, operating a continuous fermentation approach can cut down the processing time required for non-fermentation stages, such as cleaning, sterilization, or other unproductive activities [65, 66]. Secondly, negative impacts generated from toxic metabolites can be reduced in continuous fermentation. In the case of S. cerevisiae, as ethanol accumulates to a certain level during fermentation, the yeast eventually become metabolically inactive due to the toxic nature of the ethanol [22]. However, continuous fermentation could dilute the level of ethanol by feeding fresh substrate and harvesting the fermentation medium, leading to a higher ethanol productivity, as compared to batch fermentation [67]. It should be noted that although increasing the dilution rate can enhance ethanol productivity, cell biomass may be washed out if the dilution rate is higher than the specific growth rate of the cell. To address this limitation, cell retention has been investigated to minimize the wash out effect and reach high cell density in continuous fermentation. Cell immobilization [68], cell recycling [67, 69], or using flocculating yeast [70] are known cell retention techniques for enhancing the efficiency of continuous fermentation in this system.

On the other hand, certain limitations in continuous fermentation provide obstacles to extensive application at an industrial scale for bioethanol production. Continuous fermentation systems have been recognized as having severe microbial contamination issues [30]. They require high hygiene standards across the entire operations, increasing extra costs for quality control.

Moreover, operational skills for controlling a continuous fermentation system are more demanding and complicated than for a batch mode operation. For example, if the dilution rate is not controlled properly, the wash-out effect can be significant in the bioreactor, where cell density may decrease and more substrates will accumulate in the outlet stream. Additionally, due to the dilution effect, final ethanol concentration is generally low in continuous fermentation system which is not favored for downstream recovery in the bioethanol industry. However, it is worth noting that continuous fermentation system can combined with very-high-gravity fermentation by applying multistage reactors to increase substrate feedings and further improve final ethanol concentration [71]. With this approach, there is still a requirement to avoid substrate inhibition in the first reactor, as extra osmotic stress may inhibit yeast viability and growth. In terms of strain stability, microbial selection can occur in a continuous fermentation system, which may increase the probability and risks of selecting for mutants. Although continuous fermentation can be a useful approach to select high ethanol-tolerant yeasts by adapting the environmental pressure [72], mutants may perform different metabolisms and characteristics, disturbing the original steady state. Unexpected new traits, such as foaming, flocculation, or flotation, may disrupt fermentation systems and cause economic losses [73].

A well-controlled continuous fermentation can demonstrate steady states in both the microorganism's metabolism and the culture environment, which provides opportunity to study the physiology of the microbe. Overall, the continuous fermentation approach offers the advantage of high productivity, low substrate/product inhibition, and less workload in terms of maintenance, as compared to traditional batch approach. On the other hand, the stability of the continuous fermentation still requires further investigation and improvement, especially in large scale ethanol production. [74]

2.3 Advanced fermentation modes for ethanol production

In addition to the traditional fundamental fermentation approaches (batch, fed-batch, and continuous), various derivative fermentation modes have been constructed for different purposes in lignocellulosic ethanol production.

2.3.1 Repeated batch fermentation

One central principle in repeated batch fermentation is to re-use the starter culture in the process, i.e., cell recycling. For example, after a batch completion, the yeast has been collected, centrifuged, and then transferred into a fresh fermentation medium to start a new batch fermentation [75]. Through recycling cells, time and cost can be saved on the preparation of inoculum for repeated processes [76, 77]. In addition, cell density have been increased by cell recycling in the reactor, resulting in further improvement of ethanol productivity [78]. Fan et al. [79] stated that there was no lag phase for ethanol production in repeated batch fermentation, and the average ethanol productivity was improved compared to batch fermentation mode. Slininger et al. [80] introduced a supportive perspective that a high pitching rate might reduce the metabolic demand for cell growth in a new batch, enabling more carbon to flow to ethanol production instead of biomass accumulation and thereby enhancing sugar-to-ethanol conversion and fermentation rate. Furthermore, cell recycling operations might lead to cell adaption in the fermentation process in which the principle of the genetic drift aligns with the continuous fermentation system. Interestingly, the operational process of repeated batch fermentation acts similarly to adaptive laboratory evolution, a potential technique for selecting highly inhibitor-tolerant yeast for lignocellulosic ethanol production. In this process, cells are harvested, washed, and re-inoculated into fresh medium with gradually increasing inhibitor concentrations [81]. Landaeta et al. [82] reported that the adapted yeast strain showed improvements in ethanol productivity and cell growth rate when cultured in inhibitors-containing lignocellulosic hydrolysate, as compared to the non-adapted strain. However, it should be noted that the adaptive evolution occurring in cell recycling may or may not be directed to the desired fermentation process [73], requiring further investigations for the design of an efficient fermentation approach for lignocellulosic ethanol production.

Repeated batch fermentation is a semi-continuous fermentation approach for semi-continuous multiple products formation, expanding it applicability. Dasgupta et al. [83] reported that glucose and xylose were collected separately from the sugarcane bagasse, and *Kluyveromyces marxianus* IIPE453 produced ethanol and xylitol semi-continuously in different reactors by applying the cell recycling operations. This aligns with the concept of biorefinery for ethanol production and coproduction of valued-added products from lignocellulosic feedstocks. In terms of cell recovery in the repeated batch mode, morphology of microorganisms is also worth investigating. For example, a flocculating yeast can benefit and support high cell recovery rates through the successive fermentation processes [78]. Furthermore, cell immobilization is a known technique enabling the recovery of cells in repeated batch mode. Mishra et al. [84] immobilized S. cerevisiae in calcium alginate beads and subjected them to rice straw enzymatic hydrolysate. The authors successfully demonstrated 17 batch cycles with a consistent ethanol titer and yield, along with low residual sugars at the end of fermentation. It is essential to note that as the number of repetitions increases, monitoring and evaluating changes in the integrity of the carrier is required when applying cell immobilization in repeated-batch fermentation. Khanpanuek et al. [85] observed that the morphology of the carrier changed as the number of repeated batches increased, and the lowest ethanol production occurred at the last batch. To achieve viable ethanol fermentation via repeated batch fermentation, the repeatability of the strain's growth pattern is critical, especially for a longterm production.

2.3.2 Sequential batch fermentation

Sequential batch fermentation is a semi-continuous operation, and it initiates new fermentation by harvesting fermentation medium, cell recycling, and refilling fresh medium in reactors sequentially. Cells can be recycled in bioreactors by filtration, centrifugation, cell immobilization, cell flocculation, or cell sedimentation. The concept of re-using cells in sequential batch mode shares similarities with the repeated batch approach, both of which enable high throughput fermentation processes [86]. Differently, sequential batch fermentation can be categorized as a fermentation approach without re-using the same culture. Kumar *et al.* [87] reported a sequential fermentation system for 2-stages ethanol production, where ethanol was produced from glucose in the first stage by *Zymomonas (Z.) mobilis* and produced from xylose in the second stage by *Pichia (P.) stipitis*. This further extends the applicability of using sequential batch approach in a biorefinery process.

A major application of sequential batch that has been achieved is the utilization of multiple strains to improve sugar utilization from lignocellulosic hydrolysates. Pentose utilization is viewed as a fermentation challenge in bioethanol production, especially for lignocellulosic feedstocks. Known wild-type ethanol-producing strains, such as *S. cerevisiae* and *Z. mobilis*, are not able to utilize pentose for ethanol fermentation. On the other hand, pentose-consuming strains, such as *P. stipitis* and *Candida shehatae*, can be used for pentose utilization by sequential batch approaches to address this limitation. For example, Song *et al.* [88] inoculated *S. cerevisiae* in the hardwood hydrolysate for initial glucose consumption. When glucose was almost utilized, *P. stipitis* was introduced in the same reactor for fermenting xylose. The results indicated that ethanol content

improved around 12% with both glucose and xylose utilization, as compared to glucose conversion alone [88]. To enhance fermentation efficiency in a co-culture system, the compatibility of mixed strains required further investigation. Kumar et al. [87] demonstrated that if Z. mobilis wasn't removed before the addition of *P. stipitis* in the sequential operations, the growth of *P. stipitis* was inhibited, and the strain didn't utilize xylose as efficiently for ethanol production. In terms of avoiding the strain incompatibility, the initial strain can be inactivated before the second culture was introduced [88, 89]. In addition, the inhibition of xylose utilization of *P. stipitis* may result from accumulated ethanol or the catabolite repression by high glucose contents. Switching the order of sequential operations for different inoculums may address the limitation. For example, Singh et al. [90] inoculated P. stipitis first for xylose utilization and then introduced Z. mobilis for further glucose utilization. This sequential approach allowed *P. stipitis* to expose less ethanol when taking xylose and finally displayed 97.7% sugar consumption in overall fermentation [90]. Furthermore, sequential batch approach can involve multi-stage fermentation. By switching aerobic to anaerobic condition, Candida tropicalis W103 was able to produce xylitol first and then generate ethanol from the non-detoxified acid pretreated corncob [91]. This approach further suggests opportunities for lignocellulosic ethanol production and the co-production of value-added products from lignocellulosic feedstocks, expanding economic competitiveness in the bioethanol industry. While the challenges of co-culture in sequential fermentation for bioethanol production require addressing, the sequential approach can act as a practical configuration for high ethanol throughput and designing fermentation in a mixed sugars system.

2.3.3 Self-cycling fermentation

Self-cycling fermentation (SCF), a semi-continuous operation and consists of three stages in each cycle including: nutrient supplementation; fermentation; and the harvesting of the medium.
Between each cycle in SCF, half volume of fermented medium is taken out and half volume of fresh nutrient is refilled into a bioreactor [7]. SCF can not only provide a high throughput process but also further achieve cell synchronization during fermentation [6]. The cell division cycle for a budding yeast cell is composed of four phases, G1 (the first gap phase), S (DNA synthesis phase), G2 (the second gap phase), and M (mitosis phase). Cell synchrony is described as the simultaneous division of cells in the entire population [92]. Ideally, each single cell becomes coordinated at the same stage in cell division, in which case the cell population can be simply regarded as a single cell and show almost identical behaviors in cell growth. This characteristic can benefit the understanding of cell physiology. For example, the relationship between the life cycle and protein expression of *Escherichia (E.) coli* was studied via SCF system [5].

To set up a SCF system, selecting a reliable monitoring parameter for determining the length of each cycle is critical. The control variable monitored must indicate the growth pattern of the microorganism, enabling to trigger cycling operations in SCF system. Dissolved oxygen, carbon dioxide evolution rate (CER), and redox potential are known candidates to indicate the stage of fermentation in SCF systems [6]. For instance, Sauvageau *et al.* [93] utilized CER as the control parameter and demonstrated that the first derivative of CER can correspondingly indicate the growth transition from exponential phase to stationary phase of *E. coli*. Moreover, multiple control indicators can be implemented to support the SCF system. Tan *et al.* [94] manipulated the cycle based on four variables, including minimal running time, carbon dioxide concentration, and the first derivatives of carbon dioxide concentration and CER for shikimic acid production by the engineered yeast. Through real-time feedback controls, SCF can be designed as an automated fermentation system, reducing repeated manual operations in a long-term fermentation process.

Currently, studies using SCF in bioethanol production are limited, as compared to other fundamental fermentation approaches. However, it is worth noting that a relative comprehensive series has been reported by Wang et al. [7, 11, 12]. The authors first demonstrated the concept of SCF in ethanol fermentation in a flask scale [7]. Next, the authors further explored evolved gas flow rate, a real-time monitoring parameter during ethanol fermentation, to control SCF in a bioreactor scale [11]. Finally, Wang et al. [12] applied the SCF to wood pulp hydrolysate and developed a biorefinery system for ethanol and co-production of the value-added product. Ethanol productivity was improved by 63–95% in the wood pulp hydrolysate by SCF, as compared to the batch mode [12]. This was supported by the fact that S. cerevisiae was kept in the exponential phase by cycling operations, leading to a higher ethanol productivity than growing in the lag and stationary phase [11]. SCF can also be applied to very-high-gravity fermentation for high ethanol titer and productivity. Although the stability of the control parameter was affected by the medium composition, Feng et al. [95] successfully utilized the slope of redox potential to indicate the end of glucose consumption and to determine the cycle time for ethanol fermentation. Compared to batch and continuous fermentation modes, performing SCF could gain higher annual ethanol productivity by 2.4% and 13.2%, respectively [95]. However, risks of microbial selection require attention in SCF. It was pointed out that more flocculation of the yeast obtained in the later cycles of the SCF which might influence the stability of the control parameter [12]. Overall, as compared to batch fermentation, SCF is an advanced fermentation mode for bioethanol production, providing a high throughput process. It is also known that SCF has been applied to various fields for biofuel, bioplastic, and antibiotic productions [6]. In terms of cell synchrony techniques, SCF is a suitable approach to investigate cell physiology in various biomass hydrolysates to further optimize overall

fermentation efficiency. Addressing the stability of the SCF system for a long-term process and integrating SCF to other fermentation approaches are promising pathways to focus on.

2.3.4 Extractive fermentation

In addition to the above operational approaches mainly controlling substrate delivery, extractive fermentation focusses on removing components from fermentation medium to avoid metabolic inhibition during the process. For instance, as ethanol concentration increases in fermentation medium, it can gradually inhibit the metabolic pathway of the yeast, such as reducing ATP synthesis, cell growth, and further impacting ethanol productivity in ethanol fermentation [96]. Extractive techniques for removing ethanol include pervaporation, gas stripping, vacuum, solvent extraction, adsorption, and distillation, which are clearly reviewed by Zentou *et al.* [97]. Depending on operational designs, the separation approaches can be integrated into various fermentation modes. For example, gas stripping has been demonstrated in batch [98], fed-batch [50, 99], and continuous [100] fermentation modes for ethanol production, improving either final ethanol concentration, yield, or productivity by mitigating ethanol stress in the fermentation medium. The concentration of recovered ethanol is worth investigating for optimizing those extractive techniques. Kongkaew *et al.* [101] explained that ethanol concentration might affect downstream designs, such as whether the dehydration step is further necessary to produce the fuel-grade ethanol.

In terms of metabolic inhibitory compounds, ethanol is not the only stress in ethanol fermentation. For example, certain amount of organic acids either from biomass hydrolysate or fermentation itself can exhibit inhibitory effects on cell growth as well [22]. In the report of Kongkaew *et al.* [101], although ethanol was removed, ethanol productivity was still limited since organic acids accumulated without pH control in the fermentation system. Extractive techniques can also remove other inhibitory compounds to relieve the related stress. Furfural, an inhibitory

byproduct formed by hydrolysis in lignocellulosic hydrolysates, can be selectively removed by adsorption using activated carbon [102] or zeolites [103]. Both studies [102, 103] indicated that sugar consumption and ethanol production were improved with removal of inhibitors, as compared to untreated groups. It is worth noting that extractive approaches can operate either in-situ or exsitu with ethanol fermentation [97]. Although ethanol and other inhibitory compounds may impact fermentation systems significantly in certain cases, energy requirement of extractive technique limits its application. Spending extra costs on developing extractive fermentation for ethanol production may not be attractive to the bioethanol industry [97].

Overall, extractive techniques are useful approaches to optimize bioethanol production by removing ethanol or other inhibitory compounds. Based on the improvement of overall ethanol productivity, Rodrigues *et al.* [100] indicate that smaller bioreactors may be considered to set up to potentially reduce the production cost. Furthermore, extracting platform chemicals, such as 5-HMF, furfural, and vanillin, from lignocellulosic hydrolysates may create extra values in bioethanol production from lignocellulosic feedstocks. To evaluate the trade-off between energy spending and potential benefits, further economic analysis of integrating extractive techniques into bioethanol production is necessary, especially in industrial scale production [97].

In summary, this section of review highlights the operational concepts and examples for fundamental and advanced fermentation approaches in bioethanol production. Applications and limitations of these fermentation modes are summarized in Table 2.1. It should be noted that these fermentation modes can be further integrated together in different scales and biomass systems. For instance, Farias and Maugeri-Filho [86] incorporated fed-batch, sequential, and vacuum operations for lignocellulosic ethanol production, enhancing ethanol productivity by 10-fold. The operational approach plays a critical role in substrate delivery and even inhibitory compound removal for bioethanol production.

Fermentation modes	Applications Limitations			
Fundamental approaches				
Batch •	Can explore/set up an ●	Substrate inhibition Long lag phase		
	unknown fermentation •			
•	Can be a benchmark for \bullet	Intensive manpower and long		
	optimizations	downtime between each		
•	Easily integrate to other	batch		
	fermentation modes			
•	Intermediate storage (e.g.			
	aging beer)			
Fed-batch •	Can reduce substrate •	Complex control settings on		
	inhibition	feeding strategies		
•	Can reach high product •	Product inhibition		
	content and productivity •	Inhibitory compounds may be accumulated (e.g. furfural,		
•	Can reach high cell density			
•	Control desired metabolic	5-HMF, organic acids,		
	reactions by feeding strategies	phenols)		
Continuous •	Can reduce substrate •	Complex control		
	inhibition	requirements for maintaining		
•	Can reach high productivity	the steady state		
	(less working volume) •	Wash-out effect		
•	Can reach high cell density •	Usual low product		
	(with cell retention	concentration		
	techniques) •	Microbial selection and		
•	Can be used to evaluate the	contamination		
	cell physiology at a certain cell			
	growth phase			

Table 2.1 Applications and limitations of fermentation modes on bioethanol production

Derivative approaches		
Repeated batch (semi-continuous)	 Can re-use the starter culture Can save preparations of inoculum Can experience cell adaptation Can gain benefits listed in fedbatch and continuous (depending on operational designs) 	 Microbial selection and contamination Consistency of long-term processing
Sequential batch (semi-continuous)	 Multiple sugar utilizations and product formations (single or co-culture system) Can deal with multiple stage of fermentation Can gain benefits listed in fedbatch and continuous (depending on operational designs) 	 Microbial selection and contamination Compatibility of mixed cultures
Self-cycling (semi-continuous)	 Can achieve cell synchrony Can gain benefits listed in sequential batch 	 Microbial selection and contamination A stable feedback control is required
Extractive fermentation -Pervaporation -Gas stripping -Vacuum -Adsorption -Solvent extraction	 Can reduce metabolic inhibitory compounds (e.g. ethanol, organic acids, furfural etc.) Can recover valuable compounds (biorefinery) 	 Extra energy consumption Cost-effective materials and techniques are required.

2.4 Control strategy in feeding regimes for ethanol fermentation

As fermentation modes control substrate delivery, the control strategy can impact the effectiveness of the feeding regimes. For example, Hemansi and Saini [104] evaluated six feeding strategies for both biomass and hydrolytic enzymes in the SSF of dilute acid-alkali pretreated sugarcane bagasse. As substrate concentration increases in the fermentation medium, the efficiency of ethanol fermentation is greater [105]. However, the authors also noted that overloading the substrate could cause the substrate inhibition on the ethanolic strain [105]. Hence, determining an effective control in substrate delivery is required.

2.4.1 Open-loop control

Open-loop control is an operational approach based on pre-known outputs from the process [106]. Under this control system, a generic feeding strategy can be developed without any online monitoring or adjustments. The amount of substrate can be determined by previous batch experiences or other research references that already offered a concept for feeding operations. For example, Hjersted and Henson [107] reported the model-based optimization of ethanol production with an open-loop control in fed-batch fermentation, where the feeding strategy was developed by a predetermined scheme. The open-loop control simplified the modeling process, enabling to evaluate the trade-off between ethanol productivity and yield for optimizations. However, open-loop control may not adapt to disturbances in fermentation because it relies on the predetermined model [108]. To minimize disturbances (e.g. structural errors and parametric errors), adding feedback measurements to the open-loop controller was feasible, improving ethanol titer by 8–15% in the modified system [109].

2.4.2 Feedback control

Feedback control is a closed loop system that adjusts feeding operations based on fermentation outputs. In terms of ethanol fermentation with S. cerevisiae, the carbon source primarily flows to product formation (ethanol and carbon dioxide), cell biomass production, and cell maintenance. Monitoring this metabolic information is critical for applying feedback control in ethanol fermentation. For example, viable cell sensor is used to estimate the cell number by measuring the capacitance of the fermentation medium, determining the time for supplying fresh medium in the fed-batch fermentation [110]. In addition, applying spectroscopy is a promising pathway for online monitoring of ethanol fermentation, such as FTIR [111], Near-IR, Mid-IR, or Raman spectroscopy [112]. Hirsch et al. [113] adjusted the feed rate to maintain glucose at 100 g/L based on Raman spectroscopy in ethanol fermentation, and this feeding approach improved ethanol yield from 75% to 86%, as compared to the batch mode. However, it should be noted that validation and calibration are required when applying spectroscopy. The measurement may be interfered by nondissolved particles, such as bubbles or cell particles, in the fermentation medium [114-116]. Besides, gas composition in ethanol fermentation is a crucial variable for developing feedback control strategies. Release of carbon dioxide is coupled with ethanol production and glucose consumption in ethanol fermentation with S. cerevisiae ($C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 2C_2H_5OH+2CO_2$). Nilsson et al. [56] utilized carbon dioxide evolution rate (CER) and cell biomass to estimate residual sugar concentration, adjusting the feed rate to control sugar at a certain level with the lignocellulosic hydrolysate. The results demonstrated that increasing the sugar set-points from 0.5 g/L to 3 g/L improved the average ethanol productivity (g/g/h), as compared to the batch mode. With an effective monitoring approach, establishing an adjustable feeding strategy based on feedback control to enhance ethanol fermentation is feasible.

Modeling approaches, such as adaptive control, model predictive control (MPC), artificial neural networks (ANN), can be integrated into feedback control strategies for process optimization and automation in fed-batch fermentation [117]. Prior to a modeling simulation, variables and objectives are critical to define. For example, the target reactions (e.g. ethanol fermentation, glucose oxidation) are clearly defined to control continuous fermentation for ethanol production in the study of Ciesielski and Grzywacz [74]. In addition, the optimizing theory and its mathematical rational also need to be stated specifically in the modeling approach. Even though different kinetic models are built in the same control strategy, they can aim at various objectives that may not be comparable under a single benchmark. To address the pathway from model simulation to real processing, inputs of economic and energy are required in modeling controls. For instance, economic impact was used to assess the trade-off between ethanol productivity, yield, and concentration in different operating strategies [118]. Energy balance in fed-batch SSF for bioethanol production was considered in the control model [119]. Furthermore, it is also critical to validate the simulated model through database [119], experiments [120, 121], or real plant demonstrations for final applicability.

2.5 Potential limitations in ethanol fermentation for lignocellulosic ethanol production

Currently, bioethanol is primarily produced from the first-generation feedstocks (sugar- and starch-based biomass). The United States of America and Brazil, the first and the second largest bioethanol producers, take advantage of corn and sugarcane for ethanol production, respectively [122]. On the other hand, when it comes to the food-fuel competition in bioethanol production, exploring alternative feedstocks is still imperative. Lignocellulosic biomass is a promising

bioresource for long-term bioethanol production without competing with food crops for land utilization [123]. However, production of lignocellulosic ethanol faces challenges for industrialization due to its high production cost, as compared to the first-generation ethanol [124]. Optimizing the production process is one approach to address the limitation. Pretreatment and hydrolysis in lignocellulosic ethanol production have been widely reviewed [125-127]. Therefore, in this section, we focus on updating the fermentation process and its known limitations, and then highlight potential fermentation pathways to enhance lignocellulosic ethanol production.

2.5.1 Separated hydrolysis fermentation

In the principle of SHF, hydrolysis and fermentation are conducted separately with respective optimal conditions. Despite this characteristic, SHF may not be an attractive choice for lignocellulosic ethanol production, as compared to SSF [128-130]. For example, activity of cellulases (or other hydrolases) can be reduced by end-product accumulation during SHF [131]. However, due to different operational conditions, comparison of SHF and SSF may not be based on the same benchmark, such as the timeline of the fermentation process. In the report of Dahnum *et al.* [132], the experimental time for SHF (72 h) was considered longer than SSF (24 h); however, most glucose was converted to ethanol in the first 24 h in SHF. Additionally, xylose, a co-product released in SHF (1.0–1.5%) was likely higher than in SSF (0.10–0.85%) [132]. This may result from the higher hydrolysis temperature in SHF, accelerating the release of xylose. Depending on different design perspectives, the effectiveness of SHF and SSF in lignocellulosic ethanol production can vary. Furthermore, characteristics of feedstock also impact the effectiveness of SHF and SSF. Mithra *et al.* [54] indicated that with steam pretreated lignocellulosic feedstocks, SSF acquired higher ethanol recovery (mL/kg dry biomass) than SHF. However, SHF generally performed greater when using dilute acid pretreated lignocellulosic feedstocks. To further prompt

the development of lignocellulosic ethanol in the bioethanol industry, SHF can potentially serve as a short-term solution by integrating first-generation and the second-generation feedstocks. D3MAX, a technology company (https://www.d3maxllc.com/), built a fermentation process with both SHF and SSF, enabling bioethanol production from lignocellulosic sugars and starchy sugars with the same biomass.

In terms of the fermentation performance of lignocellulosic ethanol, final ethanol concentration, sugar-to-ethanol ratio (or biomass-to-ethanol ratio), and ethanol productivity are critical variables. Especially, final ethanol concentration is important for the subsequent distillation. The minimal concentration of ethanol for an economic recovery is 4% (w/v) [14, 15]. To compete with the first-generation bioethanol in distillation cost, achieving more than 10% (v/v) ethanol via fermentation for lignocellulosic ethanol is necessary [16]. High substrate loading possibly releases more fermentable sugar by hydrolysis, boosting the final ethanol concentration [51, 133]. López-Linares *et al.* [51] demonstrated that ethanol fermentation in SHF with 20% (w/v) solid substrate (pretreated rapeseed straw) performed a higher final ethanol concentration than in SSF, where the yeast might be stressed by high solid loading in SSF. It was also pointed out that high solid content might increase viscosity in the medium, limiting agitation in SSF and reducing the efficiency of ethanol fermentation [36, 134]. SHF enables various biomass to be utilized in lignocellulosic ethanol production, as reactors and operating conditions for hydrolysis and fermentation are designed individually. To further optimize the fermentation performance in SHF, integrating it with other fermentation approaches is potential for lignocellulosic ethanol production.

Advancing fermentation modes can address limitations in substrate delivery in SHF for ethanol fermentation. Wang *et al.* [12] investigated an automated self-cycling fermentation system using lignocellulosic hydrolysate, achieving improvements in ethanol volumetric productivity by

63–95%, as compared to batch fermentation. Additionally, sugar delivery by fed-batch approaches can be impactful for accelerating ethanol production in SHF system. For example, final ethanol concentration and ethanol yield were enhanced when pulsed fed-batch operations were applied in the corncob hydrolysate [35]. Furthermore, recycling techniques for recovering yeast, ethanol, or other valuable products in SHF system may be considered in biorefinery processes as well. Cubas-Cano *et al.* [135] applied sequential batch fermentation to lignocellulosic hydrolysate for ethanol and lactic acid co-productions, addressing xylose utilization in SHF. When lignocellulosic feedstock is hydrolyzed into fermentable sugars readily, efficient fermentation modes can be involved in SHF. Although SHF may not be as attractive as SSF in developing advanced fermentation systems for lignocellulosic ethanol production recently, its well-known principle makes it more flexible to be enhanced by integrating with fermentation modes. The fermentation integration in SHF is a promising pathway for lignocellulosic ethanol production by a short-term period in the industry.

2.5.2 Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation

SSF, a fermentation configuration, combines hydrolysis and fermentation in a single reactor, addressing end-product inhibition during hydrolysis and enhancing fermentation performance [52]. Currently, SSF is extensively utilized for starchy bioethanol production in the ethanol industry [122]. The use of SSF for lignocellulosic ethanol production has been studied in various lignocellulosic feedstocks [53, 136-144]. However, this technology still faces several challenges to implement lignocellulosic ethanol production at industrial scale. For example, further improvements in final ethanol concentration are required in SSF for lignocellulosic ethanol production. High ethanol concentration in the fermentation medium contributes to cost reductions in the subsequent downstream processes, such as ethanol recovery or waste water treatment [133].

Increasing feedstock loading in SSF brings more substrates for converting fermentable sugars to ethanol production [51, 145]. To achieve high substrate loadings and maintain evenly agitation in reactor, fed-batch operation is a suitable approach for delivering substrates in SSF, as noted in the literature [146-148].

In terms of the development of fed-batch strategies in SSF, feeding material, feed loading, and feeding time-point are critical variables to investigate in lignocellulosic biomass systems. For instance, feeding material is not restricted to solid (or semi-solid) substrates. In addition to the fermentable substrate, enzymes or supplemental nutrients can also be fed into bioreactors. In SSF, ethanol productivity is limited by enzymatic hydrolysis (or sugar releasing rate), instead of fermentation rate [133]. However, as cells grow during fermentation, the demand of fermentable sugar for the culture also increases. To further improve ethanol production in SSF, the degree of enzymatic hydrolysis needs to be gradually increased during the process. Hence, fed-batch approach in either substrate or enzyme is worth investigating in SSF for lignocellulosic ethanol production [52]. Zhang and Zhu [145] established substrate and enzyme feeding modes in the SSF of pretreated sugarcane bagasse. They demonstrated that the enzyme feeding mode could enhance ethanol productivity and reduce enzyme loadings in the process, as compared to the batch SSF and the substrate feeding mode [145]. It should be noted that different lignocellulosic feedstocks may vary in their adaptability to feeding strategies. Jin et al. [149] developed substrate and enzyme feeding modes for the SSF of pretreated rice straw. With 25% (w/v) solid loading, final ethanol concentration by applying substrate and enzyme feeding modes reached 116.8 g/L and 108.6 g/L, respectively. Depending on substrate composition, feeding time-point can impact overall fermentation performance as well. Li et al. [150] established a two-step fed-batch simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation (SSCF) for ethanol production from pretreated corn stover.

The results indicated that final ethanol concentration was higher when the feed was added in the second stage of fermentation (noted as strategy C in their study), as compared to the addition in the first stage (noted as strategy B in their study). The metabolic inhibitors introduced from feeds might have more negative impacts in the first stage of fermentation, possibly leading to a lower xylose utilization and ethanol production. While increasing the lignocellulosic substrate loading in SSF, the composition of the fermentation medium changes, requiring further adjustments for maximizing the fermentation process.

High solid loading may impact the stirring effectiveness in bioreactors, leading to adverse effects on mass transfer in enzymatic hydrolysis as well as fermentation. Qiu et al. [151] reported that 15% (w/w) pretreated wheat straw was fully liquified within 48 h while the 20% (w/w) solid loading required 72 h, resulting from limited mass transfer. This indicates the trade-off between high solid loading of lignocellulosic feedstocks and the effectiveness of the agitation. To address the limitation, bioreactor design and settings are important for effective agitation and lignocellulosic substrate transfer in SSF. Zhang et al. [152] investigated two stirring systems in the SSF of pretreated corn stover (solid loading, 30%, w/w). The pretreated corn stover could be evenly agitated with the helical impeller in SSF, resulting in a higher glucose consumption rate, ethanol production rate, and lower stirring power consumption than using the Rushton impeller. At the end of SSF, ethanol concentration achieved 51.0 and 43.9 g/L by the helical and the Rushton impeller agitation, individually [152]. To reduce the viscosity of solid substrate, hydrolysis can be applied to lignocellulosic feedstocks before feeding. Paulová et al. [153] set up two bioreactors, one was for SSF; another was for pre-saccharifying the feed, for producing ethanol from pretreated wheat straw. The outcome indicated that the final ethanol concentration was improved in the fed-batch SSF, as compared to the batch SSF which was limited by the viscosity of the fermentation medium.

Beside fed-batch approaches, other fermentation modes, such as repeated batch fermentation, can be integrated into SSF system for enhancing ethanol production. Watanabe *et al.* [154] combined repeated batch fermentation with SSF of 20% (w/w) alkali-pretreated rice straw by using immobilized *S. cerevisiae*. The authors observed a gradual increase in final ethanol concentration and a reduction of lag growth over five consecutive batch fermentation. In addition to cell immobilization, free cells can be recycled in SSF as well. Choi *et al.* [78] utilized a flocculent yeast, enabling the recovery of cells from sediment flocs and achieving repeated batch cycles in SSF. However, it should be noted that lignocellulosic SSF contains undigested solid in the reactor while SHF does not. When applying repeated batch mode or other cell recycling techniques in the lignocellulosic SSF, the operational standards for cell recycling require further investigations. For example, evaluating the morphology of the carrier and its mechanical strength are important, which may impact the fermentation performance of the immobilized cells in consecutive cycling processes [85, 155].

Overall, further advancements need to be accomplished in SSF system for lignocellulosic ethanol production. One fermentation limitation in lignocellulosic SSF results from the physical and chemical characteristics of lignocellulosic feedstocks. Fermentation mode can be applied in substrate or enzyme deliveries to control fermentation process in SSF. Through our reviews, fedbatch approach is a promising and applicable pathway to enhance the efficiency of hydrolysis and fermentation in lignocellulosic SSF.

2.5.3 Pentose utilization from lignocellulosic feedstocks

In terms of fermentable sugars, hexose and pentose are the primary units in lignocellulosic feedstocks for ethanol fermentation [156]. However, utilizing both hexose and pentose may be limited to ethanolic microorganisms. For example, while *S. cerevisiae* is a known yeast used in the

ethanol industry for the first-generation ethanol production, it cannot ferment pentose to ethanol directly without genetic modifications [157, 158]. To improve ethanol yield from lignocellulosic biomass, pentose utilization in fermentation is worth investigating.

Co-fermentation is one fermentation approach to enhance both hexose and pentose utilizations in lignocellulosic ethanol production, either using single or multiple strains in fermentation process [159-161]. Demiray et al. [159] demonstrated that co-culture of S. cerevisiae and the isolated *Candida boidinii* improved ethanol concentration by approximate 70% in the tea waste hydrolysate, as compared to the average ethanol concentration in individual culture. In this study, the S. cerevisiae could utilize glucose, and the isolated Candida boidinii could utilize both glucose and xylose for ethanol production. When it comes to the co-culture of multiple strains, it is necessary to consider the fermentation kinetic for each strain. Fermentation temperature, aeration, and environmental stress could impact the cell growth and glucose/xylose utilization in co-culture [162]. It should be noted that the fermentation kinetic of the strain may perform differently when the strain is cultured solely or co-cultured with other strains. In the report of Zhu et al. [163], the xyloseutilizing strain had higher glucose/xylose consumption and ethanol concentration in low temperature (30 and 35°C), as compared to high temperature cultivation (38 and 42°C) which might result from decreased cell viability. Intriguingly, when the co-culture was applied, the cell viability of the xylose-utilizing strain was improved at 42°C. In comparison of single sugar utilization, coculture system can improve overall ethanol concentration by utilizing two sugars [159] and may provide additional benefits for cell growth. On the other hand, finding an optimized culture condition for co-culture of multiple strains is a challenge. For example, when co-culturing S. cerevisiae and Scheffersomyces stipitis, maintaining partial aerobic condition in fermentation may lead to an increase in cell growth for Scheffersomyces stipitis, instead of in ethanol production

[164]. In addition to co-culture, using a single strain to ferment both hexose and pentose in lignocellulosic hydrolysates for ethanol production has been studied, such as recombinant *E. coli* [160] and genetic engineering *S. cerevisiae* [165-167]. Comprehensive details in genetic engineering for pentose utilization and ethanol production were reviewed by Dien *et al.* [168], Jeffries and Jin [169], and Kuhad *et al.* [170]. Overall, co-fermentation is a promising approach to utilize both hexose and pentose for lignocellulosic ethanol production.

In addition to using pentoses for ethanol production, pentose can be derived into different valuable products utilizing biorefinery based approaches. To increase cost-competitiveness of lignocellulosic ethanol and biomass utilization, integrating biorefinery approaches into the process is viewed as a potentially advantageous [171]. Xylose and arabinose, major pentoses in the heteropolysaccharide of lignocellulose, have been derived into various products and applications. For example, xylitol, a widely used sugar substitute in food industry, can be produced from xylose via chemical or biological process [172, 173]. L-ribose, a rare sugar used as one of the precursors for developing antiviral drugs, can be converted from L-arabinose via microbial pathways [174]. Suhartini *et al.* [173] reported that co-production of bioethanol and xylitol from oil palm empty fruit bunches (lignocellulosic resource) is a promising strategy in Indonesia to increase the capacity of renewable energy production, although challenges in the scale-up technique, policy, and supply chain still need to be addressed.

2.5.4 Inhibitory compounds in lignocellulosic hydrolysate

When degrading lignocellulosic biomass to acquire fermentable sugars for ethanol production, smaller molecular weights of compounds are generated from the lignocellulosic matrix. Part of them are identified as metabolic inhibitory compounds, such as furan-derivatives, aromatic compounds, and aliphatic acids, negatively impacting ethanol fermentation [175]. In the example

of furfural (furan-derivative), as furfural concentration in the fermentation medium are increased, proportional increases in inhibition on yeast's hexose utilization and ethanol productivity have been observed [176]. To reduce the negative impacts from inhibitors, three major approaches have been considered including: (1) optimizing 'pre'-fermentation processes (such as pretreatments or hydrolysis); (2) detoxification; and (3) enhancement of microbial tolerance. Firstly, optimizing the processes prior to fermentation is feasible for low inhibitor productions. Pretreating lignocellulosic biomass can also lead to different levels of degradation. For instance, pretreating the olive tree pruning with water produced less furfural and hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) than with 2% sulfuric acid at the same temperature condition [177]. The severity of dilute sulfuric acid hydrolysis on spruce could impact the contents of inhibitors in the hydrolysate [178]. In addition, researchers are addressing the concern by investigating the structure of lignocellulosic biomass. Through reducing lignin content or recalcitrant interaction between lignin and cellulosic structure in lignocellulosic biomass, inhibitor formation from pretreatment or hydrolysis has been reduced [175, 179].

Secondly, detoxification approaches aim to remove inhibitors or decrease their contents from lignocellulosic hydrolysates. Approaches include applying chemical additives, extractive fermentation, or biological treatments, either ex-situ or in-situ [180, 181]. Zhang *et al.* [102] reduced furfural content from 4 g/L to 0.1 g/L using activated carbon sorption and improved the sugar utilization and ethanol production. In addition, the furfural-sorption group exhibited similar cell growth, sugar consumption, and ethanol production to the no furfural group [102]. Through detoxification, the performance of ethanol fermentation can be enhanced. Interestingly, detoxification requirement varies by strains and inhibitors. In the report of Hou *et al.* [182], *Z. mobilis* generally exhibited greater tolerance on lignocellulose-derived inhibitors than *E. coli* based on the assessment of the half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50). Based on this study, when

Z. mobilis is used as a fermentation strain for lignocellulosic ethanol production, the detoxification requirement in lignocellulosic hydrolysates can be relatively mild, as compared to fermenting with *E. coli*. This may benefit the production cost for lignocellulosic ethanol. However, the effectiveness and the necessity of detoxification in lignocellulosic ethanol production are dependent on various process scenarios [183]. It is also required to evaluate a risk of losing fermentable sugars from detoxifications [184]. However, inhibitory compounds may act both negatively and/or positively to microorganisms. For example, acetic acid, a by-product from degrading hemicellulose, has been shown to reduce ethanol volumetric productivity, but also enhance the sugar-to-ethanol conversion ratio during ethanol fermentation [185]. The choice of detoxification methods can vary based on individual fermentation design. To further mitigate negative impacts from metabolic inhibitory compounds, understanding the inhibitor-tolerance of the microorganisms is also critical.

In addition to reducing inhibitor content through detoxification approaches, improving the strain's metabolic tolerance to inhibitors is a known approach. Evolution engineering and tolerance engineering are potential pathways to enhance the inhibitor tolerance of microorganisms from genetic levels [186]. For instance, adaptive evolution was demonstrated to improve the inhibitor tolerance of the yeast by increasing the concentration of inhibitors gradually in the cultivations. Compared to the parent strain, the adapted strain enhanced ethanol fermentation efficiency by 80% in the inhibitor-containing medium [81]. It is worth noting that the concept of adaptive evolution on inhibitor tolerance improvements can be achieved by applying specific fermentation modes, such as cycling or sequential fermentation, allowing the strain to experience different inhibitor titers by repeating the fermentation operations. Palakawong Na Ayutthaya *et al.* [187] indicated that the yeast adapted from acclimatization in serial concentrations of lignocellulosic hydrolysate demonstrated higher ethanol yield and volumetric productivity, as compared to the non-adapted

yeast. Improving the inhibitor tolerance for microorganisms is potential to benefit the product yield and fermentation cost [186]. Understanding the morphological characteristic of microorganisms is also important for improving their inhibitor tolerance. As an example, flocculation among *S. cerevisiae* could lead to more efficient performance on ethanol fermentation in the lignocellulosic hydrolysate containing several inhibitors [188]. Interestingly, self-cycling fermentation, a semi continuous fermentation approach, can facilitate the flocculation of the yeast during ethanol fermentation and also improve ethanol productivity [11]. From our perspective, investigating the applications of fermentation modes to enhance microbial inhibitor tolerance suggests opportunities for addressing hindrances in industrial lignocellulosic ethanol production.

2.6 Integrations of fermentation modes for bioethanol production

Combining different fermentation approaches into an integrated fermentation system is a promising pathway to efficiently regulate material transfer and enhance lignocellulosic ethanol production. For example, fed-batch operational mode is a known approach to improve ethanol concentration and productivity in fermentation. Triwahyuni *et al.* [37] applied fed-batch operations for substrate loadings in the SSF of oil palm empty fruit bunches. The results demonstrated that the fed-batch mode (15+10 g) could improve higher ethanol concentration and reduced the enzyme usage as compared to the batch substrate loading (25 g) regime in SSF. The batch regime was suggested to show limitations in mass transfer of the lignocellulosic feedstock, leading to a low efficiency of enzymatic hydrolysis and ethanol fermentation. This observation is supported by Liu *et al.* [189] on the SSF of the corncob residues. Furthermore, Kang *et al.* [190] introduced a continuous feeding operation in the SSF of the batch mode. The lignocellulosic feedstock was

liquified more efficiently with the continuous supplement than the batch mode in SSF. To further promote industrial lignocellulosic ethanol production, developing a continuous and repeatable fermentation system is also attractive, which relies on the integration of fermentation modes. For example, self-cycling fermentation or sequential batch fermentation can address multiple sugars utilization for ethanol production under the consecutive fermentation process [12, 87]. These fermentation approaches can manage the substrate utilization efficiently throughout the process.

Integrating different fermentation approaches can enhance the advantage of a single operational mode and address its limitation. For example, Farias and Maugeri-Filho [86] combined fed-batch, sequential, and vacuum operations for lignocellulosic ethanol production, improving ethanol productivity by 10-fold. Fed-batch approach led to high ethanol production, while cell recycling and vacuum operation reduced ethanol toxicity in the fermentation medium. Depending on the primary fermentation target, fermentation mode can be chosen accordingly. Jiang *et al.* [191] combined fed-batch and sequential modes for co-cultivation of cellulolytic and saccharolytic microorganism for ethanol production from Solka Floc (powdered cellulose), generating 474 mM bioethanol (~22 g/L). Further improvements in the integrated fermentation system are still required, particularly in addressing limitations such as a low final ethanol concentration from lignocellulosic feedstocks. However, only a few studies are investigating the integration of fermentation approaches for lignocellulosic ethanol production. The significant breakthrough on either SHF or SSF system with a single operational mode is limited to managing lignocellulosic substrate efficiently.

The use of biorefinery approaches for the conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to fuel ethanol and other value-added products has drawn attention as a pathway for the creation of a circular bioeconomy [192, 193], where integration of fermentation approaches plays a crucial role. For

example, not only ethanol is generated from lignocellulosic biomass but also xylitol, xylooligosaccharides, vanillin, or other value-added products can be produced [194]. These fermentation processes can be further optimized by integrating with appropriate fermentation modes. Unrean and Ketsub [195] reported that both ethanol and xylitol could be produced from sugarcane bagasse by two strains, S. cerevisiae and Candida tropicalis, individually. The authors maximized the product titer by applying the fed-batch fermentation approach. In the above study, the lignocellulosic biomass was pretreated and separated into solid and liquid fractions, and fractions were followed by ethanol and xylitol productions respectively. Another scenario for two products formations without using the separation process can be achieved by applying the specific fermentation mode. For example, sequential fermentation mode is used in the multiple stage of fermentation process for direct ethanol and value-added products formations [91, 196]. Moreover, to promote industrial lignocellulosic ethanol production, it is worth highlighting that configuration integration of lignocellulosic ethanol and the first-generation bioethanol is attractive [197]. Rather than constructing new infrastructure for lignocellulosic ethanol production, it is more feasible for the ethanol industry to integrate lignocellulosic biomass into existing first-generation bioethanol plants. For instance, ICM is a technology company (https://icminc.com/) and they develop a fermentation process (GEN 1.5) that generates both hexoses and pentoses from corn (its starch and fiber) and utilizes them separately for ethanol fermentation. As a result, arranging both fermentation systems and fermentation modes are required when designing an efficient fermentation process for lignocellulosic ethanol production. From a fermentation perspective, integrating effective fermentation modes can greatly manage substrate delivery and address potential fermentation limitations in lignocellulosic ethanol production, strengthening its feasibility in the bioethanol industry.

2.7 Summary

This literature review provides an updated overview of fermentation approaches for lignocellulosic ethanol production. Limitations in final ethanol concentration, ethanol yield, and volumetric ethanol productivity from a singular fermentation system (such as SHF or SSF) can be addressed via integrating different fermentation operational modes. Advancing fermentation operational modes can further guide material transfer, thereby improving the overall fermentation process. In this context, approaches to substrate delivery require deeper exploration and understanding in future research. In addition, as value-added lignocellulosic products suggest more opportunities for industrial lignocellulosic ethanol production, the practice of fermentation operational mode plays more critical roles in it. This can be facilitated by managing multiple substrate deliveries with the proper integration of fermentation operational modes. Further studies on advancing fermentation approaches to be implemented into the current industrial infrastructures are thus a promising pathway for broadening lignocellulosic ethanol production.

In the following chapters, I will focus on fed-batch fermentation and self-cycling fermentation to discover more efficient approaches to guide substrate delivery in ethanol fermentation. In addition, Table 2.1 and previous sections summarized the possible hindrances from these two fermentation systems, such as microbial contamination, product inhibition in fed-batch, or a reliable cycling control in self-cycling fermentation. These risks and/or difficulties will be further discussed in the following chapters as well.

Chapter 3 Adapted pulsed feeding strategies in fed-batch fermentation improve sugar delivery and ethanol productivity 3.1 Abstract

Bioethanol is a renewable fuel widely used in road transportation and is generally regarded as a clean energy source. Although fermentation is one of the major processes in bioethanol production, studies on improving its efficiency through operational design are limited, especially compared to other steps (pretreatment and hydrolysis/saccharification). In this study, two adapted feeding strategies, in which feed medium addition (sugar delivery) was adjusted to increase the supply of fermentable sugar, were developed to improve ethanol productivity in 5-L fed-batch fermentation by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Specifically, a linear adapted feeding strategy was established based on changes in cell biomass, and an exponential adapted feeding strategy was developed based on cell biomass accumulation. By implementing these two feeding strategies, overall ethanol productivity reached 0.88 ± 0.04 and 0.87 ± 0.06 g/L/h, respectively. This to ~20% increases in ethanol productivity compared to fixed pulsed feeding operations. Additionally, there was no residual glucose at the end of fermentation, and final ethanol content reached 95 ± 3 g/L under the linear adapted operation and 104 ± 3 g/L under the exponential adapted feeding strategy. No statistical difference was observed in the overall ethanol efficiency (sugar-to-ethanol ratio) between fixed and adapted feeding strategies (~91%). These results demonstrate that sugar delivery controlled by adapted feeding strategies was more efficient than fixed feeding operations, leading to higher ethanol productivity. Overall, this study provides novel adapted feeding strategies to improve sugar delivery and ethanol productivity. Integration into the current practices of the ethanol industry could improve productivity and reduce production costs of fermentation processes.

Keywords

Bioethanol, Fed-batch fermentation, Adapted feeding strategy, Sugar delivery, Ethanol productivity, Bench-scale, Bioreactor

*A version of this chapter was published by Hung, Y. H. R., Chae, M., Sauvageau, D., & Bressler, D. C. (2023). Adapted feeding strategies in fed-batch fermentation improve sugar delivery and ethanol productivity. Bioengineered, 14(1), 2250950.

3.2 Background

To enhance the prospects of lignocellulosic ethanol production at an industrial scale, more efficient fermentation processes need to be developed. As ethanol productivity is greatest during exponential growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* [20], most commonly used for bioethanol production, there are incentives to develop processing strategies that extend this phase of growth, such as fed-batch fermentation [41]. This approach consists of continuously or intermittently feeding essential nutrients to the fermenter in order to control and sustain cell growth and product formation [42]. Fed-batch operation also helps overcoming substrate inhibition during the fermentation process and can lead to greater ethanol yield [35] and ethanol productivity [48],

compared to batch fermentation. Interestingly, the above two studies have shown that feeding strategies play an important role in fermentation performance for ethanol production. This highlights the importance of developing effective feeding strategies for fed-batch fermentation. Once the efficient fermentation process is designed in the laboratory, bench-scale assessments can bring practical knowledge in transitioning the process from laboratory experiments to commercial production [198]. For example, Kang *et al.* [199] performed economic and sensitivity analyses based on a bench-scale plant for lignocellulosic ethanol production, providing feasible viewpoints to the development of a commercial production plant. Reproducibility of ethanol production by yeast between laboratory- and bench-scale is also crucial to understanding possible hindrances to industrial ethanol production [200]. Nonetheless, most studies on the improvement of lignocellulosic ethanol processes at bench-scale. It is thus worth further investigating the efficient bioethanol fermentation processes at bench-scale to enhance the prospect of commercialization.

Overall, fed-batch fermentation has the potential to greatly improve bioethanol production. The feeding strategy is a key factor in fed-batch fermentation; it can be designed based on nutrient contents, cell growth, or other factors impacting the final product [56, 76, 108]. However, there are few studies on the role of operational design for fed-batch fermentation in improving ethanol productivity. The development of adapted feeding strategies enables better management of dynamic fermentation processes and improves both substrate utilization of the yeast and ethanol productivity. In this context, the present chapter aims to develop adapted feeding strategies for sugar delivery to enhance ethanol production in cultures of *S. cerevisiae* at bench-scale. It compares the performance of a fixed and two adapted pulsing fed-batch strategies in terms of ethanol titer, efficiency, substrate utilization and ethanol productivity. All fermentations were performed in 5-L

stirred tank fermenters with monitoring of multiple parameters related to ethanol fermentation. This work highlights the potential of these feeding strategies for the improvement of the performance of industrial bioethanol production from first- and second-generation feedstocks.

3.2 Methods and Materials

3.2.1 Yeast, medium, and cultivation

SuperstartTM active distillers dry yeast, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, was purchased from Lallemand Ethanol Technology (Milwaukee, WI, USA) and was used for ethanol fermentation in this study. Methods of yeast cultivation and preparation of glycerol stock followed Wang et al. [7]. Briefly, glycerol stock was thawed and streaked on a YPD agar (YPDA) plate. YPDA was made from 50 g/L yeast-peptone-dextrose medium (BD DifcoTM, Bergen Country, NJ, USA) and 15 g/L agar (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), and was sterilized by autoclaving (121°C/15 min). After culturing the yeast on YPDA at 30°C for 2-3 days, an isolated colony was selected, transferred to 20 mL of yeast nitrogen base (YNB) medium (50-mL shake flask), and cultured at 30°C with shaking at 230 rpm for 18–20 h to produce the first seed culture. YNB medium, prepared from 50 g/L glucose, 6.7 g/L YNB with amino acids (MilliporeSigma, Burlington, MA, USA) in 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer (NaH2PO4 · 2H2O/Na2HPO4 · 2H2O, pH 6.0, Thermo Fisher Scientific), was sterilized by filtration (0.2 µm SartolabTM P20 Pressure Filters, Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany). The first seed culture was transferred into 200 mL of fresh YNB medium (500-mL shake flask) to reach an initial optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) ~0.2, resulting in the second seed culture. It was then incubated at 30°C with shaking at 250 rpm until OD₆₀₀ reached ~ 0.5 . At this point, the active cell culture was ready to be inoculated into the fermenter.

3.2.2 Fermentation

3.2.2.1 Fermentation settings

All fermentation experiments were performed in 5-L stirred tank fermenters (Infors-HT, Bottmingen, Switzerland) based on the settings from Wang *et al.* [11]. Dissolved oxygen probe (VisiFerm DO ECS 325 mm H0, Hamilton Company, Reno, NV, USA) and pH probe (EasyFerm Plus PHI K8 325 mm, Hamilton Company) were attached to the fermenter. 2 N NaOH (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for pH control (set point at pH > 4.0). Pall AcroTM 50 vent filters (Pall Canada ULC., Mississauga, ON, Canada) were connected to the gas inlet and outlet of the fermenter. A water trap was installed between the gas outlet and the mass flow meter (MW-200SCCM-D/5M, Alicat Scientific Inc., Tucson, AZ, USA). The water trap was used to prevent environmental air from being introduced to the fermenter and maintain the anaerobic conditions for ethanol fermentation. The flow meter was calibrated with pure CO₂ by the supplier, and it was used to monitor the flow of gas released from the fermenter. Data from the gas flow meter was reported at standard atmospheric conditions (25°C, 1 atm) and the flow rate was reported as the average value over a 15-min timespan. An external condenser, set at 0°C, was used as the cooling system for the fermenter and vented gas. The bioreactor system was controlled by the software Iris 6.0 (Infors-HT). The initial working volume of all fed-batch operations was 2 L.

3.2.2.2 Fed-batch fermentation

The YNB fermentation medium was prepared, filter-sterilized (as mentioned above) and transferred to the fermenter aseptically. Before inoculation, the medium was flushed with N₂ (99.998% purity, Praxair Canada Inc., Mississauga, ON, Canada) for 30 min through the bioreactor gas inlet/sparger. Yeast grown to $OD_{600} \sim 0.5$ in the second seed culture was added to the fermenter as inoculum, comprising 8% (v/v) of the fermentation medium. Following inoculation, N₂ was

purged into the fermenter for 10 min to ensure anaerobic conditions. Fermentation was conducted at 30°C and 600 rpm using two Rushton impellers. The initial stage of fermentation acted as batch fermentation.

The outlet gas flow rate was used to monitor ethanol fermentation in real-time, as per Wang *et al.* [11], and served as an indicator to trigger pulse feeding. When the gas flow rate approached zero, a pulse of fresh feed medium was fed to the fermenter to increase the sugar concentration to a given value, depending on the experiment. The feed medium was a modified YNB medium: 500 g/L glucose and 6.7 g/L YNB with amino acids in 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.0). The fermentation broth was sampled throughout experiments for biological and chemical analyses described in section 3.2.3.

3.2.2.3 Feeding strategies

Pulsed feeding was conducted in all fed-batch fermentation. Adapted feeding strategies were developed to improve sugar delivery and ethanol productivity in the fed-batch fermentation, while fixed feeding strategies were used for comparison. We hypothesized that the adjustment of glucose addition based on the change in cell biomass by pulsed feeding operations would enhance substrate utilization and ethanol productivity, compared to fixed glucose additions. Overall, three strategies were developed.

1) In a fixed feeding operation, the fresh feed medium was fed to increase sugar concentration to either 50 or 100 g/L (described as 5% pulsed feeding and 10% pulsed feeding, respectively).

2) In linear adapted feeding operation, the first pulsed feed increased glucose concentration to 5% (50 g/L), while the subsequent pulsed feeds were adjusted based on the change of OD_{600} , according to equation 3.1:

$$C_{f} = 5 \cdot (OD_{t}/OD_{t-1})$$
 Eq. (3.1)

where C_f is glucose concentration (%, w/v) to reach in the fermenter, OD_t is the OD₆₀₀ reading at a given sampling time t, and OD_{t-1} is the OD₆₀₀ reading at the previous sampling time.

3) In exponential adapted feeding operation, the pulsed feeding was adapted based on cell biomass changes and cell accumulation. The glucose addition was based on equation 3.2:

$$C_f = 10 \cdot (1 - \exp(-OD_t/OD_{t-1}))$$
 Eq. (3.2)

Equation 3.2 ensures the glucose concentration in the fermenter never exceeds 10 %, generally regarded as the maximum concentration to avoid inhibiting yeast growth and ethanol production [49, 66]. For all feeding strategies, the required fresh feed volume was calculated based on the volume in the fermenter and the glucose concentration in the fresh feed medium (500 g/L).

3.2.3 Analytical methods

OD₆₀₀ was measured for 1-ml samples using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Ultrospec 4300 Pro, Amersham Biosciences, Mississauga, ON, Canada). Cell dry weight (CDW) analysis was performed as follows. A 9-ml sample was filtered using a pre-weighed 0.45-µm filter paper (WhatmanTM type WCN cellulose nitrate membranes, Cytiva, Maidstone, Kent, UK). The retentate was washed by filtering through an equal volume of 10 mM sterile sodium phosphate buffer. The retentate and filter paper were then removed and dried at 60°C in an oven (Fisher Scientific Isotemp oven model 750F, Dubuque, IA, USA) until the mass was constant. The CDW was calculated and reported in g/L. During fed-batch fermentation, OD₆₀₀ and CDW were used to evaluate yeast growth. Supplementary Figure 1 (Appendix A) shows the strong correlation between these two parameters (R² = 0.995).

Glucose and ethanol concentrations were determined by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas chromatography (GC), respectively [201]. Briefly, glucose analysis was carried out on the Agilent 1200 series HPLC system (Agilent, Santa Clara, CA, USA)

with an Aminex HPX-87H column (300×7.8 mm; Bio-Rad Laboratory, Hercules, CA, USA) held at 60°C and a refractive index detector. 5 mM sulfuric acid was used as the mobile phase with a constant flow rate of 0.5 mL/min. Ethanol analysis was conducted in the Agilent 7890A series GC system (Agilent Technologies, Mississauga, ON, Canada) equipped with the Agilent 7693 series autosampler (injector temperature: 170°C; pressure: 7.5 psi; septum purge flow: 3 mL/min; spilt ratio: 10 to 1), RestekTM Stabilwax-DA column (30 m×0.53 mm×0.5 µm; Restek, Bellefonte, PA, USA) and a flame ionization detector (temperature: 190°C; airflow: 400 mL/min; hydrogen flow: 40 mL/min; make-up nitrogen flow: 25 mL/min). The following method was applied to the oven for ethanol analysis: temperature was kept at 35°C for 3 min, then increase by 20°C/min up to 190°C, which was held for 1 min. Helium was used as the carrier gas (constant pressure: 51.710 kPa), and 1% (v/v) 1-butanol was added as the internal standard in the sample.

3.2.4 Statistical analysis

All fermentation experiments were run in independent triplicates. Data were expressed as means \pm standard deviation. Statistical analysis was performed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's honestly significant difference test, where p < 0.05 indicated the significant differences.

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Impact of adapted pulsed feeding strategies

Pulsed feeding is a general mode of operation commonly used in fed-batch fermentation, as it is simple and easy to control [19, 46]. Optimizing feeding strategies can improve productivity which helps reduce production time and cost [42] and increase cell biomass and ethanol concentration during fermentation [105]. To improve sugar utilization and ethanol production in fed-batch fermentation, linear adapted and exponential adapted pulsed feeding strategies were developed and compared to fixed pulsed feeding strategies.

Figures 3.1 (a–d) show cell dry weight (CDW) for each strategy tested. Although the settings of bioreactors and initial fermentation conditions (such as the amount of substrate, pH, and anaerobic status) were controlled consistently among the four strategies tested, CDW showed slight differences at the end of the batch stage. This is likely due to inter-batch variations, and/or experimental errors in sampling and the measurement of CDW. However, the accumulation of CDW was greater in the adapted feeding strategies than in the fixed feeding strategies during feeding period. For example, CDW remained relatively constant (~ 2 g/L) in the fixed pulsed feeding experiments but reached ~ 4 g/L by the end of fermentation undergoing linear adapted feeding. Similar results were observed when using the exponential adapted feeding strategy. This suggests that adapted feeding strategies benefit cell growth during ethanol fed-batch fermentation compared to fixed feeding strategies. It has been shown that cell biomass concentration can be enhanced by increasing glucose addition [35]; and this was observed in our two adapted feeding strategies in which glucose supplementation was gradually increased based on cell content and accumulation. On the other hand, Phukoetphim et al. [48] reported that viable cell count did not increase following pulsed feedings, which might be due to high glucose addition causing osmotic pressure on the yeast. In this study, we limited the glucose addition to 10% (w/v) to reduce the effect of substrate inhibition on the yeast; as a result, cell growth greatly improved in both adapted pulsed feeding strategies. In addition, it should be noted that flocculation was observed during all fermentations carried out in this study. Indeed, flocculation is a common characteristic of many S. cerevisiae cultures, and is affected by pH, temperature, nutrients composition and other fermentation parameters [202]. In our experiments, ethanol accumulation and pulsed feeding (rapid, punctual addition of sugars) might have contributed to flocculation. Yeast flocculation can offer a cost-effective way to separate yeast from the liquid fraction at the end of fermentation; a widely applied strategy in the brewery industry [203]. It is worth exploring flocculation in fuel ethanol production as it may benefit the downstream process for ethanol recovery.



Figure 3.1 Changes in cell dry weight (a–d), glucose content (e–h), ethanol titer (i–l), and evolved gas flow rate (m–p) from 5% fixed (circle), 10% fixed (triangle), linear adapted (square), and exponential adapted (diamond) feeding strategies.

Changes in glucose (Figures 3.1e-h) and ethanol (Figures 3.1i-l) concentrations during 5% fixed, 10% fixed, linear adapted, and exponential adapted feeding strategies are shown in Figure 3.1. Firstly, it should be noted that was no residual glucose at the end of the fermentation regardless of the fed-batch strategy used, indicating complete utilization of the glucose supplied. Although fixed pulsed feeding operations were easy to implement, it had the poorest performance of the methods tested. A faster glucose consumption rate was observed with the linear adapted and exponential adapted feeding strategies (1.9 g/L/h), compared to the fixed feeding groups (1.5-1.6 m)g/L/h (Table 3.1). In all cases, the glucose concentration was kept below 10% (w/v) to avoid metabolic inhibition of yeast growth [49, 118]. This implies that the differences in glucose consumption rates observed between the adapted and fixed pulses could be attributed to better substrate management by the yeast. Glucose concentration can play a critical role in the growth rate of S. cerevisiae [204]. When substrate concentration is higher in both adapted feeding strategies, the cell growth rate is expected to be faster compared to 5% fixed feeding, as observed in Figures 3.1 (a, c, and d). Similar phenomena were observed by Chang et al. [105], where the specific growth rate of S. cerevisiae increased when glucose input was increased from 10 to 100 g/L, but the cell growth rate started decreasing when glucose exceeded 100 g/L. On the other hand, although 10% fixed feeding strategy provided more substrate than the adapted feedings per addition, cell growth did not show an increased trend during fermentation. This demonstrates that a one-time addition of 10% (w/v) glucose may lead to more metabolic stress on the yeast. In comparison, the adapted feeding strategies have less risk of substrate inhibition, as they gradually increase the substrate additions. Our study also indicates that feeding strategy or sugar delivery can influence the performance of ethanol fermentation in the fed-batch mode. As the target substrate concentration increases in the fed-batch fermentation, there may be a trade-off between high final ethanol

concentration and high ethanol productivity [50]. Out of the feeding strategies tested, exponential adapted feeding strategy was able to enhance both final ethanol concentration and productivity, compared to the fixed feeding strategies.

As seen in Figures 3.1 (i–l), ethanol accumulated between each pulsed feeding for all modes of operations. The final ethanol titers reached 97, 97, 98 and 103 g/L for the 5% fixed, 10% fixed, linear adapted, and exponential adapted pulsed feeding strategies, respectively. In other words, between 9–10% (w/v) ethanol was achieved at the end of fermentation. In industrial operation, increasing final ethanol concentration can reduce the cost of ethanol recovery in the downstream process. The minimal concentration of ethanol for an economic recovery in industrial settings is 4% (w/v) [14, 15]. Our work demonstrates that 9–10% (w/v) ethanol production is achievable in 5-L fermenters, increasing the probability of applying adapted pulsed feeding strategies at larger scale. As an example, Fujii *et al.* [205] expanded the bioethanol production from a laboratory scale to a bench-scale and achieved higher sugar concentration from saccharification and higher ethanol concentration with the bench-scale settings. Similar benefits from scaling up the bioprocess were found that ethanol yield was improved by 11.77% through the scale-up from working with 150-mL serum bottles to 5-L bioreactors [206].

On the other hand, high ethanol accumulation might induce inhibitory effects on the yeast during fermentation. After the last feeding, as ethanol concentration exceeded 9% (w/v), the ethanol production rate decreased compared to previous feeding intervals (Figures 3.1i–l). Ethanol can influence the structure of membranes in cells, such as nuclear and mitochondrial membranes, and other cell organelles, and further impact yeast metabolism, like fatty acid synthesis [22, 207]. Hence, when it comes to optimizing the fermentation process for bioethanol production, it is important to consider the ethanol tolerance of a strain [208, 209]. Overall, based on the trends

shown in Figures 3.1 (e–l), the two adapted feeding strategies improved glucose utilization and ethanol production, compared to the fixed feeding modes. Ethanol productivity was enhanced by 23–24% when applying the linear adapted and exponential adapted approaches, respectively, compared to the 10% fixed strategy.

	Glucose	Glucose	Ethanol	Final ethanol	Ethanol	Ethanol
Modes	consumption	consumption	production	concentration	efficiency	productivity
	(g/L)	rate (g/L/h)	(g/L)	(g/L)	(%)*	(g/L/h)
5% fixed	241 ± 5^{B}	1.6 ± 0.1^{B}	114 ± 2^{B}	$95\pm 2^{\mathrm{B}}$	92 ± 3^{A}	0.74 ± 0.04^{B}
10% fixed	$245\pm4^{\mathrm{B}}$	1.51 ± 0.07^{B}	$114\pm3^{\mathrm{B}}$	98 ± 2^{AB}	92 ± 2^{A}	0.71 ± 0.04^{B}
Linear	25 0 + 10 ^B	1 0+0 1 ^A	112 L 2 ^B	05 L 2 ^B	01 + 4 ^A	0.001.0.04
adapted	250 <u>±</u> 10	1.9 <u>+</u> 0.1	113 <u>±</u> 3	95 <u>±</u> 3	91 <u>±</u> 4	0.88 ± 0.04
Exponential	279 ± 7^{A}	10102 ^A	107 L 5 ^A	104 L 2 ^A	00 L 0 ^A	0.07 L 0.00 ^A
adapted		1.9 <u>±</u> 0.2	$12/\pm 5$	104 ± 3	89 <u>+</u> 2	$0.8/\pm0.06$

Table 3.1 Overall performance in ethanol fermentation by four pulsed feeding strategies

Means from independent triplicates (n=3) are reported with error bars representing standard deviation.

*: Ethanol efficiency (%) = Amount of ethanol produced/(Amount of glucose consumed 0.511) $\cdot 100$.

^{A-B}: Different superscript letters in the same column indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) based on statistical analyses performed through Tukey HSD test.

The overall performance of fixed and adapted feeding strategies in ethanol fermentation is shown in Table 3.1. Ethanol productivity improved by approximately 20% in both linear and exponential adapted feeding strategies compared to fixed feeding strategies. This demonstrates that adjusting substrate feeding based on cell biomass concentration can benefit both substrate utilization and ethanol production, and the improvements in ethanol productivity support our hypothesis. To deal with metabolic changes of the yeast and optimize the metabolite productivity in fed-batch fermentation, an adapted feeding strategy can be a more promising operation than a fixed feeding mode. This concept is consistent with the report of Alfenore *et al.* [45] who developed
an exponential feeding strategy for vitamin supplement in ethanol fermentation, which improved the viability of *S. cerevisiae* and ethanol productivity by 10–18%. Maximizing the product formation rate can benefit the entire process design by, for example, reducing the required bioreactor size which reduces the cost of equipment and its maintenance [42] or facilitating separation.

In addition to ethanol productivity, ethanol efficiency (based on the maximum theoretical sugar-to-ethanol ratio) and final ethanol concentration are crucial metrics of the performance of ethanol fermentation. Firstly, as shown in Table 3.1, ethanol efficiency reached between 89–92% for the four feeding strategies tested, with no statistical difference. In ethanol fermentation, the maximum theoretical yield of ethanol is 0.511 g per g glucose. In this study, fed-batch operations with 10% (w/v) glucose improved the ethanol efficiency by 12.5% compared to the batch stage. Using pulsed fed-batch to extend the active growth phase of cultures enabled the extended conversion of glucose to ethanol and carbon dioxide [20], leading to improvements in ethanol efficiency (Table 3.1) and increases in evolved gas flow rate (Figure 3.1). Similar results were observed by Laopaiboon et al. [18], who found that ethanol yield improved by 14% in fed-batch fermentation with pulsed feeding operations, compared to batch fermentation, due to reduced byproduct formation. Secondly, in terms of ethanol content, the highest ethanol production was observed under the exponential adapted feeding (Table 3.1). By considering cell accumulation during fermentation, the exponential adapted feeding can provide more substrate for ethanol fermentation and achieve higher ethanol concentration at the end of fermentation. Dilution effects from feeding operation translated into a final ethanol content slightly lower than the overall ethanol production. However, all four feeding strategies led to final ethanol contents of around 9–10% (w/v). Fed-batch operations can regulate various feeding policies to relieve the potential substrate inhibition towards the microorganism and further enhance final ethanol concentration and yield, as compared to the batch [105]. Based on these advantages, it would be promising to combine fedbatch operation with other fermentation modes, such as extractive fermentation, as such integrated fermentation systems could enable the reduction of both substrate and product inhibition effects [210]. This is of importance as increasing ethanol concentration in the fermentation medium can play a significant role in the cost and energy spent on the downstream process [15].

Optimizing ethanol productivity, efficiency, and final concentration is a trade-off for the bioethanol industry. Different decision points can result in vastly different approaches to process design. The economical balance between operational strategy and ethanol production needs to be considered [211]. This can be better evaluated through scaling up the bioprocess; for example, scaling up to the bench-scale enables the provision of operational [205] and economical [199] information from advanced bioethanol productions, which may offer further insights into the potential commercial phase. In our current study, although exponential adapted feeding required more glucose, it showed higher final ethanol content than the linear adapted feeding strategy (Table 3.1). Importantly, both adapted feeding strategies could be implemented in the 5-L fermenters. Overall, we developed two adapted feeding strategies to improve ethanol production, which helps reduce the production costs associated with fermentation. The concept of adapted feeding strategies can be integrated into current ethanol production; for example, it can be applied to either sugarbased or lignocellulosic ethanol production. The bench-scale performance demonstrated in this work is promising for future pilot-scale processes. The work can thus benefit the economic viability of commercial bioethanol.

It is worth noting that although sugar-based and starch-based feedstocks are the main sources for current bioethanol production in the industry, many companies, such as GranBio, POET Biorefining, and Raízen, are working on cellulosic ethanol as well. To produce cellulosic ethanol on an industrial scale, implementing a single SSF presents challenges, particularly due to limited fermentation performance, despite extensive research on the use of simultaneous saccharification and fermentation for lignocellulosic ethanol production [53, 136-144] (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2 Lignocellulosic ethanol production via simultaneous saccharification and fermentation using Saccharomyces cerevisiae

Foodstool	Mode	Ethanol	Ethanol productivity	Reference
recusiock		concentration (g/L)	(g/L/h)	
Agro-industrial wastes	Batch	30.0	3.0	[136]
Banana peels	Batch	28.2	2.3	[137]
Barley straw	Fed-batch	51.7	0.54	[138]
Cassava pulp	Batch	27.4	0.37	[139]
Green coconut fiber	Batch	7.9	-	[140]
Rice straw	Batch	25.2	1.05	[141]
Sugarcane bagasse	Fed-batch	75.6	0.63	[142]
Spruce	Fed-batch	40.0	0.42	[53]
Pomegranate peel	Batch	12.9	0.54	[143]
Potato peel wastes	Batch	22.5	1.51	[144]

-: not indicated

On the other hand, separate hydrolysis and fermentation (SHF) has been used to degrade the complex structure of cellulosic materials and produce ethanol separately, aiming to optimize the individual steps [208]. Further enhancement of the production efficiency of SHF requires overcoming some of the limitations of current fermentation practices. Based on the results shown in this study, two adapted feeding strategies have the potential to be applied to direct fermentation and SHF for boosting sugar-based ethanol and lignocellulosic ethanol production in the short term. Feeding or controlling actions in fed-batch fermentation may impact the heterogeneity of fermentation media when scaling up the bioprocess at an industrial scale [212]. To further explore the feasibility of the adapted pulsed feeding strategies, studies should be conducted in larger-scale bioreactors. However, it is clear that continuously adapted feeding is a promising alternative that enables the mitigation of substrate inhibition and fermentation heterogeneity during feeding, potentially leading to greater ethanol production performance.

3.3.2 Monitoring evolved gas during fed-batch fermentation

Appropriate monitoring of ethanol fermentation is important to optimize production and regulate dynamic changes during fermentation and reduce production costs [213]. For example, spectroscopy has been studied for monitoring glucose and ethanol contents in the fermentation medium. However, specific concerns need to be taken into account for this technique, such as the applicability of the calibration model for the independent process [214]. Additionally, instrument fluctuations may contribute to response errors when building the calibration model [111]. Considering fed-batch fermentation introduces fresh substrate to bioreactors intermittently or continuously, spectroscopy may not be the most effective option to monitor real-time changes during fermentation. Alternative monitoring tools need to be explored for fed-batch fermentation.

Wang *et al.* [11] showed that evolved gas flow rate could be used as a real-time monitoring parameter for ethanol fermentation in a self-cycling fermentation system. It was pointed out that this parameter could be used to monitor metabolic activity and determine the divide between the exponential phase and stationary phase of the yeast [11]. In the presented study, we monitored the evolved gas flow rate and applied it to determine the appropriate feeding points for the different fed-batch operations. Trends in evolved gas flow rate during 5% fixed, 10% fixed, linear adapted, and exponential adapted feeding operations are shown in Figures 3.1 (m–p). When evolved gas flow rate decreased sharply and reached values close to zero – indicating a rapid decline in metabolic activity, fresh feed medium was added to the bioreactor to extend substrate availability.

After each feeding, the gas flow rate increased strongly, indicative of the re-establishment of rapid metabolic activity. For example, greater evolved gas flow rates were observed after 10% fixed pulses compared to 5% fixed pulses, consistent with greater specific growth rate expected at higher substrate concentration.

When investigating the effects of the adapted feeding strategies on the evolved gas flow rate, we could see that this parameter increased rapidly after the pulse and reached greater values than for the fixed feeding strategies (with the exponential adapted operation reaching as much as 34 ccm. This is interesting as it indicates that the rate of conversion of substrate to gas was greater in the adapted strategies even if less glucose was fed than in the 10% fixed pulsed strategy. This suggests a more rapid and efficient utilization of glucose, and in turn faster production of ethanol and carbon dioxide. In the 10% fixed pulsed strategy, the substrate addition may push the influence of substrate inhibition on the yeast metabolic activity. This surmise can echo the report from Chang *et al.* [105] which showed that the growth rate of the yeast starts decreasing when glucose concentration exceeds 100 g/L. For this reason, it is critical to consider the substrate inhibition in ethanol fermentation to prevent loss of product yield [215]. Our study shows that adapted feeding strategies can further improve ethanol productivity through tailored sugar delivery (Table 3.1).

For all feeding strategies tested, the magnitude of the evolved gas flow rate decreased as the number of pulse feedings increased, and the curves showed that it took a long time to utilize the substrate (Figures 3.1m–p). This is likely due to the accumulation of ethanol in the fermentation broth. After the last feeding, ethanol contents increased from 74 to 97 g/L, from 50 to 97 g/L, from 61 to 98 g/L, and from 63 to 103 g/L in the 5% fixed pulsed, 10% fixed pulsed, linear adapted, and exponential adapted operations, respectively (Figures 3.1i–l). Considering that ethanol concentration reached 90–100 g/L, it is reasonable to expect that, by this point, most cells were not

fully activated for ethanol production, especially compared to the earlier pulsed feedings. Zhang *et al.* [216] reported that when the initial exogenous ethanol concentration exceeded 70 g/L, the yeast ceased growing and producing ethanol even if sufficient substrate was present. We were able to push ethanol production toward the boundary of high ethanol accumulation through pulsed feeding operations. Under ethanol stress, the physiology and gene expression of yeast can change to balance cellular energy expenditure, resulting in cell growth inhibition [207]. This aligns with the reduced evolved gas flow rate following the last feedings (Figures 3.1m–p). In this context, the evolved gas flow rate proved to be a valuable real-time monitoring parameter for the determination of pulsed feeding and the evaluation of ethanol production and potency of feeding strategies.

3.4 Conclusions

In this study, two adapted feeding strategies developed for fed-batch fermentation led to significant enhancements in ethanol productivity (increases of approximately 20%) compared to fixed pulsed feeding strategies. Evolved gas flow rate, a result of sugar utilization, from ethanol fermentation could be viewed as a determining factor for pulsed feeding operations in ethanol production by *S. cerevisiae*. In addition, ethanol efficiency of 91% and titers of 13% (v/v) were achieved by using these adapted feeding strategies. The results demonstrated the advantages of adjusting feeding based on cell biomass during fed-batch fermentation. This approach, which was successfully established in 5-L fermenters, improved the efficiency of ethanol production. To sum up, linear adapted and exponential adapted pulsed feeding strategies show great potential for integration into sugar-based ethanol and lignocellulosic ethanol production to enhance productivity.

Chapter 4 Adapted continuous feeding strategies in fed-batch fermentation improve ethanol productivity

*A version of this chapter will be submitted for publication

4.1 Abstract

Advances in the ethanol fermentation process are essential to improving the performance of bioethanol production. In the present work, different modes of substrate delivery – fixed feeding, adapted feeding - were investigated in fed-batch cultures of Saccharomyces cerevisiae in 5-L bioreactor. Evolved gas production, which was positively correlated with glucose consumption, was used to adjust the sugar feed rate in fed-batch fermentations under an adapted feeding strategy. The adapted feeding strategy enhanced ethanol productivity by 21% compared to the fixed feeding strategy, in which the sugar feed rate was stable, and ethanol titer reached 91 g/L (~11.5%, v/v) at the end of fermentation. Moreover, cell biomass accumulation and cell growth rate were significantly improved when using the adapted feeding strategy. The effect of nitrogen availability on the performance of the adapted feeding strategy was explored using a low-nitrogen content medium. The results showed that, even under low nitrogen feeding conditions (N:C = 0.046:10), the adapted feeding strategy maintained the same ethanol productivity as nitrogen-rich medium feeding. Overall, these results suggest that sugar delivery with low-nitrogen content using the adapted feeding strategy could help reduce medium and preparation costs, and improve productivity of current facilities in the ethanol industry.

4.2 Background

Ethanol fed-batch fermentation typically relies on intermittent or continuous feeding. In the former, also named pulsed feeding, specific amounts of a limiting nutrient are added intermittently, leading to spikes in substrate concentration followed by depletion until the next feeding [18, 46], which we investigated in Chapter 3 for adapted pulsing fed-batch approaches. On the other hand, continuous feeding consists of a continuous addition of a limiting nutrient (typically through pumping) to the bioreactor either at a fixed or changing (adapted) rate [47, 48]. When lignocellulosic hydrolysate is used as substrate, continuous feeding results in relatively less exposure of the microorganisms to inhibitors, such as furfural derivatives, compared to pulsed feeding, in which higher concentrations of substrate and inhibitor are observed immediately after the pulsed addition. Some ethanologenic microorganisms have the capability to convert inhibitors, which reduces the metabolic stress on cells [217, 218]. Moreover, continuous feeding can mitigate heterogeneity between the fermentation broth and the fresh feed medium, which may lead to greater performance in ethanol fermentation as compared to pulsed feeding. The heterogeneity of a fermentation broth becomes critical especially when the fermentation process is implemented at industrial scale [212]. It is worth noting that, although both pulsed and continuous feeding operations lead to elevated product formation [42], developing an efficient feeding strategy for substrate delivery in fed-batch fermentation is essential to optimize the metabolic performance of microorganisms.

Therefore, the present work focused on developing adapted continuous feeding strategies for sugar delivery to enhance ethanol productivity in cultures of *S. cerevisiae*, and comparing their performance with fixed continuous feeding in 5-L bioreactor. To this end, evolved gas production from the yeast during ethanol fermentation was assessed as a monitoring parameter to guide sugar feeding rate. Fermentation performance was determined based on sugar utilization, ethanol titer, efficiency (sugar-to-ethanol conversion), and productivity. In addition, the impact of nitrogen content in the feed medium on the performance of the fermentations was investigated. Overall, this work provides practical insights to develop and/or implement adapted feeding strategies for efficient substrate delivery and further improving the performance of industrial bioethanol production.

4.3 Methods and Materials

4.3.1 Yeast, media, and cultivation

The industrial yeast for fuel ethanol production, SuperstartTM active distillers dry yeast, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, was purchased from Lallemand Ethanol Technology and used in this study. Media for seed cultures and ethanol fermentation as well as the cultivation conditions were used as described in Chapter 3

4.3.2 Fed-batch fermentation

4.3.2.1 Settings and accessories for 5-L bioreactors

All fermentation experiments were performed in 5-L stirred tank bioreactors (Infors-HT), and the operation settings and accessories were used as described in Chapter 3.

4.3.2.2 Continuous feeding strategies

The feed medium added during fed-batch fermentation was a modified YNB medium: 500 g/L glucose (MilliporeSigma), 6.7 g/L yeast nitrogen base with amino acids (MilliporeSigma), and 47.7 g/L urea (MilliporeSigma) in 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.0). The nitrogen-to-carbon (N:C) ratio in the feed medium was 0.95:10 (mol:mol).

Continuous feeding was performed using a peristaltic pump (MFLX78001-62, Masterflex Ismatec Reglo Independent Channel Control Peristaltic Pumps, Avantor, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada).

Evolved gas produced per reactor volume (*E* with units of mL/L) during fermentation positively correlated with glucose consumed per reactor volume (*G* with units of g/L), as expressed in equation 4.1 ($R^2 = 0.895$; Figure 4.1):

$$G = 0.005 \cdot E + 0.302$$
 Eq. (4.1)



Figure 4.1 The correlation between evolved gas produced (mL/L) and glucose consumed (g/L) per reactor volume in ethanol fermentation of *S. cerevisiae*.

Evolved gas from the bioreactor was used to control the glucose addition in adapted continuous feeding, and real-time evolved gas flow rate was used as a monitoring parameter to indicate the end of the initial batch phase, at which point the fed-batch phase was initiated.

Details for fixed and adapted feeding are stated as follows.

1) In the fixed continuous feeding strategy, glucose was fed at a rate of 2.1 g/L/h. This glucose feed rate was set based on the average glucose consumption rate in batch fermentation of S. *cerevisiae* in previous works.

2) In the adapted continuous feeding strategy, glucose was fed at a rate of 2.1 g/L/h at the beginning of the fed-batch fermentation. Glucose consumed per reactor volume (g/L) was evaluated every 12 h based on the evolved gas production (using equation 4.1). The glucose feed rate (F) was adjusted according to equation 4.2:

$$F_t = F_{(t-1)} \cdot \frac{(E_{(t-1)} + \Delta E)}{E_{(t-1)}}$$
 Eq. (4.2)

where F_t is the adapted glucose feed rate at time t (g/L/h), $F_{(t-1)}$ is the glucose feed rate in the previous time interval (g/L/h), $E_{(t-1)}$ is the total evolved gas at the previous sampling time (mL), and ΔE is the increase in evolved gas over the time interval (mL/h). When the estimated glucose consumption rate was lower than the current feed rate, the glucose feed rate was maintained to ensure that ethanol fermentation was not limited due to insufficient substrate input. Overall, for both fixed and adapted feeding strategies, glucose was continuously fed until the total glucose added reached approximately 200 g/L, this ensured the ethanol contents could reach above 11% (v/v), a common target for the fuel industry for recovery in downstream process.

To further investigate the application of adapted feeding strategies on ethanol production, the composition of the feed medium was modified to reduce its nitrogen content. A lower nitrogen-to-

carbon ratio was obtained by removing urea from the medium. The modified feed medium thus contained 500 g/L glucose and 6.7 g/L yeast nitrogen base with amino acids in 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer (N:C = 0.046:10, mol:mol). This feed medium composition was tested with both the adapted and fixed continuous feeding strategies, with all other fermentation conditions kept the same.

4.3.3 Analyses of fermentation samples

Biomass content of samples from the bioreactors was assessed by OD₆₀₀ using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Ultrospec 4300 Pro) and converted to cell dry weight (CDW, g/L) using a calibration curve (CDW = $0.4412 \cdot OD_{600} + 0.049$; R² = 0.967; Supplementary Figure 2, Appendix A). Fermentation samples were also centrifuged at $10,100 \cdot g$ for 10 min (Eppendorf[®] Centrifuge 5418), and the supernatants were analyzed by HPLC and GC for determining glucose and ethanol concentrations, respectively, which were stated in the methods and materials of Chapter 3.

All fermentation experiments were run in independent triplicates. Data were expressed as means \pm standard deviation. Statistical analysis for comparing multiple groups was performed by ANOVA and Tukey's honestly significant difference test, where p < 0.05 indicated significant differences.

4.4 Results and Discussion

4.4.1 Impact of continuous feeding strategies on ethanol fermentation

Fed-batch fermentation has been shown to improve ethanol production through enabling higher cell density and avoiding substrate inhibition [41]. However, in that operational approach, the feeding regime must be properly controlled [76]. Ethanol production under anaerobic conditions is linked to the primary metabolism of *S. cerevisiae*: when glucose is consumed, ethanol and carbon

dioxide are produced, and ATP is generated for cell growth, maintenance, or reproduction [3, 24]. In this study, we developed a feeding strategy in which the sugar delivery was adapted to the glucose consumption rate to improve ethanol productivity, and compared its performance with a fixed feeding strategy.

Figure 4.2 shows the trends in yeast cell dry weight, glucose concentration, ethanol concentration, and evolved gas flow rate for the fixed (2a-2d), adapted (2e-2h) and low-nitrogen adapted (2i–2l) continuous feeding strategies. The comparison of the fixed and adapted feeding at a N:C ratio of 0.95:10 yields a direct assessment of the impact of substrate addition strategies on growth and ethanol production. Firstly, cell dry weight increased with both fixed and adapted feedings; however, the latter led to higher final biomass ($\sim 3.4 \text{ g/L}$) than the fixed feeding ($\sim 2.6 \text{ g/L}$) (Figures 4.2a and 4.2e). This suggests that the adapted feeding strategy provides more efficient sugar delivery for cell growth. Sugar concentration is an essential variable for the performance of ethanol fermentation. Chang et al. [105] reported that the specific growth rate and ethanol productivity increased in batch cultures of S. cerevisiae as the initial glucose concentration was increased from 10 g/L to 100 g/L. It is worth mentioning that, beyond 100 g/L, the sugar concentration needs to be controlled to avoid strong osmotic stress on the microorganism [118]. This is also supported by Chang *et al.* [105] who showed decreases in yeast specific growth rate and ethanol productivity when the initial glucose concentration increased from 100 g/L to 260 g/L. In the present work, glucose addition was tightly controlled to stay well below 100 g/L and mitigate the risk of substrate inhibition on the yeast.



Figure 4.2 Cell dry weight (a, e, i), glucose concentration (b, f, j), ethanol concentration (c, g, k), and evolved gas flow rate (d, h, l) in fed-batch fermentation of *S. cerevisiae* cultures undergoing fixed (a–d, circle) and adapted (e–h, triangle) continuous feeding strategies, and adapted continuous feeding strategy with low nitrogen feed medium (i–l, diamond). Means are reported for analytical triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation.

The impacts of the adapted feeding strategy were also observed in trends in glucose concentration, ethanol concentration and evolved gas flow rate. The residual glucose content at the end of each feeding period was at or near zero (Figures 4.2b and 4.2f) until approximately 83 h for fixed feeding and until 95 h for adapted feeding. This indicates that, over that time period, the glucose consumption rate was likely equivalent to or limited by the glucose addition rate; in fact, it should be noted that the glucose addition rate was increased gradually in the adapted feeding strategy. Considering that from approximately 24 h onward the cell dry weight did not change substantially, this suggests that more glucose was utilized by the yeast for producing ethanol or cell biomass when applying the adapted feeding strategy. This is supported by the glucose consumption rate (Figure 4.3) which was greater in cultures undergoing adapted feeding compared to those undergoing fixed feeding.

Moreover, the comparison of the areas under the curve of the glucose consumption rate – which is an indicator of performance based on the overall glucose consumed per liter of reactor – demonstrates that the adapted feeding strategy enhanced overall glucose consumption (115 g/L compared to 105 g/L for fixed feeding). The gradual increase in glucose addition in adapted feeding may benefit the glucose consumption rate. Unrean and Nguyen [19] reported that substrate feeding rate could impact the cell growth rate and the optimal ethanol productivity in fed-batch fermentations of *Scheffersomyces stipitis*. In the present study, we noticed a similar impact from fed-batch fermentation of *S. cerevisiae*, showing that the adapted feeding strategy can enhance glucose consumption rate and, consequently, ethanol productivity.



Figure 4.3 Glucose consumption rate in fed-batch fermentation of *S. cerevisiae* cultures undergoing fixed and adapted continuous feeding strategies.

The numbers shown indicate the areas under the curve of glucose consumption rate, i.e. the sum of glucose consumption (g/L) from the start of fed-batch operation to the mid-feeding period, beyond which the rate decreased. The two values were statistically different (p < 0.05) based on a two-tailed t-test, indicated by the asterisk sign.

The rise in residual glucose at ~83 h for fixed feeding and ~95 h for adapted feeding (Figures 4.2b and 4.2f) is indicative of a decrease in glucose conversion rate. This occurred later in adapted feeding, likely because this strategy improved cell biomass accumulation which correlates with glucose consumption. In a report, Cruz *et al.* [219] showed that at the same fermentation time, temperature and initial substrate concentration, inoculating at higher cell concentration led to low residual sugar and increased ethanol concentration. In addition, the total glucose fed was controlled in both fixed and adapted feeding strategies to ensure they could reach the same ethanol concentration at the end of fermentation for comparison. In the fixed feeding strategy, glucose

addition was stopped at ~136 h, while in the adapted feeding strategy it was stopped earlier, at ~123 h. Moreover, the peak in residual glucose was lower in the adapted feeding strategy (15 g/L) than in the fixed feeding strategy (28 g/L). This also suggests that the glucose consumption was more efficient when operating the adapted feeding strategy. Interestingly, for both feeding strategies, the onset in glucose accumulation aligned with the ethanol concentration reaching ~60 g/L (Figures 4.2b and 4.2c, and 4.2f and 4.2g). Since ethanol is a product that can stress yeast cells [20, 22], we surmise that 60 g/L ethanol was likely a threshold to trigger metabolic inhibition. This is supported by Cot *et al.* [220], who showed that, in fed-batch fermentation, cell viability was reduced when ethanol reached 60–80 g/L; and that cell viability decreased sharply when ethanol reached 100 g/L. As ethanol is accumulated during fermentation, its negative metabolic impact on the yeast can be viewed differently, such as the trigger for mild or completed inhibition. It is also important to note that after stopping the feeding, glucose stopped accumulating and decreased to complete depletion (Figures 4.2 b and f), which shows that the cells retained metabolic activity.

Evolved gas flow rate was monitored over the entire fermentation process to track metabolic activity and infer glucose consumption rate (Figures 4.2d and 4.2h). Based on the metabolic pathway of ethanol fermentation in *S. cerevisiae*, ethanol production is coupled with carbon dioxide formation. Wang *et al.* [11] showed that evolved gas flow rate could be used as a real-time monitoring parameter for operating ethanol fermentation, which is also supported by our study. As shown in Figures 1d and 1h, evolved gas flow rate from the fixed and the adapted feeding strategies were maintained at ~14 ccm in the beginning of the feeding period. However, as glucose addition was increased in the adapted feeding strategy, the evolved gas flow rate increased to ~16 ccm; inferring that glucose consumption rate might increase under this mode of operation. Indeed, as shown in Figure 4.3, glucose consumption rate in the adapted feeding strategy was generally greater

than in the fixed feeding strategy. It is worth noting that as evolved gas flow rate increased, the evolved gas production increased as well, indicating more glucose was required for ethanol fermentation. Through monitoring changes in evolved gas flow rate, the performance of ethanol fermentation can be tracked, which was also demonstrated in Wang *et al.* [11] and Chapter 3. This allowed us to identify events, such as the accumulation of glucose and its complete depletion (Figures 4.2d and 4.2h), corresponding to trends observed by HPLC analysis (Figures 4.2b and 4.2f). In fact, as fresh medium was continuously fed until ~83 h and ~95 h in the fixed and adapted feeding strategy respectively, evolved gas flow rate started to decrease, aligning with the increase in residual glucose (Figure 4.2).

The potential application of the adapted continuous feeding strategy was further investigated by testing the system with reduced nitrogen content (N:C = 0.046:10) in the feed medium (Figures 4.2i–l). Much like in nitrogen replete experiments (N:C = 0.95:10; Figures 4.2a and 4.2e), the adapted feeding strategy led to more efficient glucose feeding and higher cell growth rate compared to the fixed feeding strategy with low-nitrogen feed medium. Interestingly, although the cell dry weight in the nitrogen-replete experiment with adapted feeding was similar to that in the lownitrogen operation, it showed a higher cell growth rate before the cell content reached a plateau during the feeding period (Figure 4.4) (Table 4.1).



Figure 4.4 Cell growth in adapted continuous feeding strategies with high (white circle) or low nitrogen feed medium (black circle). Means are reported for independent triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation.

Kiran and Liu [221], who found that lower *S. cerevisiae* cell dry weight was measured at 24 h with media at low nitrogen-to-carbon ratio (N:C = 0.29:10), as compared to high nitrogen-to-carbon ratio (N:C = 2:10). Indeed, nitrogen is essential to yeast cell formation (Russell, 2003). However, the impact of nitrogen content on the performance of ethanol production may not necessarily align with the above situation. For examples, high ethanol concentration was observed in a low N:C ratio conditions with *S. cerevisiae* [221] and *Escherichia coli* KO11 [222], respectively. Furthermore, Pinilla *et al.* [223] reported that ethanol yield and specific ethanol productivity were higher when N:C ratio was 0.22:10, as compared to either lower or higher N:C ratio at 0.11:10 and 1.1:10 in the fermentation of *Zymomonas mobilis*. The minimal nitrogen requirement of a yeast determines the

point below which sluggish or stuck fermentation may take place [224]. Mendes-Ferreira *et al.* [225] reported that 267 mg-Nitrogen/L was the minimal nitrogen content for growing *S. cerevisiae* PYCC 4072 (an industrial wine yeast) in synthetic grape juice medium, avoiding sluggish or stuck fermentation. In the present study, the feed lower nitrogen content (1.06 g-Nitrogen/L) had no impact on ethanol productivity when applying the adapted feeding strategy. This suggests that the low-nitrogen feed medium was applicable for growing the yeast strain in adaptive fed-batch fermentation, providing more flexibility to the bioethanol industry.

The trends in glucose and ethanol concentrations were similar with low or high nitrogen content for both adapted feeding strategies (Figures 4.2e–h and 4.2i–l); with ethanol reaching 89 g/L (~11.3%, v/v) at the end of fermentations with low nitrogen content. Here again, glucose accumulation was observed once the ethanol concentration reached 60 g/L (at ~83 h). Residual glucose concentration reached 18 g/L in the adapted feeding, at which point feeding was stopped and the residual was consumed until depletion (Figure 4.2j). The complete fermentation process was, again, faster using the adapted feeding strategy. For comparison, the results of fixed feeding strategy with low N:C feed medium can be found in Figures 4.5 and 4.6. These results suggest that the substrate delivery in the adapted feeding strategy could enhance the rates of glucose consumption and ethanol production compared to the fixed feeding operation, even when the low nitrogen feed medium was used.

Lignocellulosic hydrolysates used in bioethanol production can have a range of types and contents of nitrogenous compounds [226-228]. Although nitrogen is essential to the growth of microorganisms, quantifying and unifying the nitrogen content in every batch of lignocellulosic hydrolysate may not be practical. Thus, we further demonstrate the flexibility of conducting the adapted feeding strategy with a low nitrogen feed medium in ethanol fermentation. Even using low

nitrogen (N:C = 0.046:10) feed medium, the adapted feeding strategy still enhanced ethanol productivity compared to the fixed feeding strategy.



Figure 4.5 Cell dry weight (a), glucose concentration (b), ethanol concentration (c), and evolved gas flow rate (d) in fed-batch fermentation of *S. cerevisiae* cultures undergoing fixed continuous feeding strategies with low nitrogen medium. Means are reported for analytical triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation.



Figure 4.6 Glucose consumption rate in fed-batch fermentation of *S. cerevisiae* cultures undergoing fixed and adapted continuous feeding strategies with low nitrogen medium.

4.4.2 Overall advancements in ethanol fermentation by adapted feeding strategies

Table 4.1 highlights critical fermentation performance parameters from fixed and adapted feeding strategies with high- and low-nitrogen feed media. In all cases, the residual glucose contents at the end of the fermentation were near zero and represented less than 0.5% of the total glucose added. Since the glucose addition was controlled to reach a given ethanol content, all fermentations reached statistically equivalent ethanol concentrations (~90 g/L or ~11%, v/v) and efficiency (~70.5% of the theoretical maximum sugar-to-ethanol conversion). However, it is worth noting that ethanol productivity was improved by approximately 21% when the adapted feeding strategy was applied, regardless of nitrogen content in the feed medium. This supports our hypothesis that adjusting glucose addition based on the evolved gas production during ethanol fermentation can enhance sugar utilization and ethanol productivity. The adapted feeding strategy

provides a more efficient way for continuous sugar delivery in fed-batch fermentation, while the fixed feeding strategy may limit substrate addition and even ethanol production. Regulating sugar concentration in fermentation becomes important because it can affect yield and efficiency [48, 229].

Feed media	Mode	Residual glucose (g/L)	Cell biomass increase (g/L)*	Cell biomass increase rate (g/L/h)**	Ethanol titer (g/L)	Ethanol efficiency (%)***	Ethanol productivity (g/L/h)
High	Fixed	3 ± 3^{a}	0.4 ± 0.2^{a}	$0.007 {\pm} 0.004^{ab}$	91 ± 3^{a}	67.5 ± 0.6^{a}	0.51 ± 0.02^{a}
nitrogen	Adapted	0.18 ± 0.05^{a}	0.9 ± 0.2^{b}	$0.017 \pm 0.001^{\circ}$	91 ± 3^{a}	72.4 ± 0.6^{a}	0.62 ± 0.02^{b}
Low	Fixed	1 ± 2^{a}	0.2 ± 0.1^{a}	0.003 ± 0.001^{a}	90 ± 3^{a}	70 ± 4^{a}	0.52 ± 0.02^{a}
nitrogen	Adapted	$0.7\pm0.6^{\mathrm{a}}$	0.6 ± 0.2^{ab}	0.010 ± 0.003^{b}	89 ± 4^{a}	72 ± 3^{a}	0.60 ± 0.03^{b}

Table 4.1 Overall fermentation performance from fixed and adapted continuous feeding strategies

* Cell biomass increase indicates the difference in cell dry weight between the start of the feeding period to the time at which the highest cell dry weight is reached during that period.

**Cell growth rate over the feeding period.

***Ethanol efficiency (%) = (amount of ethanol produced/amount of glucose consumed/(0.511)·100.

Means are reported for independent triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation. Different letters (a, b) in the same column represent a statistical difference (p < 0.05), performed by ANOVA and Tukey HSD test.

In the bioethanol industry, high ethanol concentration is important to reduce the cost and improve the efficiency of ethanol recovery in the downstream process. For example, the minimal ethanol content for an economic recovery at industrial scale is 4% (w/v) [14, 15], but fermentation ethanol contents commonly reach up to 11% (v/v) in the industry [16]. In the present work, with both fixed and adapted feeding strategies, final ethanol contents reached 11% (v/v). The bench-scale performance demonstrated in this work is promising for large-scale processes. Operational and economic information from advanced bioethanol production can be imparted through scaling

up to the bench-scale [199], contributing further insights into potential commercial-scale production. Moreover, the adapted feeding strategy showed the highest ethanol productivity and reached above 11% (v/v) ethanol, regardless of the nitrogen contents (Table 4.1). Such advancements can be attractive to the bioethanol industry as they can be implemented in the current infrastructures without major changes in equipment or operation (e.g. merely changing the substrate feed rate).

4.5 Conclusions

In summary, this study successfully demonstrated how an adapted feeding strategy could improve the ethanol productivity by 21% in fed-batch fermentation based on evolved gas, as compared to a fixed feeding strategy. The performance of the adapted feeding strategy was shown to be maintained even when using a feed medium with low nitrogen content (N:C = 0.046:10). In all cases tested the final ethanol concentration was ~90 g/L (~11%, v/v) in 5-L bioreactors. These advancements can serve in the development of efficient practices for substrate delivery and improving ethanol production from starchy or lignocellulosic feedstocks. Efficient yeast ethanol fermentation could be identified using the evolved gas increased, as a correlation of glucose consumed per liter of reactor. Moreover, we showed that the point at which ethanol concentration can impede the glucose utilization of the yeast. Overall, this study presents a flexible and effective sugar feeding strategy for fed-batch fermentation which could be potentially integrated into existing fermentation systems to further optimize production in the ethanol industry.

Chapter 5 Ethanol production from steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate through a two-stage high-cell density self-cycling fermentation system

*A version of this chapter will be submitted for publication.

5.1 Abstract

Improving fermentation systems is an important path to improve the economics of lignocellulosic ethanol production by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. The present study combined the concepts of self-cycling fermentation (SCF) with those of continuous adapted feeding for ethanol production. Additionally, a second stage, in which an additional pulse feed was implemented to further enhance ethanol titer and productivity. As a result, the high cell density SCF system, with a second stage pulse fermentation, was successfully applied to lignocellulosic fermentation medium using steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate as feedstock. The patterns of glucose consumption, ethanol production, and evolved gas flow rate were all reproducible, suggesting that the integrated fermentation system could reliably be used for lignocellulosic ethanol production. This two-stage fermentation approach led to final ethanol titer of $\sim 11\%$ (v/v). Overall, this study presents a robust fermentation system for lignocellulosic ethanol production, and highlights the feasibility of implementing it in biorefinery processes for the bioethanol industry.

5.2 Background

The production steps for converting lignocellulosic biomass to bioethanol include pretreatment, hydrolysis (or saccharification), fermentation, and purification. Many studies have focused on pretreatment and hydrolysis to improve the yield and recovery efficiency of fermentable sugars for fermentation [125, 230]. On the other hand, fermentation itself still requires advancements to enhance microbial performance towards ethanol production. The different types of fermentation – e.g. batch, fed-batch, and continuous – rely on different modes of substrate delivery, which can enhance the performance of ethanol fermentation [48].

SCF is a semi-continuous fermentation approach in which cycling half the volume of the fermenter upon depletion of the substrate provides the microorganisms with fresh nutrients and enhances growth in the log phase [6]. SCF has found success in various applications, such as production of citric acid [231], antibiotics [9], shikimic acid [94] and bacteriophages [232]. In terms of achievements in ethanol production, Wang *et al.* [11] built up a precise cycling trigger point for the SCF in a 5-L bioreactor to efficiently manage ethanol fermentation process, resulting in a 37.5–75.3% increase in ethanol productivity compared to batch mode. However, final ethanol titer was reported 2.0–2.5% (w/v) at the end of each cycle, which is not sufficient for economic industrial production. In commercialized starch- and sugar-based bioethanol production, ethanol production necessitates a significant increase in ethanol titer. Fed-batch fermentation, which involves the addition of substrates or nutrients during operation, has been shown to enhance the final product concentration in many bioprocesses [42]. We previously evaluated how adapted feeding strategies – through either pulsing (Chapter 3) or continuous feeding (Chapter 4) – in which the substrate delivery rate was adjusted based on the metabolic response from *S. cerevisiae*

improved ethanol titer and productivity. Hence, integrating fed-batch approaches into SCF is of interest in this chapter to further address the limitation in the fermentation process for lignocellulosic ethanol production.

To this end, the primary objective of the present study is to explore the performance of an integrated fermentation system for lignocellulosic ethanol production. Firstly, a continuous adapted feeding strategy was introduced to the SCF system for ethanol production. Then, a single pulse feed addition was applied to the harvested medium from the SCF system to further enhance ethanol titer to above 11% (v/v). Finally, the applicability of the integrated fermentation system to steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate was shown, providing a proof-of-concept in lignocellulosic ethanol production for the bioethanol industry.

5.3 Methods and Materials

5.3.1 Fermentation media

Synthetic fermentation media

A synthetic fermentation medium, as described in Chapter 3, was used to test the feasibility of the integrated fermentation system. Briefly, the synthetic fermentation medium was composed of 50 g/L glucose and 6.7 g/L yeast nitrogen base with amino acids in 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.0). For both continuous and pulsed feeding operations, the same synthetic medium was used but with glucose concentration increased to 500 g/L.

Lignocellulosic fermentation medium

Steam-exploded poplar (SEP), a potential lignocellulosic feedstock for the production of biofuels and other high value-added products, was prepared based on Haddis *et al.* [233]. The steam-exploded poplar underwent enzymatic hydrolysis as described in Beyene *et al.* [234] with

some modifications. 10% (w/v) steam-exploded poplar was prepared in 0.05 M sodium citrate buffer (pH 4.8). 20 FPU/g of cellulase cocktail NS 51129, a non-commercial proprietary research formulation (Novozymes® A/S, Bagsvaerd, Denmark), was added to the suspension. The mixture was incubated at 50°C and 150 rpm for 24 h. After enzymatic hydrolysis, the hydrolysate was filtered through Whatman® qualitative filter papers (Grade 3, diameter: 110 mm, pore size: 6 µm; MilliporeSigma) to remove solid residues. The liquid hydrolysate was then autoclaved at 121°C/15 min to terminate the enzyme reaction. Hydrolyzed samples were taken for analyses of fermentable sugars and furfural-derived compounds (described in section 5.3.4). The liquid hydrolysate was supplemented with 6.7 g/L yeast nitrogen base with amino acids, 0.02 g/L ergosterol (MilliporeSigma), and 0.8 g/L Tween 80 (MilliporeSigma), forming the lignocellulosic fermentation medium for subsequent experiments. Ergosterol and Tween 80 were added to the medium for the SCF system to compensate for the reduced sterol and unsaturated fatty acid synthesis in *S. cerevisiae* grown under anaerobic conditions [11].

5.3.2 Yeast cultivation

Superstart[™] active distillers dry yeast, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, was used in this chapter. The seed cultivation followed the procedure from Chapter 3. In the present study, the cultivation medium for the seed culture was the same as the fermentation medium used in the bioreactor (synthetic or lignocellulosic fermentation medium).

5.3.3 Fermentation configurations

5.3.3.1 Self-cycling fermentation with continuous adapted feeding strategy (stage 1)

Stage 1 fermentation consisted of an SCF system combined with continuous adapted feeding. It was operated in a 5-L stirred tank bioreactor (Infors-HT). The settings of the SCF system was reported in Wang *et al.* [11] with modification, and it was controlled by using a custom LabVIEW program monitoring temperature (30°C), agitation, pH, evolved gas flow rate, and cumulative evolved gas volume. Gas released from the bioreactor was monitored in real-time during the fermentation using a mass flow meter (MW-200SCCM-D/5 M). The flow rate was recorded at standard atmospheric conditions (25°C, 1 atm) and reported as an average value over a 15-min timespan. A basic solution of 2 N NaOH was used to maintain pH at or above 3.5. Changes in pH during SCF are shown in Supplementary Figure 3 (Appendix A).

The first SCF cycle consisted of a batch fermentation carried out using either synthetic or lignocellulosic fermentation medium until the carbon source was depleted (identified by the evolved gas flow rate decreasing to less than 5 ccm), followed by a fed-batch period in which a feed pump initiated the continuous transfer of concentrated glucose synthetic medium to the bioreactor. The feed rate was adjusted according to the parameters described in Chapter 4. Thirdly, when ethanol titer reached approximately 60 g/L, the feed pump stopped, and the cycling sequence was triggered. Ethanol production during the feeding period was monitored and estimated by using evolved gas production (Supplementary Figure 4, Appendix A) and the setpoint of 60 g/L was set to avoid sugar accumulation in the system (as described in Chapter 4). The cycling sequence consisted of: 1) harvest of culture broth until 1 L remained in the reactor, 2) fresh synthetic or lignocellulosic fermentation medium was added to the bioreactor until the 2-L level was reached, and 3) a new cycle was started. Nitrogen gas was purged through the bioreactor to maintain anaerobic conditions and balance the pressure of the bioreactor. The harvested medium was further transferred to shake flasks for the stage 2 fermentation.

5.3.3.2 Pulsed feed second fermentation (stage 2)

200 mL of harvested fermentation medium was transferred to a sterile 500-mL shake flask, and the concentrated glucose synthetic medium was pulsed into the flask to extend ethanol fermentation

and increase ethanol titer to above 11% (v/v). A S-lock was installed on the shake flask and filled with distilled water to maintain anaerobic conditions.

5.3.4 Analytical methods

Culture samples (50 mL) were collected and centrifuged at 10,100×g for 10 min (Eppendorf centrifuge 5418). Supernatant was taken out for analysis of sugar and ethanol contents, and the residual pellet was used for cell dry weight analysis. Sugar composition (glucose, xylose, mannose, arabinose, and galactose) of the steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate was analyzed by HPLC based on Beyene *et al.* [234] with slight modifications. HPLC was equipped with Aminex HPX-87P column (Bio–Rad Laboratory) held at 85°C, in which deionized water was used as the mobile phase with a constant flow of 0.3 mL/min and a RID for signal detection. Potential fermentation inhibitors, furfural and 5-hydroxymethyl furfural (5-HMF), and glucose content of culture samples were analyzed by HPLC equipped with Aminex HPX-87H column (Bio–Rad Laboratory) using RID [235]. Ethanol titer in the fermentation medium was analyzed by GC, as described in Chapter 3. Cell dry weight was measured by gravimetric analysis [11], in which experiments were performed and analyzed in at least triplicate ($n \ge 3$).

5.4 Results and Discussion

5.4.1 High-cell density SCF system with synthetic fermentation medium (stage 1)

In previous work, Wang *et al.* [11] developed a SCF system for enhancing ethanol productivity in 5-L bioreactor, yielding approximately 2% (w/v) ethanol at the end of cycles. To further increase ethanol titer and make the process more economically viable, we implemented combined the SCF with fed-batch operation, using a continuous adapted feeding strategy in each cycle. The fed-batch strategy was selected based on improvements in ethanol productivity observed in Chapter 4.



Figure 5.1 Glucose (a), ethanol (b), cell dry weight (c), cycle time (d), evolved gas flow rate (e), and evolved gas production (f) in synthetic fermentation medium undergoing SCF with continuous adapted feeding (stage 1). Cycle numbers are indicated at the beginning of the cycle. Means are reported for analytical triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation.

Figure 5.1 shows trends in the fermentation parameters, including glucose concentration, ethanol titer, cell dry weight, cycle time, and evolved gas measured over six cycles of SCF operation with continuous adapted feeding. As seen in Figure 5.1 (a), the trend in glucose contents was regular for cycles 2 to 6 (these cycles are all conducted under the same feeding conditions, unlike cycle 1). These cycles were initiated at an initial glucose concentration of 25 g/L, and, upon depletion (indicated by evolved gas flow rate dropping below 5 ccm), adapted continuous feeding was initiated until the ethanol contents reached 60 g/L. At this point cycling was triggered. It is worth noting that the residual glucose content remained low (< 0.5 g/L) over the continuous feeding period, demonstrating that this feeding strategy did not result in substrate accumulation. Maintaining the low residual sugar in each cycle and maintaining high ethanol titer also reduced the risk of growth of contaminants, through low substrate availability in the former and ethanol metabolic inhibition in the later [236]. It is worth noting that no contamination was found through microscopy during fermentation, as aseptic techniques were also applied for media preparation and bioreactor setup.

During SCF operation, ethanol titer was monitored in real time using evolved gas production as a proxy (Figure 5.1f). The calculated ethanol contents were validated by GC analysis of samples (Figure 5.1b), which showed that 60 g/L ethanol was attained at the end of cycles 2 to 6. As with glucose contents, the ethanol titer pattern was stable between cycles. Change in cell biomass is shown in Figure 5.1 (c). In cycle 1, cell biomass reached 2.8 g/L at the end of initial batch fermentation and then increased to 4.6 g/L through the continuous feeding operation. In cycles 2 to 6, cell biomass increased from 2.6 ± 0.2 g/L to 5.4 ± 0.4 g/L, which was approximately a two-fold improvement within a cycle. It should be noted that the inclusion of continuous feeding to the SCF cycle led to greater biomass contents than SCF alone, as developed by Wang *et al.* [11]. Cycle time was 71.5 h for cycle 1, and then shortened to 36 h for cycles 2 to 6 (Figure 5.1d), indicating that the same level of ethanol could be achieved in the subsequent cycles over a shorter time. When comparing between the initial batch period in SCF alone, cycle time reduced around 36% in cycle 2 to 6 as compared to cycle 1. This result is consistent with the findings of Wang *et al.* [11], where cycle time stabilized to 1/3 of that of cycle 1. Shortening the lag phase of the yeast and keeping its exponential growth during the subsequent cycles via cycling operation thus contributes to a reduction in cycle time for ethanol fermentation. This is supported by Feng *et al.* [95], who showed that their sequential batch system eliminated the lag phase of the yeast in very high gravity conditions and enhanced annual ethanol productivity compared to the batch fermentation. Tan *et al.* [94] further investigated the mechanism of increasing volumetric productivity by using transcriptomic analysis in the SCF of the engineered yeast, and the authors demonstrated that genes related to DNA replication and cell cycle were up-regulated in the early stage of SCF, leading to a higher product yield and productivity for shikimic acid production.

Under anaerobic conditions, when glucose is consumed by *S. cerevisiae*, the carbon metabolic flow is directed towards ethanol and carbon dioxide formation [22]. It is important to understand the metabolic balances during ethanol fermentation. In the present work, evolved gas was monitored in real-time (Figures 5.1e and 5.1f), allowing direct tracking of the performance of ethanol fermentation. The curve of evolved gas flow rate displayed a bell shape in the first part of SCF cycles (corresponding to the utilization of the initial glucose loaded) (Figure 5.1e). The narrower pattern in cycles 2–6 suggests less time was required to complete a cycle compared to the initial cycle (Figure 5.1d). It is worth noting that during the continuous feeding period, the evolved gas flow rate increased as glucose feed rate increased. This finding suggests a corresponding enhancement in ethanol production since it is coupled with carbon dioxide formation. This real-

time monitoring also enables the establishment of automation for the SCF system, which would be expected to reduce manpower requirements [6]. The stable patterns in glucose consumption, ethanol production and evolved gas production also suggest the high-cell density SCF is a robust and reproducible fermentation system for ethanol production (Figure 5.1f).

5.4.2 Single pulsed feed fermentation with synthetic fermentation medium (stage 2)

In the present study, a second stage was implemented in which harvested culture broth from stage 1 was transferred and supplemented with additional sugar through a single pulse addition of concentrated glucose synthetic medium. This prolonged the fermentation process to achieve higher ethanol titer. Figure 5.2 shows the glucose, ethanol, and cell biomass trends in stage 2 cycles 1 to 6. In each of these second stage cycles, 88 ± 2 g/L of glucose was reduced to 7 ± 2 g/L within 24 h, indicating that around 90% of the total glucose was consumed. In terms of ethanol titer, it should be noted that the ethanol contents reached approximately 60 g/L in stage 1; this was then diluted to ~49 g/L in stage 2 by adding concentrated glucose medium at 0 h (Figures 5.2a–f). Additional ethanol was then rapidly produced to reach 89 ± 1 g/L (~11%, v/v) at the end of fermentation. High ethanol titer can reduce the costs of downstream processing, such as ethanol recovery or waste water treatment [133]. Elliston *et al.* [16] pointed out that first-generation ethanol fermentation typically reaches above 11% (v/v) to economically recover the ethanol via distillation. In our present study, ~11% (v/v) of ethanol was produced through the two-stage high-cell density SCF system. This finding suggests that a single pulse feed in the second stage is a feasible practice to reach a higher ethanol titer.



Figure 5.2 Glucose, ethanol, and cell dry weight in the harvested cycles 1–6 synthetic fermentation medium (a–f) undergoing stage 2. Symbol "x" shown at 0 h indicates the ethanol content in the initial harvested medium before the single pulse addition. Means are reported for analytical triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation.

5.4.3 Integrated two-stage system

It is important to note that fed-batch operation has been indicated as an effective practice for final product accumulation in many fermentation processes [42]. As demonstrated in Figure 5.3, volumetric ethanol productivity in stage 2 was 60–64% higher than stage 1, showing that the single pulse approach not only elevated the final ethanol titer but also improved the ethanol productivity from the high-cell density SCF system.



Figure 5.3 Volumetric ethanol productivity in the SCF with continuous adapted feeding (stage 1) and the single pulsed feed fermentation (stage 2) in synthetic fermentation medium. Means are reported for analytical triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation.

As SCF can be designed for a long-term production, a reproducible feeding strategy is critical for applying fed-batch approach into the SCF. Intriguingly, pulsing fed-batch operation may not be
favorable in a long-term operation of SCF. In Chapter 3, we reported that, while adapted pulsed feeding strategies could improve ethanol productivity compared to fixed pulsing strategies, yeast flocculation may occur and disrupt cell biomass homogeneity in long-term fermentation processes. Wang *et al.* [11] observed yeast aggregation and flocculation in their SCF system. In our integrated SCF system, yeast flocculation was observed in cycles 5 and 6. Although flocculation occurred, the feed adjustment with the continuous adapted feeding strategy is not hindered by cell aggregation as I rely on evolved gas to monitored glucose consumption rate and ethanol production during fermentation (Chapter 4). As shown in Figures 5.1 and 5.2, with a reproducible measurement of evolved gas, the continuous adapted feeding strategy could effectively support SCF.

Overall, we successfully demonstrated the feasibility of a two-stage high-cell density SCF system, integrating a continuous fed-batch approach into a SCF system, for ethanol fermentation. Table 5.1 highlights the fermentation performance of the high cell density SCF system (stage 1) and single pulse fermentation (stage 2) using a synthetic fermentation medium. Among cycles 2 to 6, ethanol yield fluctuated from 0.427 to 0.437 (w/w). Considering the theoretical maximum ethanol production from glucose (0.511 g-ethanol/g-glucose) [22], the fermentation efficiency of our fermentation system reached approximately 84.5%. Interestingly, volumetric ethanol productivity shown in cycles 2 to 6 was greater than in cycle 1. This finding aligns with the previous report by Wang *et al.* [11], who found that the subsequent SCF cycles generally had higher ethanol productivity than the first cycle. While the fermentation system proposed in the present study is not optimized, it provides proof-of-concept of the integration of different fermentation approaches to improve the overall performance of ethanol fermentation. In the following section, we further investigated the feasibility of applying the two-stage high-cell density SCF system to a lignocellulosic hydrolysate medium.

Cycle	Dhaga	Final ethanol	Ethanol yield	Volumetric ethanol
number	Phase	titer (g/L)	$(w/w)^{\#}$	productivity (g/L/h)
Cycle 1	First stage	58.5 <u>±</u> 0.4	0.431 <u>±</u> 0.005	0.906 <u>±</u> 0.007
	Second stage	89.0 <u>±</u> 0.6	0.476 ± 0.002	$1.42 \pm 0.01*$
	Overall		0.454 ± 0.002	0.968 <u>+</u> 0.006*
Cycle 2–6	First stage	58.3 <u>±</u> 0.6	0.404 ± 0.005	0.960 <u>±</u> 0.002
	Second stage	89 <u>±</u> 1	0.459 <u>+</u> 0.009	1.56 <u>+</u> 0.04*
	Overall		0.432 ± 0.005	1.14 <u>±</u> 0.02*

Table 5.1 Fermentation performance of the high-cell density SCF system (stage 1) with single pulsed feed fermentation (stage 2) in synthetic fermentation medium

#: Ethanol yield (w/w) = (g-produced ethanol/g-consumed glucose).

*: volumetric ethanol productivity is calculated based on the ethanol production for 24 h from the second stage fermentation. Cycle 1: means are reported for analytical triplicates (n=3), with error bars representing standard deviation. Cycle 2–6: means are reported for cycle 2 to 6 (n=5), with error bars representing standard deviation.

5.4.4 Enzymatic hydrolysate from steam-exploded poplar

Table 5.2 shows the sugar composition of the steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate. Glucose was the primary fermentable sugar (31 g/L) in the hydrolysate, with a hydrolysis yield of 27.0%, while xylose was the second most abundant sugar (5.2 g/L), with a hydrolysis yield of 4.0%. Little arabinose, galactose, and mannose were detected in the hydrolysate with relatively low hydrolysis yield, which means they may not significantly contribute to ethanol formation compared to glucose. Furfural and 5-HMF, potential metabolic inhibitors to ethanol fermentation [180], were not detected in the hydrolysate (Table 5.2), making them unlikely to impact fermentation. In terms of fermentable sugars, it should be noted that although xylose was present in the hydrolysate, our fermentative strain, *S. cerevisiae*, is not able to utilize it for ethanol production. Xylose utilization can be further addressed by introducing a pentose-fermenting strain [170], or xylose can be converted to xylitol or other value-added products for the co-production of ethanol in a market-

attractive manner [173, 237]. In the present study, our research objective was to explore the applicability of the two-stage high-cell density SCF system using a lignocellulosic hydrolysate as feedstock. Composition of the lignocellulosic biomass, optimization of enzymatic hydrolysis, and xylose utilization are crucial for future research. In addition to carbohydrates, the minor components in the lignocellulosic biomass become important in the large-scale biorefinery process [227]. For example, protein or nitrogenous contents of the lignocellulosic hydrolysate can lead to cost-savings if they are sufficient as sources of nitrogen to support growth and ethanol production.

Steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate	Concentration, g/L	Hydrolysis yield, %
)8	(g-sugar/g-biomass)
Sugars		
Glucose	31 <u>±</u> 1	27.0 <u>±</u> 0.6
Xylose	5.2 <u>±</u> 0.1	4.0 ± 0.7
Arabinose	0.22 ± 0.03	0.17 ± 0.02
Galactose	0.08 <u>+</u> 0.05	0.06 ± 0.04
Mannose	0.52 ± 0.09	0.43 ± 0.06
Inhibitors		
Furfural	ND	
5-hydroxylmethylfurfural (5-HMF)	ND	

Table 5.2 Sugar composition and inhibitors in the steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate

ND: not detected, the concentration was less than 0.03 g/L.

Means are reported from independent replicates (n=6) with error bars representing standard deviations.

5.4.5 High-cell density SCF system with lignocellulosic fermentation medium (stage 1)

In these experiments, we operated the two-stage system using the steam-exploded wood poplar hydrolysate as fermentation medium to further evaluate the effectiveness of the integrated system on a lignocellulosic feedstock. Figure 5.4 shows the major parameters monitored in the first stage of the high-cell density SCF system using the lignocellulosic fermentation medium. As seen in Figures 5.4 (a–c), the patterns of glucose concentration, ethanol contents, and cell biomass were reproducible for cycles 2 to 6. Following the same operational approach, in each cycle, when the initial glucose was depleted (monitored by evolved gas flow rate), continuous adapted feeding was started to supplement substrate. It is worth noting that there was little residual glucose (< 0.5 g/L) in the fermentation medium even with a gradual increase in glucose addition during the feeding period. These findings suggest that high-cell density SCF could be effectively applied to the lignocellulosic fermentation medium. Interestingly, in terms of cell biomass, approximately 0.3 g/L of cell biomass was produced from the initial glucose consumption in cycles 2, 3, 5, and 6 (~4.5 h after cycling), while cell dry weight reached ~2.1 g/L after implementation of the continuous adapted feeding strategy (Figure 5.4c). This result also aligned with the results obtained with the synthetic medium (Figure 5.1c). Here again, the reduction in SCF cycle times compared to the first cycle was substantial (64% reduction for cycles 2 to 6, Figure 5.4d).

As with the synthetic medium, evolved gas flow rate was used to monitor glucose consumption, manage the continuous adapted feeding, and trigger the cycling process (Figure 5.4e). Wang *et al.* [12] identified that the slope of evolved gas flow rate was an effective parameter to determine the onset of stationary phase of the yeast *S. cerevisiae* growing on wood pulp hydrolysate. As seen in Figure 5.4f, evolved gas production was reproducible in cycles 2 to 6, and the ethanol production in the subsequent cycles remained consistent. This observation suggests that evolved gas production from the lignocellulosic medium.



Figure 5.4 Glucose (a), ethanol (b), cell dry weight (c), cycle time (d), evolved gas flow rate (e), and evolved gas production (f) in lignocellulosic fermentation medium undergoing SCF with continuous adapted feeding (stage 1). Cycle numbers are indicated at the beginning of the cycle. Means are reported from analytical triplicates (n=3) with error bars representing standard deviations.

Evolved gas production from continuous feeding was greater than for the initial glucose utilization, indicating most ethanol was produced in the continuous feeding stage. However, it is worth noting that should the enzymatic hydrolysis of steam-exploded poplar be further optimized, more fermentable sugars could be generated in the hydrolysate, thus improving ethanol production in the system.

As with the synthetic medium, evolved gas flow rate was used to monitor glucose consumption, manage the continuous adapted feeding, and trigger the cycling process (Figure 5.4e). Wang *et al.* [12] identified that the slope of evolved gas flow rate was an effective parameter to determine the onset of stationary phase of the yeast *S. cerevisiae* growing on wood pulp hydrolysate. As seen in Figure 5.4f, evolved gas production was reproducible in cycles 2 to 6, and the ethanol production in the subsequent cycles remained consistent. This observation suggests that evolved gas production is a practical monitoring parameter to estimate ethanol production from the lignocellulosic medium. Evolved gas production from continuous feeding was greater than for the initial glucose utilization, indicating most ethanol was produced in the continuous feeding stage. However, it is worth noting that should the enzymatic hydrolysis of steam-exploded poplar be further optimized, more fermentable sugars could be generated in the hydrolysate, thus improving ethanol production in the system.

5.4.6 Single pulsed feed fermentation with lignocellulosic fermentation medium (stage 2)

Trends in glucose, ethanol, and cell biomass in the lignocellulosic fermentation medium undergoing the single pulse feed stage 2 are summarized in Figure 5.5, where Figures 5.5 (a–f) correspond to the harvested medium from cycles 1 to 6, respectively.



Figure 5.5 Glucose, ethanol, and cell dry weight in the harvested cycles 1–6 lignocellulosic fermentation medium (a–f) undergoing stage 2. Symbol "x" shown at 0 h indicates the ethanol content in the initial harvested medium before the single pulse addition. Means are reported from analytical triplicates (n=3) with error bars representing standard deviations.

Most glucose was consumed within 24 h in each case, and, importantly, the residual glucose was less than 0.3 g/L in Figures 5.5a, d, e, f (pulsed no. 1, 4, 5, 6) at 24 h, indicating the completion of ethanol fermentation. Glucose was utilized faster in the lignocellulosic fermentation medium than in the synthetic fermentation medium of the stage 2 fermentation (Figure 5.2). At 24 h, the ethanol titer reached 91.3 ± 0.8 g/L (~11.6%, v/v) in all single pulse experiments (Figure 5.5). This finding suggests that the integrated two-stage system can successfully be applied to lignocellulosic based medium for high ethanol titer, a crucial indicator for the commercial potential of cellulosic ethanol production [16]. In a report by Chang *et al.* [35], pulsing fed-batch fermentation was used to increase ethanol titer from corncob hydrolysate.



Figure 5.6 Volumetric ethanol productivity in the SCF with continuous adapted feeding (stage 1) and the single pulsed feed fermentation (stage 2) in lignocellulosic fermentation medium. Means are reported from analytical triplicates (n=3) with error bars representing standard deviations.

Figure 5.6 shows volumetric ethanol productivity from the high-cell density SCF system (stage 1) and the subsequent single pulse fermentation (stage 2). In addition to reaching high ethanol titer, the second stage also improved the volumetric ethanol productivity by $66\pm3\%$ in cycles 1 to 6, as compared to stage 1.

This is also supported by Table 5.3, which highlights the final ethanol titer and volumetric ethanol productivity in the lignocellulosic fermentation medium. Volumetric ethanol productivity was 1.03 ± 0.03 g/L/h in cycles 2 to 6 of the stage 1 and was 1.33 ± 0.02 g/L/h in cycles 2 to 6 of the overall system. Table 3 also summarizes the ethanol yield in different phases of the fermentation system, with cycle 1 reaching 0.447 (w/w) and the subsequent cycles 2 to 6 achieved 0.453 (w/w). Considering the theoretical maximum conversion of glucose (0.511 g-ethanol/g-glucose) [22], the fermentation efficiency was approximately 88% in the integrated fermentation system. It should be noted that the concentrated glucose synthetic medium was fed to the stage 2 fermentation in the present study.

Table 5.3 Fermentation performance of the high-cell density SCF system (stage 1) with single pulsed feed fermentation (stage 2) in lignocellulosic fermentation medium

Cycle mumber	Phase	Final ethanol	Ethanol yield	Volumetric ethanol
Cycle number		titer (g/L)	$(w/w)^{\#}$	productivity (g/L/h)
Cycle 1	First stage	60.6 <u>±</u> 0.1	0.430 ± 0.001	0.966 <u>+</u> 0.002
	Second stage	92.1 <u>±</u> 0.4	0.465 ± 0.005	1.64 <u>+</u> 0.01*
_	Overall		0.447 ± 0.003	1.14 <u>±</u> 0.01*
Cycle 2–6	First stage	63 <u>±</u> 1	0.43 <u>±</u> 0.01	1.03 <u>+</u> 0.03
	Second stage	92.3 <u>+</u> 0.6	0.470 ± 0.008	1.72 <u>+</u> 0.02*
	Overall		0.453 <u>±</u> 0.006	1.33 <u>+</u> 0.02*

#: Ethanol yield (w/w) = (g-produced ethanol/g-consumed glucose).

*: volumetric ethanol productivity is calculated based on the ethanol production for 24 h from the second stage fermentation. Cycle 1: means are reported from analytical triplicates (n=3) with error bars representing standard deviations. Cycle 2–6: means are reported from cycle 2 to 6 (n=5) with error bars representing standard deviations.

To further approach the industrial practice for lignocellulosic ethanol production, the feed medium needs to be made economically, possibly utilizing bioresources. Sugar beet molasses, a concentrated sugar by-product from processing sugar beet, has been used for ethanol production [238, 239] and it may serve as a potential feedstock to replace the concentrated glucose synthetic medium in a short-term solution. On the other hand, using concentrated lignocellulosic hydrolysates as the fermentation substrate can be more sustainable for lignocellulosic ethanol production in the long-term perspective. Furthermore, xylose utilization could lead to further optimization and improvement of the economic viability of lignocellulosic ethanol production. Xylose can be metabolized to ethanol for higher titer production by pentose-utilizing microorganisms [170], or it can be converted to other valuable products from the lignocellulosic fermentation medium through a biorefinery platform, such as xylitol [237].

5.5 Conclusions

This study successfully demonstrated a two-stage high-cell density SCF system for lignocellulosic ethanol production, providing a proof-of-concept of the integration of adapted feeding strategies into the SCF system for ethanol fermentation. Moreover, implementing a second stage fermentation promoted the original operational fermentation pathway, ultimately achieving a high ethanol titer (\sim 11%, v/v). The repeatable patterns of fermentation parameters (glucose, ethanol, and evolved gas) support the robustness and reproducibility of the integrated fermentation system. Hence, this study can act as a foundation for developing an advanced fermentation system for lignocellulosic ethanol production, thereby enhancing its feasibility for commercialization.

Chapter 6 Discussion, conclusions, and future perspectives

6.1 Discussion and conclusions

This thesis successfully demonstrates adapted feeding strategies in either pulsing or continuous operational configurations that can manage efficient sugar delivery in fed-batch fermentation of *S. cerevisiae*, thereby enhancing ethanol production. Specifically, pulsed adapted feeding strategies were structured to regulate sugar addition based on cell density, while continuous adapted feeding strategies utilized evolved gas production to control the sugar feed rate. Both adapted feeding pathways improved ethanol productivity, as compared to the fixed feeding modes. These adapted feeding strategies based on yeast metabolism address difficulties in flexible sugar adjustments in fed-batch fermentation, instead of random or fixed feeding delivery. Furthermore, this thesis is the first attempt to integrate adapted fed-batch fermentation into SCF, forming a high-cell density SCF system with robustness for improving ethanol production. The increased ethanol titer and low residual sugar in the integrated SCF also mitigate the risk of growth of contaminants in a long-term process since SCF is a semi-continuous fermentation system. The integrated SCF system was successfully utilized for the fermentation of lignocellulosic feedstock (steam-exploded poplar hydrolysate) and achieved approximately 11% (v/v) ethanol at the end of the process.

In a previous SCF system using low sugar media for bioethanol production, 2-3% (v/v) ethanol contents was achieved by the end of SCF cycles [11, 12]. In comparison, this work integrated fed-batch and SCF operations which further increased ethanol above 11% (v/v). This production level is promising for implementation in the bioethanol industry, where requirements are typically within the 10–14% (v/v) ethanol range. Beyond this concentration, ethanol can contribute significantly to the metabolic inhibition of the yeast growth. Figure 6.1 displays ethanol production during fermentation and highlights regions of the impact of ethanol contents on

metabolic inhibition to the yeast and the economic prospects for recovering ethanol. Ethanol contents up to 3% do not greatly affect metabolism; this was the regime demonstrate in previous studies on ethanol production in SCF [11, 12]. Within the range of 3–10%, ethanol starts to inhibit some metabolic processes of the yeast [220]. This aligns with our observation in Chapter 4 that glucose utilization rate was reduced as ethanol contents reached above 60 g/L during fermentation. At contents above 10%, ethanol stress on the yeast is significant and growth and production both significantly slow down [220]. However, higher ethanol titer is more attractive for the downstream process to purify ethanol in bioethanol industry. The trade-off between fermentation performance and economic recovery is critical when advancing the fermentation system for bioethanol production. The present study has shown that the fermentation strategies used led to high production of ethanol at 11% (v/v) with improved productivity.



Figure 6.1 Effect of ethanol content on metabolic inhibition and economic prospects of ethanol recovery. More numbers of symbols indicate more impacts on either metabolic inhibition or economic prospects for recovering ethanol.

Overall, this thesis suggests opportunities for improving ethanol production through advanced substrate delivery in ethanol fermentation and demonstrates the potential of integrating different fermentation approaches to further strengthen the fermentation performance for lignocellulosic ethanol production. The critical contributions from each specific research study are summarized as follows.

The first research study (Chapter 3) began by investigating the effect of pulsed feeding approaches with sugar additions on ethanol fermentation in 5-L bioreactors. As cell biomass accumulated, the yeast sugar demand increased. Hence, the pulsed adapted feeding strategies were developed to address the increased sugar consumption in pulsing fed-batch fermentation of *S. cerevisiae*. A linear adapted feeding strategy was established based on changes in cell biomass, and an exponential adapted feeding strategy was developed based on cell biomass accumulation. These two pulsed adapted feeding strategies led to higher ethanol productivity (20% greater than for the fixed feeding strategy), in which the sugar addition was equivalent.

Compared to adding a substrate to a high concentration in every pulse, continuous feeding can minimize the residual sugar content during the feeding period, which helps in reducing the risk of substrate inhibition and growth of microbial contaminants in a long-term process. In the second research study (Chapter 4), the exploration of the continuous adapted feeding strategy was based on evolved gas production in ethanol fermentation, which was positively correlated with glucose consumption. This correlation was used to adjust the sugar feed rate in fed-batch fermentation undergoing adapted feeding strategy. The results demonstrated that the sugar delivery managed by the continuous adapted feeding strategy improved ethanol productivity by 21% compared to the fixed feeding mode. Furthermore, the continuous adapted feeding strategy could be applied using a low-nitrogen feed medium (N:C = 0.046:10) and maintained the same ethanol productivity as

when feeding with a nitrogen-rich medium (N:C = 0.95:10). As such, the second study demonstrated the feasibility of sugar adjustment in fed-batch fermentation with continuous feeding pathways for enhancing ethanol productivity, in which the advancement can be attractive to the bioethanol industry to improve their processes without major changes in current infrastructures.

Finally, the third research study (Chapter 5) integrated the continuous adapted feeding strategy into the SCF, forming a high-cell density SCF system in which cell biomass reaches higher concentrations than in a traditional SCF system. The integrated SCF system successfully demonstrates recurring patterns in glucose, ethanol, cell biomass, and evolved gas flow in each cycle, indicating the robust fermentation performance using a lignocellulosic fermentation medium derived from steam-exploded poplar. In addition, a single pulse feed second stage was implemented in the harvested fermentation broth from the integrated SCF, further leading to higher ethanol titer (11%, v/v) and productivity (by $66\pm3\%$) compared to the integrated SCF alone. This two-stage fermentation approach addressed the challenge of managing high concentrations of substrate delivery in the single SCF for high concentration ethanol production. In summary, the findings and implications of this thesis advance the approach of substrate delivery in ethanol fermentation and act as the foundation for integrating various fermentation approaches to promote lignocellulosic ethanol in large-scale production.

6.2 Future perspectives

This thesis points out that advancing fermentation approaches is a potential pathway to enhance ethanol production. However, further studies can be explored to strengthen the current work and to further make lignocellulosic ethanol more economically favorable in the bioethanol industry. Suggested studies are listed below.

(I) Xylose utilization

As reported in Chapter 5, the lignocellulosic hydrolysate, made from steam-exploded poplar via enzymatic hydrolysis, contained xylose. However, the yeast *S. cerevisiae* used in the present thesis could not ferment xylose for ethanol production. Two potential pathways can further address xylose utilization. The first pathway is to introduce pentose-fermenting microorganisms, either using co-cultures [159, 164] or a single strain with both hexose and pentose utilizing ability [160, 166], for converting xylose to ethanol, further enhancing ethanol yield from lignocellulosic feedstocks. The second pathway to utilize xylose involves converting it into other value-added chemicals, such as xylitol, levulinic ester, and furfural, increasing the commercial viability of lignocellulosic biorefinery [237]. In terms of the operational flexibility offered by semi-continuous SCF, these two pathways can be introduced either during or after the SCF, in a second stage approach. Improving xylose utilization can create more opportunities for implementing lignocellulosic ethanol production at an industrial scale.

(II) Bio-based feedstocks for feed medium

The present work used a synthetic feed medium (contained 500 g/L glucose and 6.7 g/L yeast nitrogen based with amino acids) for all fed-batch approaches (Chapters 3–5). Future studies can investigate bio-based feedstocks to prepare the feed medium, which will help to reduce the preparation cost. For example, lignocellulosic hydrolysates could be concentrated with consideration given to inhibitor management, or sugar beet molasses, a concentrated sugar by-product from processing sugar beet, that has been used for ethanol production [238, 239], may serve as a promising bio-based feedstock to replace the current synthetic feed medium.

(III) Removal of ethanol from fermentation broth

As reported in Chapter 4, when ethanol titer reached 60–70 g/L, glucose started to accumulate undergoing with the continuous adapted and/or fixed feeding strategies, in which the yeast might be negatively impacted on glucose utilization. Future work can perform extractive techniques to remove, either in batches or continuously, ethanol from the fermentation broth, thereby mitigating the possible metabolic inhibition caused by accumulated ethanol content. Extractive techniques for removing ethanol include pervaporation, gas stripping, vacuum, solvent extraction, adsorption, and distillation [97]. In the current fermentation configuration, adsorption, or even modern advanced continuous membrane separations, could be options to investigate as they are less likely to have impact on the evolved gas readings during ethanol fermentation when applying the continuous adapted feeding strategy.

(IV) Characteristics of SCF

In this thesis, we have integrated fed-batch approaches into SCF to enhance ethanol production (Chapter 5). To further improve its performance, the characteristics of SCF are worth investigating. For example, cell synchronization is a unique metabolic process that often occurs in SCF [6]. Exploring whether this characteristic benefits ethanol yield and productivity in the integrated SCF system will be interesting. On the other hand, strain drift is critical to evaluate whether the microbial selection is positive or negative in a long-term SCF process.

(V) Large-scale assessment and economic/environmental analysis

Although the present work demonstrates the bench-scale evaluations carried out by 5-L bioreactors for adapted substrate managements in ethanol fermentation (Chapters 3–5), further

scale-up campaigns are still required to better understand the future applicability of the advanced fermentation approaches for lignocellulosic ethanol production at an industrial scale. Assessing economic analysis from the developed bench-scale fermentation system will help infer the possibility of large-scale production. In addition, life cycle assessment (LCA) is another attractive methodology to evaluate the environmental impacts and energy balance of the developed process for lignocellulosic ethanol production, providing further information and insights into the bioethanol industry.

Bibliography

[1] Melendez JR, Mátyás B, Hena S, Lowy DA, El Salous A. Perspectives in the production of bioethanol: A review of sustainable methods, technologies, and bioprocesses. Renew Sustain Energ Rev. 2022;160:112260.

[2] IEA. "Global biofuel demand in transport in the Net Zero Scenario, 2016-2030". 2023. Available from <u>https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/global-biofuel-demand-in-transport-in-the-net-zero-scenario-2016-2030-2</u>. Cited on August 4, 2023. License: CC BY 4.0.

[3] Zabed H, Sahu J, Suely A, Boyce A, Faruq G. Bioethanol production from renewable sources: Current perspectives and technological progress. Renew Sustain Energ Rev. 2017;71:475-501.

[4] Raj T, Chandrasekhar K, Kumar AN, Banu JR, Yoon J-J, Bhatia SK, et al. Recent advances in commercial biorefineries for lignocellulosic ethanol production: Current status, challenges and future perspectives. Bioresour Technol. 2022;344:126292.

[5] Storms ZJ, Brown T, Sauvageau D, Cooper DG. Self-cycling operation increases productivity of recombinant protein in *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2012;109:2262-70.

[6] Brown WA. The self-cycling fermentor: Development, applications, and future opportunities. Rec Res Develop Biotechnol Bioeng. 2001;4:61-90.

[7] Wang J, Chae M, Sauvageau D, Bressler DC. Improving ethanol productivity through selfcycling fermentation of yeast: A proof of concept. Biotechnol Biofuels. 2017;10:193.

[8] Crosman JT, Pinchuk RJ, Cooper DG. Enhanced biosurfactant production by *Corynebacterium alkanolyticum* ATCC 21511 using self-cycling fermentation. J Am Oil Chem Soc. 2002;79:467-72.

[9] Zenaitis MG, Cooper DG. Antibiotic production by *Streptomyces aureofaciens* using self-cycling fermentation. Biotechnol Bioeng. 1994;44:1331-6.

[10] Marchessault P, Sheppard JD. Application of self-cycling fermentation technique to the production of poly- β -hydroxybutyrate. Biotechnol Bioeng. 1997;55:815-20.

[11] Wang J, Chae M, Bressler DC, Sauvageau D. Improved bioethanol productivity through gas flow rate-driven self-cycling fermentation. Biotechnol Biofuels. 2020;13:14.

[12] Wang J, Chae M, Beyene D, Sauvageau D, Bressler DC. Co-production of ethanol and cellulose nanocrystals through self-cycling fermentation of wood pulp hydrolysate. Bioresour Technol. 2021;330:124969.

[13] Galbe M, Sassner P, Wingren A, Zacchi G. Process engineering economics of bioethanol production. In: Scheper T, Olsson L, editors. Biofuels: Springer; 2007. p. 303-27.

[14] Koppram R, Nielsen F, Albers E, Lambert A, Wännström S, Welin L, et al. Simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation for bioethanol production using corncobs at lab, PDU and demo scales. Biotechnol Biofuels. 2013;6:1-10.

[15] Zacchi G, Axelsson A. Economic evaluation of preconcentration in production of ethanol from dilute sugar solutions. Biotechnol Bioeng. 1989;34:223-33.

[16] Elliston A, Collins SR, Wilson DR, Roberts IN, Waldron KW. High concentrations of cellulosic ethanol achieved by fed batch semi simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of waste-paper. Bioresour Technol. 2013;134:117-26.

[17] Duff SJ, Murray WD. Bioconversion of forest products industry waste cellulosics to fuel ethanol: A review. Bioresour Technol. 1996;55:1-33.

[18] Laopaiboon L, Thanonkeo P, Jaisil P, Laopaiboon P. Ethanol production from sweet sorghum juice in batch and fed-batch fermentations by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. World J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2007;23:1497-501.

[19] Unrean P, Nguyen NH. Optimized fed-batch fermentation of *Scheffersomyces stipitis* for efficient production of ethanol from hexoses and pentoses. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 2013;169:1895-909.

[20] Russell I. Chapter 9 - Understanding yeast fundamentals. In: Jacques KA, Lyons TP, Kelsall DR, editors. The Alcohol Textbook: A Reference for the Beverage, Fuel and Industrial Alcohol Industries. 4 ed: Nottingham University Press.; 2003. p. 531-7.

[21] Walker GM, Walker RS. Enhancing yeast alcoholic fermentations. Adv Appl Microbiol. 2018;105:87-129.

[22] Bai F, Anderson W, Moo-Young M. Ethanol fermentation technologies from sugar and starch feedstocks. Biotechnol Adv. 2008;26:89-105.

[23] Favaro L, Jansen T, van Zyl WH. Exploring industrial and natural *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains for the bio-based economy from biomass: the case of bioethanol. Crit Rev Biotechnol. 2019;39:800-16.

[24] Lin Y, Tanaka S. Ethanol fermentation from biomass resources: Current state and prospects. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2006;69:627-42.

[25] Monod J. The growth of bacterial cultures. Annu Rev Microbiol. 1949;3:371-94.

[26] Doran PM. Bioprocess Engineering Principles. London, UK: Academic Press; 1995.

[27] Foss BA, Johansen TA, Sørensen AV. Nonlinear predictive control using local models— Applied to a batch fermentation process. Control Eng Pract. 1995;3:389-96.

[28] Luedeking R, Piret EL. A kinetic study of the lactic acid fermentation. Batch process at controlled pH. Biotechnol Bioeng. 1959;67:636-44.

[29] Cinar A, Parulekar SJ, Undey C, Birol G. Batch fermentation: Modeling: monitoring, and control: CRC Press; 2003.

[30] Boulton C, Quain D. Brewing yeast and fermentation: John Wiley & Sons; 2008.

[31] Jay JM, Loessner MJ, Golden DA. Modern food microbiology: Springer Science & Business Media; 2008.

[32] Tesfaw A, Assefa F. Current trends in bioethanol production by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: Substrate, inhibitor reduction, growth variables, coculture, and immobilization. Int Sch Res Notices. 2014;2014:1-12.

[33] Sjulander N, Kikas T. Origin, impact and control of lignocellulosic inhibitors in bioethanol production—A reviews. Energies. 2020;13:4751.

[34] Larsen J, Haven MØ, Thirup L. Inbicon makes lignocellulosic ethanol a commercial reality. Biomass Bioenergy. 2012;46:36-45.

[35] Chang Y-H, Chang K-S, Huang C-W, Hsu C-L, Jang H-D. Comparison of batch and fed-batch fermentations using corncob hydrolysate for bioethanol production. Fuel. 2012;97:166-73.

[36] Manzanares P, Negro MJ, Oliva JM, Saéz F, Ballesteros I, Ballesteros M, et al. Different process configurations for bioethanol production from pretreated olive pruning biomass. J Chem Technol Biotechnol. 2011;86:881-7.

[37] Triwahyuni E, Sudiyani Y, Abimanyu H. The effect of substrate loading on simultaneous saccharification and fermentation process for bioethanol production from oil palm empty fruit bunches. Energy Procedia. 2015;68:138-46.

[38] Guerrero AB, Ballesteros I, Ballesteros M. The potential of agricultural banana waste for bioethanol production. Fuel. 2018;213:176-85.

[39] Godoy A, Amorim H, Lopes ML, Oliveira A. Continuous and batch fermentation processes: Advantages and disadvantages of these processes in the Brazilian ethanol production. Int Sugar J. 2008;110:175-81.

[40] Lynd LR, Van Zyl WH, McBride JE, Laser M. Consolidated bioprocessing of cellulosic biomass: An update. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2005;16:577-83.

[41] Zabed H, Faruq G, Sahu JN, Azirun MS, Hashim R, Nasrulhaq Boyce A. Bioethanol production from fermentable sugar juice. Sci World J. 2014;2014:1-12.

[42] Lim HC, Shin HS. Fed-batch cultures: Principles and applications of semi-batch bioreactors: Cambridge University Press; 2013.

[43] Donnelly D, Blanchard L, Dabros M, O'Hara S, Brabazon D, Foley G, et al. Fed-batch system for propagation of brewer's yeast. J Am Soc Brew Chem. 2021:1-11.

[44] Gancedo C, Gancedo J, Sols A. Glycerol metabolism in yeasts: Pathways of utilization and production. Eur J Biochem. 1968;5:165-72.

[45] Alfenore S, Molina-Jouve C, Guillouet S, Uribelarrea J-L, Goma G, Benbadis L. Improving ethanol production and viability of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by a vitamin feeding strategy during fed-batch process. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2002;60:67-72.

[46] Bhargava S, Nandakumar M, Roy A, Wenger KS, Marten MR. Pulsed feeding during fedbatch fungal fermentation leads to reduced viscosity without detrimentally affecting protein expression. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2003;81:341-7.

[47] Balat M. Production of bioethanol from lignocellulosic materials via the biochemical pathway: A review. Energ Convers Manage. 2011;52:858-75.

[48] Phukoetphim N, Salakkam A, Laopaiboon P, Laopaiboon L. Improvement of ethanol production from sweet sorghum juice under batch and fed-batch fermentations: Effects of sugar levels, nitrogen supplementation, and feeding regimes. Electron J Biotechnol. 2017;26:84-92.

[49] Karapatsia A, Penloglou G, Chatzidoukas C, Kiparissides C. Fed-batch *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* fermentation of hydrolysate sugars: A dynamic model-based approach for high yield ethanol production. Biomass Bioenergy. 2016;90:32-41.

[50] Sonego J, Lemos D, Cruz A, Badino A. Optimization of fed-batch fermentation with in situ ethanol removal by CO2 stripping. Energ Fuel. 2018;32:954-60.

[51] López-Linares JC, Romero I, Cara C, Ruiz E, Moya M, Castro E. Bioethanol production from rapeseed straw at high solids loading with different process configurations. Fuel. 2014;122:112-8.
[52] Olofsson K, Bertilsson M, Lidén G. A short review on SSF–an interesting process option for ethanol production from lignocellulosic feedstocks. Biotechnol Biofuels. 2008;1:7.

[53] Koppram R, Olsson L. Combined substrate, enzyme and yeast feed in simultaneous saccharification and fermentation allow bioethanol production from pretreated spruce biomass at high solids loadings. Biotechnol Biofuels. 2014;7:1-9.

[54] Mithra M, Jeeva M, Sajeev M, Padmaja G. Comparison of ethanol yield from pretreated lignocellulo-starch biomass under fed-batch SHF or SSF modes. Heliyon. 2018;4:e00885.

[55] Chisti Y. Fermentation (Industrial)-Basic considerations. In: Carl A. Batt, Tortorello ML, editors. Encyclopedia of Food Microbiology. 2 ed: Academic Press; 2014. p. 751-61.

[56] Nilsson A, Taherzadeh M, Lidén G. On-line estimation of sugar concentration for control of fed-batch fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolyzates by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng. 2002;25:183-91.

[57] Caylak B, Sukan FV. Comparison of different production processes for bioethanol. Turk J Chem. 1998;22:351-60.

[58] Dunham MJ. Chapter 19-Experimental evolution in yeast: A practical guide. Methods Enzymol: Elsevier; 2010. p. 487-507.

[59] Ghorbani F, Younesi H, Sari AE, Najafpour G. Cane molasses fermentation for continuous ethanol production in an immobilized cells reactor by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Renew Energy. 2011;36:503-9.

[60] Ch AK, Chan E, Rudravaram R, Narasu ML, Rao LV, Ravindra P. Economics and environmental impact of bioethanol production technologies: An appraisal. Biotechnol Mol Biol Rev. 2007;2:14-32.

[61] Ahn DJ, Kim SK, Yun HS. Optimization of pretreatment and saccharification for the production of bioethanol from water hyacinth by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng. 2012;35:35-41.

[62] Yu J, Zhang X, Tan T. An novel immobilization method of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* to sorghum bagasse for ethanol production. J Biotechnol. 2007;129:415-20.

[63] Mathew AK, Crook M, Chaney K, Humphries AC. Continuous bioethanol production from oilseed rape straw hydrosylate using immobilised *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cells. Bioresour Technol. 2014;154:248-53.

[64] Jain A, Chaurasia SP. Bioethanol production in membrane bioreactor (MBR) system: A review. Int J Environ Res Dev. 2014;4:387-94.

[65] Sanchez OJ, Cardona CA. Trends in biotechnological production of fuel ethanol from different feedstocks. Bioresour Technol. 2008;99:5270-95.

[66] Ingledew WM. Continuous fermentation in the fuel alcohol industry: How does the technology affect yeast. In: Jacques KA, Lyons TP, Kelsall DR, editors. The Alcohol Textbook: A Reference for the Beverage, Fuel and Industrial Alcohol Industries. 4 ed. Nottingham, UK: Nottingham University Press; 2003. p. 135-43.

[67] Wang F-S, Li C-C, Lin Y-S, Lee W-C. Enhanced ethanol production by continuous fermentation in a two-tank system with cell recycling. Process Biochem. 2013;48:1425-8.

[68] Kourkoutas Y, Bekatorou A, Banat IM, Marchant R, Koutinas A. Immobilization technologies and support materials suitable in alcohol beverages production: A review. Food Microbiol. 2004;21:377-97.

[69] Palmqvist E, Galbe M, Hahn-Hägerdal B. Evaluation of cell recycling in continuous fermentation of enzymatic hydrolysates of spruce with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and on-line monitoring of glucose and ethanol. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 1998;50:545-51.

[70] Moon S-K, Kim SW, Choi G-W. Simultaneous saccharification and continuous fermentation of sludge-containing mash for bioethanol production by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* CHFY0321. J Biotechnol. 2012;157:584-9.

[71] Bayrock D, Michael Ingledew W. Application of multistage continuous fermentation for production of fuel alcohol by very-high-gravity fermentation technology. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol. 2001;27:87-93.

[72] Brown S, Oliver S. Isolation of ethanol-tolerant mutants of yeast by continuous selection. European journal of Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 1982;16:119-22.

[73] Basso LC, De Amorim HV, De Oliveira AJ, Lopes ML. Yeast selection for fuel ethanol production in Brazil. FEMS Yeast Res. 2008;8:1155-63.

[74] Ciesielski A, Grzywacz R. Process maps with metabolic constraints for bioethanol production by continuous fermentation. Chemical Engineering Science. 2021;229:116134.

[75] Sanda T, Hasunuma T, Matsuda F, Kondo A. Repeated-batch fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolysate to ethanol using a hybrid *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain metabolically engineered for tolerance to acetic and formic acids. Bioresour Technol. 2011;102:7917-24.

[76] Azhar SHM, Abdulla R, Jambo SA, Marbawi H, Gansau JA, Faik AAM, et al. Yeasts in sustainable bioethanol production: A review. Biochem Biophys Rep. 2017;10:52-61.

[77] Sriputorn B, Laopaiboon P, Phukoetphim N, Polsokchuak N, Butkun K, Laopaiboon L. Enhancement of ethanol production efficiency in repeated-batch fermentation from sweet sorghum stem juice: Effect of initial sugar, nitrogen and aeration. Electron J Biotechnol. 2020;46:55-64.

[78] Choi G-W, Kang H-W, Moon S-K. Repeated-batch fermentation using flocculent hybrid, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* CHFY0321 for efficient production of bioethanol. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2009;84:261-9.

[79] Fan C, Qi K, Xia X-X, Zhong J-J. Efficient ethanol production from corncob residues by repeated fermentation of an adapted yeast. Bioresour Technol. 2013;136:309-15.

[80] Slininger PJ, Thompson SR, Weber S, Liu ZL, Moon J. Repression of xylose-specific enzymes by ethanol in *Scheffersomyces (Pichia) stipitis* and utility of repitching xylose-grown populations to eliminate diauxic lag. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2011;108:1801-15.

[81] Hemansi, Himanshi, Patel AK, Saini JK, Singhania RR. Development of multiple inhibitor tolerant yeast via adaptive laboratory evolution for sustainable bioethanol production. Bioresour Technol. 2022;344:126247.

[82] Landaeta R, Aroca G, Acevedo F, Teixeira JA, Mussatto SI. Adaptation of a flocculent *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain to lignocellulosic inhibitors by cell recycle batch fermentation. Appl Energ. 2013;102:124-30.

[83] Dasgupta D, Ghosh D, Bandhu S, Adhikari DK. Lignocellulosic sugar management for xylitol and ethanol fermentation with multiple cell recycling by *Kluyveromyces marxianus* IIPE453. Microbiol Res. 2017;200:64-72.

[84] Mishra A, Sharma AK, Sharma S, Bagai R, Mathur AS, Gupta RP, et al. Lignocellulosic ethanol production employing immobilized *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in packed bed reactor. Renew Energy. 2016;98:57-63.

[85] Khanpanuek S, Lunprom S, Reungsang A, Salakkam A. Repeated-batch simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of cassava pulp for ethanol production using amylases and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* immobilized on bacterial cellulose. Biochem Eng J. 2022;177:108258.

[86] Farias D, Maugeri-Filho F. Sequential fed batch extractive fermentation for enhanced bioethanol production using recycled *Spathaspora passalidarum* and mixed sugar composition. Fuel. 2021;288:119673.

[87] Kumar RS, Singh P, Ghosh S. Sequential fermentation for enhanced volumetric productivity of bioethanol from mixed sugars. Fuel. 2022;308:121984.

[88] Song Y, Cho EJ, Park CS, Oh CH, Park B-J, Bae H-J. A strategy for sequential fermentation by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Pichia stipitis* in bioethanol production from hardwoods. Renew Energy. 2019;139:1281-9.

[89] Li Y, Park J-y, Shiroma R, Tokuyasu K. Bioethanol production from rice straw by a sequential use of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Pichia stipitis* with heat inactivation of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cells prior to xylose fermentation. J Biosci Bioeng. 2011;111:682-6.

[90] Singh LK, Majumder CB, Ghosh S. Development of sequential-co-culture system (*Pichia stipitis* and *Zymomonas mobilis*) for bioethanol production from Kans grass biomass. Biochem Eng J. 2014;82:150-7.

[91] Cheng K-K, Wu J, Lin Z-N, Zhang J-A. Aerobic and sequential anaerobic fermentation to produce xylitol and ethanol using non-detoxified acid pretreated corncob. Biotechnol Biofuels. 2014;7:1-9.

[92] Sheppard JD, Dawson PS. Cell synchrony and periodic behaviour in yeast populations. The Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering. 1999;77:893-902.

[93] Sauvageau D, Storms Z, Cooper DG. Synchronized populations of *Escherichia coli* using simplified self-cycling fermentation. J Biotechnol. 2010;149:67-73.

[94] Tan Y, Agustin RVC, Stein LY, Sauvageau D. Transcriptomic analysis of synchrony and productivity in self-cycling fermentation of engineered yeast producing shikimic acid. Biotechnol Rep. 2021;32:e00691.

[95] Feng S, Srinivasan S, Lin Y-H. Redox potential-driven repeated batch ethanol fermentation under very-high-gravity conditions. Process Biochem. 2012;47:523-7.

[96] Maiorella B, Blanch HW, Wilke CR. By-product inhibition effects on ethanolic fermentation by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biotechnol Bioeng. 1983;25:103-21.

[97] Zentou H, Abidin ZZ, Yunus R, Awang Biak DR, Korelskiy D. Overview of alternative ethanol removal techniques for enhancing bioethanol recovery from fermentation broth. Processes. 2019;7:458.

[98] Ponce GHSF, Neto JM, De Jesus SS, de Carvalho Miranda JC, Maciel Filho R, de Andrade RR, et al. Sugarcane molasses fermentation with in situ gas stripping using low and moderate sugar concentrations for ethanol production: Experimental data and modeling. Biochem Eng J. 2016;110:152-61.

[99] Sonego J, Lemos D, Pinto C, Cruz A, Badino A. Extractive fed-batch ethanol fermentation with CO₂ stripping in a bubble column bioreactor: Experiment and modeling. Energ Fuel. 2016;30:748-57.

[100] Rodrigues KC, Sonego JL, Cruz AJ, Bernardo A, Badino AC. Modeling and simulation of continuous extractive fermentation with CO₂ stripping for bioethanol production. Chemical Engineering Research and Design. 2018;132:77-88.

[101] Kongkaew A, Tönjes J, Siemer M, Boontawan P, Rarey J, Boontawan A. Extractive fermentation of ethanol from sweet sorghum using vacuum fractionation technique: Optimization and techno-economic assessment. Int J Chem React Eng. 2018;16.

[102] Zhang K, Agrawal M, Harper J, Chen R, Koros WJ. Removal of the fermentation inhibitor, furfural, using activated carbon in cellulosic-ethanol production. Ind Eng Chem Res. 2011;50:14055-60.

[103] Ranjan R, Thust S, Gounaris CE, Woo M, Floudas CA, von Keitz M, et al. Adsorption of fermentation inhibitors from lignocellulosic biomass hydrolyzates for improved ethanol yield and value-added product recovery. Microporous and Mesoporous Materials. 2009;122:143-8.

[104] Hemansi, Saini JK. Enhanced cellulosic ethanol production via fed-batch simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of sequential dilute acid-alkali pretreated sugarcane bagasse. Bioresour Technol. 2023;372:128671.

[105] Chang Y-H, Chang K-S, Chen C-Y, Hsu C-L, Chang T-C, Jang H-D. Enhancement of the efficiency of bioethanol production by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* via gradually batch-wise and fedbatch increasing the glucose concentration. Fermentation. 2018;4:45.

[106] Sharma K. Chapter 6-Automation Strategies. In: Sharma K, editor. Overview of Industrial Process Automation: Elsevier; 2016. p. 53-62.

[107] Hjersted JL, Henson MA. Optimization of fed-batch *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* fermentation using dynamic flux balance models. Biotechnol Prog. 2006;22:1239-48.

[108] Lee J, Lee SY, Park S, Middelberg AP. Control of fed-batch fermentations. Biotechnol Adv. 1999;17:29-48.

[109] Chang L, Liu X, Henson MA. Nonlinear model predictive control of fed-batch fermentations using dynamic flux balance models. Journal of Process Control. 2016;42:137-49.

[110] Feng Y, Tian X, Chen Y, Wang Z, Xia J, Qian J, et al. Real-time and on-line monitoring of ethanol fermentation process by viable cell sensor and electronic nose. Bioresour Bioprocess. 2021;8:1-10.

[111] Veale EL, Irudayaraj J, Demirci A. An on-line approach to monitor ethanol fermentation using FTIR spectroscopy. Biotechnol Prog. 2007;23:494-500.

[112] Dos Santos CAT, Páscoa RN, Porto PA, Cerdeira AL, González-Sáiz J, Pizarro C, et al. Raman spectroscopy for wine analyses: A comparison with near and mid infrared spectroscopy. Talanta. 2018;186:306-14.

[113] Hirsch E, Pataki H, Domján J, Farkas A, Vass P, Fehér C, et al. Inline noninvasive Raman monitoring and feedback control of glucose concentration during ethanol fermentation. Biotechnol Prog. 2019;35:e2848.

[114] Wang Q, Li Z, Ma Z, Liang L. Real time monitoring of multiple components in wine fermentation using an on-line auto-calibration Raman spectroscopy. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical. 2014;202:426-32.

[115] Shaw AD, Kaderbhai N, Jones A, Woodward AM, Goodacre R, Rowland JJ, et al. Noninvasive, on-line monitoring of the biotransformation by yeast of glucose to ethanol using dispersive Raman spectroscopy and chemometrics. Appl Spectrosc. 1999;53:1419-28.

[116] Schalk R, Braun F, Frank R, Rädle M, Gretz N, Methner F-J, et al. Non-contact Raman spectroscopy for in-line monitoring of glucose and ethanol during yeast fermentations. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng. 2017;40:1519-27.

[117] Mears L, Stocks SM, Sin G, Gernaey KV. A review of control strategies for manipulating the feed rate in fed-batch fermentation processes. J Biotechnol. 2017;245:34-46.

[118] Flevaris K, Chatzidoukas C. Optimal fed-batch bioreactor operating strategies for the microbial production of lignocellulosic bioethanol and exploration of their economic implications: A step forward towards sustainability and commercialization. J Clean Prod. 2021;295:126384.

[119] Dai W, Word DP, Hahn J. Modeling and dynamic optimization of fuel-grade ethanol fermentation using fed-batch process. Control Eng Pract. 2014;22:231-41.

[120] Veloso II, Rodrigues KC, Sonego JL, Cruz AJ, Badino AC. Fed-batch ethanol fermentation at low temperature as a way to obtain highly concentrated alcoholic wines: Modeling and optimization. Biochem Eng J. 2019;141:60-70.

[121] Hunag W-H, Shieh GS, Wang F-S. Optimization of fed-batch fermentation using mixture of sugars to produce ethanol. Journal of the Taiwan Institute of Chemical Engineers. 2012;43:1-8.

[122] Wu B, Wang Y-W, Dai Y-H, Song C, Zhu Q-L, Qin H, et al. Current status and future prospective of bio-ethanol industry in China. Renew Sustain Energ Rev. 2021;145:111079.

[123] Dos Santos LV, de Barros Grassi MC, Gallardo JCM, Pirolla RAS, Calderón LL, de Carvalho-Netto OV, et al. Second-generation ethanol: The need is becoming a reality. Ind Biotechnol. 2016;12:40-57.

[124] Soccol CR, Faraco V, Karp SG, Vandenberghe LP, Thomaz-Soccol V, Woiciechowski AL, et al. Chapter 14 - Lignocellulosic bioethanol: Current status and future perspectives. In: Pandey A, Larroche C, Dussap C, Gnansounou E, Khanal SK, Ricke S, editors. Biofuels: Alternative

Feedstocks and Conversion Processes for the Production of Liquid and Gaseous Biofuels: Academic Press; Elsevier; 2019. p. 331-54.

[125] Alvira P, Tomás-Pejó E, Ballesteros M, Negro MJ. Pretreatment technologies for an efficient bioethanol production process based on enzymatic hydrolysis: A review. Bioresour Technol. 2010;101:4851-61.

[126] Vasić K, Knez Ž, Leitgeb M. Bioethanol production by enzymatic hydrolysis from different lignocellulosic sources. Molecules. 2021;26:753.

[127] Das N, Jena PK, Padhi D, Kumar Mohanty M, Sahoo G. A comprehensive review of characterization, pretreatment and its applications on different lignocellulosic biomass for bioethanol production. Biomass Convers Biorefinery. 2021:1-25.

[128] Sarkar N, Ghosh SK, Bannerjee S, Aikat K. Bioethanol production from agricultural wastes: An overview. Renew Energy. 2012;37:19-27.

[129] Aditiya H, Mahlia T, Chong W, Nur H, Sebayang A. Second generation bioethanol production: A critical review. Renew Sustain Energ Rev. 2016;66:631-53.

[130] Toor M, Kumar SS, Malyan SK, Bishnoi NR, Mathimani T, Rajendran K, et al. An overview on bioethanol production from lignocellulosic feedstocks. Chemosphere. 2020;242:125080.

[131] Su T, Zhao D, Khodadadi M, Len C. Lignocellulosic biomass for bioethanol: Recent advances, technology trends, and barriers to industrial development. Current Opinion in Green and Sustainable Chemistry. 2020;24:56-60.

[132] Dahnum D, Tasum SO, Triwahyuni E, Nurdin M, Abimanyu H. Comparison of SHF and SSF processes using enzyme and dry yeast for optimization of bioethanol production from empty fruit bunch. Energy Procedia. 2015;68:107-16.

[133] Viikari L, Vehmaanperä J, Koivula A. Lignocellulosic ethanol: From science to industry. Biomass Bioenergy. 2012;46:13-24.

[134] Sassner P, Galbe M, Zacchi G. Bioethanol production based on simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of steam-pretreated *Salix* at high dry-matter content. Enzyme Microb Technol. 2006;39:756-62.

[135] Cubas-Cano E, López-Gómez JP, González-Fernández C, Ballesteros I, Tomás-Pejó E. Towards sequential bioethanol and L-lactic acid co-generation: Improving xylose conversion to L-lactic acid in presence of lignocellulosic ethanol with an evolved *Bacillus coagulans*. Renew Energy. 2020;153:759-65.

[136] Vásquez MP, Silva JNCd, Souza MBd, Pereira N. Enzymatic hydrolysis optimization to ethanol production by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation. Applied Biochemistry and Biotecnology: Springer; 2007. p. 141-53.

[137] Oberoi HS, Vadlani PV, Saida L, Bansal S, Hughes JD. Ethanol production from banana peels using statistically optimized simultaneous saccharification and fermentation process. Waste Manage. 2011;31:1576-84.

[138] Vargas F, Domínguez E, Vila C, Rodríguez A, Garrote G. Agricultural residue valorization using a hydrothermal process for second generation bioethanol and oligosaccharides production. Bioresour Technol. 2015;191:263-70.

[139] Siriwong T, Laimeheriwa B, Aini UN, Cahyanto MN, Reungsang A, Salakkam A. Cold hydrolysis of cassava pulp and its use in simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) process for ethanol fermentation. J Biotechnol. 2019;292:57-63.

[140] da Costa Nogueira C, de Araújo Padilha CE, de Jesus AA, de Santana Souza DF, de Assis CF, de Sousa Junior FC, et al. Pressurized pretreatment and simultaneous saccharification and fermentation with in situ detoxification to increase bioethanol production from green coconut fibers. Ind Crop Prod. 2019;130:259-66.

[141] Akhtar N, Goyal D, Goyal A. Characterization of microwave-alkali-acid pre-treated rice straw for optimization of ethanol production via simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF). Energ Convers Manage. 2017;141:133-44.

[142] Gao Y, Xu J, Yuan Z, Jiang J, Zhang Z, Li C. Ethanol production from sugarcane bagasse by fed-batch simultaneous saccharification and fermentation at high solids loading. Energy Sci Eng. 2018;6:810-8.

[143] Mazaheri D, Orooji Y, Mazaheri M, Moghaddam MS, Karimi-Maleh H. Bioethanol production from pomegranate peel by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation process. Biomass Convers Biorefinery. 2021:1-9.

[144] Chohan NA, Aruwajoye G, Sewsynker-Sukai Y, Kana EG. Valorisation of potato peel wastes for bioethanol production using simultaneous saccharification and fermentation: Process optimization and kinetic assessment. Renew Energy. 2020;146:1031-40.

[145] Zhang T, Zhu M-J. Enhanced bioethanol production by fed-batch simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation at high solid loading of Fenton reaction and sodium hydroxide sequentially pretreated sugarcane bagasse. Bioresour Technol. 2017;229:204-10.

[146] Li X, Lu J, Zhao J, Qu Y. Characteristics of corn stover pretreated with liquid hot water and fed-batch semi-simultaneous saccharification and fermentation for bioethanol production. PLoS ONE. 2014;9:e95455.

[147] Roberto IC, Castro RC, Silva JPA, Mussatto SI. Ethanol production from high solid loading of rice straw by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation in a non-conventional reactor. Energies. 2020;13:2090.

[148] Olofsson K, Rudolf A, Lidén G. Designing simultaneous saccharification and fermentation for improved xylose conversion by a recombinant strain of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Biotechnol. 2008;134:112-20.

[149] Jin X, Ma J, Song J, Liu G-Q. Promoted bioethanol production through fed-batch semisimultaneous saccharification and fermentation at a high biomass load of sodium carbonate-pretreated rice straw. Energy. 2021;226:120353.

[150] Li W-C, Li X, Zhu J-Q, Qin L, Li B-Z, Yuan Y-J. Improving xylose utilization and ethanol production from dry dilute acid pretreated corn stover by two-step and fed-batch fermentation. Energy. 2018;157:877-85.

[151] Qiu J, Tian D, Shen F, Hu J, Zeng Y, Yang G, et al. Bioethanol production from wheat straw by phosphoric acid plus hydrogen peroxide (PHP) pretreatment via simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) at high solid loadings. Bioresour Technol. 2018;268:355-62.

[152] Zhang J, Chu D, Huang J, Yu Z, Dai G, Bao J. Simultaneous saccharification and ethanol fermentation at high corn stover solids loading in a helical stirring bioreactor. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2010;105:718-28.

[153] Paulová L, Patáková P, Rychtera M, Melzoch K. High solid fed-batch SSF with delayed inoculation for improved production of bioethanol from wheat straw. Fuel. 2014;122:294-300.

[154] Watanabe I, Miyata N, Ando A, Shiroma R, Tokuyasu K, Nakamura T. Ethanol production by repeated-batch simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) of alkali-treated rice straw using immobilized *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cells. Bioresour Technol. 2012;123:695-8.

[155] Yuvadetkun P, Reungsang A, Boonmee M. Comparison between free cells and immobilized cells of *Candida shehatae* in ethanol production from rice straw hydrolysate using repeated batch cultivation. Renew Energy. 2018;115:634-40.

[156] Kumar P, Barrett DM, Delwiche MJ, Stroeve P. Methods for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for efficient hydrolysis and biofuel production. Ind Eng Chem Res. 2009;48:3713-29.

[157] Zaldivar J, Nielsen J, Olsson L. Fuel ethanol production from lignocellulose: A challenge for metabolic engineering and process integration. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2001;56:17-34.

[158] Dalena F, Senatore A, Iulianelli A, Di Paola L, Basile M, Basile A. Ethanol from biomass:Future and perspectives. Ethanol: Elsevier; 2019. p. 25-59.

[159] Demiray E, Açıkel E, Ertuğrul Karatay S, Dönmez G. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and newly isolated *Candida boidinii* co-fermentation of industrial tea waste for improved bioethanol production. Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects. 2022;44:1160-72.

[160] Rojas-Chamorro J, Romero-García J, Cara C, Romero I, Castro E. Improved ethanol production from the slurry of pretreated brewers' spent grain through different co-fermentation strategies. Bioresour Technol. 2020;296:122367.

[161] Sharma S, Swain MR, Mishra A, Mathur AS, Gupta RP, Puri SK, et al. High solid loading and multiple-fed simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation (mf-SSCF) of rice straw for high titer ethanol production at low cost. Renew Energy. 2021;179:1915-24.

[162] Du C, Li Y, Zhao X, Pei X, Yuan W, Bai F, et al. The production of ethanol from lignocellulosic biomass by *Kluyveromyces marxianus* CICC 1727-5 and *Spathaspora passalidarum* ATCC MYA-4345. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2019;103:2845-55.

[163] Zhu J-Q, Zong Q-J, Li W-C, Chai M-Z, Xu T, Liu H, et al. Temperature profiled simultaneous saccharification and co-fermentation of corn stover increases ethanol production at high solid loading. Energ Convers Manage. 2020;205:112344.

[164] Santosh I, Ashtavinayak P, Amol D, Sanjay P. Enhanced bioethanol production from different sugarcane bagasse cultivars using co-culture of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Scheffersomyces* (*Pichia*) *stipitis*. Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering. 2017;5:2861-8.

[165] Hoang Nguyen Tran P, Ko JK, Gong G, Um Y, Lee S-M. Improved simultaneous cofermentation of glucose and xylose by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for efficient lignocellulosic biorefinery. Biotechnol Biofuels. 2020;13:1-14.

[166] Sedlak M, Ho NW. Production of ethanol from cellulosic biomass hydrolysates using genetically engineered *Saccharomyces* yeast capable of cofermenting glucose and xylose. Proceedings of the Twenty-Fifth Symposium on Biotechnology for Fuels and Chemicals Held May 4–7, 2003, in Breckenridge, CO: Springer; 2004. p. 403-16.

[167] Novy V, Longus K, Nidetzky B. From wheat straw to bioethanol: Integrative analysis of a separate hydrolysis and co-fermentation process with implemented enzyme production. Biotechnol Biofuels. 2015;8:1-12.

[168] Dien B, Cotta M, Jeffries T. Bacteria engineered for fuel ethanol production: Current status. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2003;63:258-66.

[169] Jeffries T, Jin Y-S. Metabolic engineering for improved fermentation of pentoses by yeasts. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2004;63:495-509.

[170] Kuhad RC, Gupta R, Khasa YP, Singh A, Zhang Y-HP. Bioethanol production from pentose sugars: Current status and future prospects. Renew Sustain Energ Rev. 2011;15:4950-62.

[171] Duque A, Álvarez C, Doménech P, Manzanares P, Moreno AD. Advanced bioethanol production: From novel raw materials to integrated biorefineries. Processes. 2021;9:206.

[172] Queiroz SS, Jofre FM, Mussatto SI, Maria das Graças AF. Scaling up xylitol bioproduction: Challenges to achieve a profitable bioprocess. Renew Sustain Energ Rev. 2022;154:111789. [173] Suhartini S, Rohma NA, Mardawati E, Hidayat N, Melville L. Biorefining of oil palm empty fruit bunches for bioethanol and xylitol production in Indonesia: A review. Renew Sustain Energ Rev. 2022;154:111817.

[174] Helanto M, Kiviharju K, Granström T, Leisola M, Nyyssölä A. Biotechnological production of L-ribose from L-arabinose. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2009;83:77-83.

[175] Jönsson LJ, Alriksson B, Nilvebrant N-O. Bioconversion of lignocellulose: Inhibitors and detoxification. Biotechnol Biofuels. 2013;6:1-10.

[176] Keating JD, Panganiban C, Mansfield SD. Tolerance and adaptation of ethanologenic yeasts to lignocellulosic inhibitory compounds. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2006;93:1196-206.

[177] Cara C, Ruiz E, Ballesteros M, Manzanares P, Negro MJ, Castro E. Production of fuel ethanol from steam-explosion pretreated olive tree pruning. Fuel. 2008;87:692-700.

[178] Larsson S, Palmqvist E, Hahn-Hägerdal B, Tengborg C, Stenberg K, Zacchi G, et al. The generation of fermentation inhibitors during dilute acid hydrolysis of softwood. Enzyme Microb Technol. 1999;24:151-9.

[179] Kim D. Physico-chemical conversion of lignocellulose: Inhibitor effects and detoxification strategies: A mini review. Molecules. 2018;23:309.

[180] Palmqvist E, Hahn-Hägerdal B. Fermentation of lignocellulosic hydrolysates. I: inhibition and detoxification. Bioresour Technol. 2000;74:17-24.

[181] da Costa Nogueira C, de Araújo Padilha CE, de Medeiros Dantas JM, de Medeiros FGM, de Araújo Guilherme A, de Santana Souza DF, et al. In-situ detoxification strategies to boost bioalcohol production from lignocellulosic biomass. Renew Energy. 2021;180:914-36.

[182] Hou J, Ding C, Qiu Z, Zhang Q, Xiang W-N. Inhibition efficiency evaluation of lignocellulose-derived compounds for bioethanol production. J Clean Prod. 2017;165:1107-14.

[183] Guo H, Zhao Y, Chang J-S, Lee D-J. Inhibitor formation and detoxification during lignocellulose biorefinery: A review. Bioresour Technol. 2022:127666.

[184] Larsson S, Reimann A, Nilvebrant N-O, Jönsson LJ. Comparison of different methods for the detoxification of lignocellulose hydrolyzates of spruce. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 1999;77:91-103.

[185] Casey E, Sedlak M, Ho NW, Mosier NS. Effect of acetic acid and pH on the cofermentation of glucose and xylose to ethanol by a genetically engineered strain of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. FEMS Yeast Res. 2010;10:385-93.

[186] Wang S, Sun X, Yuan Q. Strategies for enhancing microbial tolerance to inhibitors for biofuel production: A review. Bioresour Technol. 2018;258:302-9.

[187] Palakawong Na Ayutthaya P, Charoenrat T, Krusong W, Pornpukdeewattana S. Repeated cultures of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* SC90 to tolerate inhibitors generated during cassava processing waste hydrolysis for bioethanol production. 3 Biotech. 2019;9:1-13.

[188] Westman JO, Mapelli V, Taherzadeh MJ, Franzén CJ. Flocculation causes inhibitor tolerance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for second-generation bioethanol production. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2014;80:6908-18.

[189] Liu K, Lin X, Yue J, Li X, Fang X, Zhu M, et al. High concentration ethanol production from corncob residues by fed-batch strategy. Bioresour Technol. 2010;101:4952-8.

[190] Kang KE, Chung D-P, Kim Y, Chung B-W, Choi G-W. High-titer ethanol production from simultaneous saccharification and fermentation using a continuous feeding system. Fuel. 2015;145:18-24.

[191] Jiang H-L, He Q, He Z, Hemme CL, Wu L, Zhou J. Continuous cellulosic bioethanol fermentation by cyclic fed-batch cocultivation. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2013;79:1580-9.

[192] Banu JR, Kavitha S, Tyagi VK, Gunasekaran M, Karthikeyan OP, Kumar G. Lignocellulosic biomass based biorefinery: A successful platform towards circular bioeconomy. Fuel. 2021;302:121086.

[193] Qiao J, Cui H, Wang M, Fu X, Wang X, Li X, et al. Integrated biorefinery approaches for the industrialization of cellulosic ethanol fuel. Bioresour Technol. 2022;360:127516.

[194] Singh N, Singhania RR, Nigam PS, Dong C-D, Patel AK, Puri M. Global status of lignocellulosic biorefinery: Challenges and perspectives. Bioresour Technol. 2022;344:126415.

[195] Unrean P, Ketsub N. Integrated lignocellulosic bioprocess for co-production of ethanol and xylitol from sugarcane bagasse. Ind Crop Prod. 2018;123:238-46.

[196] Jain V, Awasthi A, Santhagunam A, Ghosh S. Sequential fermentation with in situ distillation for bioethanol and xylitol production from mixed sugars: A novel approach for lignocellulosic material-based biorefineries. Biomass Convers Biorefinery. 2023:1-9.

[197] Dias MO, Junqueira TL, Rossell CEV, Maciel Filho R, Bonomi A. Evaluation of process configurations for second generation integrated with first generation bioethanol production from sugarcane. Fuel Processing Technology. 2013;109:84-9.

[198] Siqueira PF, Karp SG, Carvalho JC, Sturm W, Rodríguez-León JA, Tholozan J-L, et al. Production of bio-ethanol from soybean molasses by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* at laboratory, pilot and industrial scales. Bioresour Technol. 2008;99:8156-63.

[199] Kang KE, Jeong J-S, Kim Y, Min J, Moon S-K. Development and economic analysis of bioethanol production facilities using lignocellulosic biomass. J Biosci Bioeng. 2019;128:475-9.

[200] Amorim HV, Lopes ML, de Castro Oliveira JV, Buckeridge MS, Goldman GH. Scientific challenges of bioethanol production in Brazil. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2011;91:1267-75.

[201] Parashar A, Jin Y, Mason B, Chae M, Bressler DC. Incorporation of whey permeate, a dairy effluent, in ethanol fermentation to provide a zero waste solution for the dairy industry. J Dairy Sci. 2016;99:1859-67.

[202] Verstrepen K, Derdelinckx G, Verachtert H, Delvaux F. Yeast flocculation: What brewers should know. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2003;61:197-205.

[203] Bauer FF, Govender P, Bester MC. Yeast flocculation and its biotechnological relevance. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2010;88:31-9.

[204] D'Amato D, Corbo MR, Nobile MAD, Sinigaglia M. Effects of temperature, ammonium and glucose concentrations on yeast growth in a model wine system. Int J Food Sci Technol. 2006;41:1152-7.

[205] Fujii T, Murakami K, Endo T, Fujimoto S, Minowa T, Matsushika A, et al. Bench-scale bioethanol production from eucalyptus by high solid saccharification and glucose/xylose fermentation method. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng. 2014;37:749-54.

[206] Ahmad QuA, Manzoor M, Chaudhary A, Yang ST, Shim H, Qazi JI. Bench-scale fermentation for second generation ethanol and hydrogen production by *Clostridium thermocellum* DSMZ 1313 from sugarcane bagasse. Environ Prog Sustain Energy. 2021;40:e13516.

[207] Stanley D, Bandara A, Fraser S, Chambers P, Stanley GA. The ethanol stress response and ethanol tolerance of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Appl Microbiol. 2010;109:13-24.

[208] Liu C-G, Xiao Y, Xia X-X, Zhao X-Q, Peng L, Srinophakun P, et al. Cellulosic ethanol production: Progress, challenges and strategies for solutions. Biotechnol Adv. 2019;37:491-504.

[209] Mussatto SI, Dragone G, Guimarães PM, Silva JPA, Carneiro LM, Roberto IC, et al. Technological trends, global market, and challenges of bio-ethanol production. Biotechnol Adv. 2010;28:817-30.

[210] Lemos DA, Sonego JL, Cruz AJ, Badino AC. Improvement of ethanol production by extractive fed-batch fermentation in a drop column bioreactor. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng. 2020;43:2295-303.

[211] Seo H-B, Kim SS, Lee H-Y, Jung K-H. High-level production of ethanol during fed-batch ethanol fermentation with a controlled aeration rate and non-sterile glucose powder feeding of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng. 2009;14:591-8.

[212] Hewitt CJ, Nienow AW. The scale-up of microbial batch and fed-batch fermentation processes. Adv Appl Microbiol. 2007;62:105-35.

[213] Pinto AS, Pereira SC, Ribeiro MP, Farinas CS. Monitoring of the cellulosic ethanol fermentation process by near-infrared spectroscopy. Bioresour Technol. 2016;203:334-40.

[214] Cozzolino D. State-of-the-art advantages and drawbacks on the application of vibrational spectroscopy to monitor alcoholic fermentation (beer and wine). Appl Spectrosc Rev. 2016;51:302-17.

[215] Thatipamala R, Rohani S, Hill G. Effects of high product and substrate inhibitions on the kinetics and biomass and product yields during ethanol batch fermentation. Biotechnol Bioeng. 1992;40:289-97.

[216] Zhang Q, Wu D, Lin Y, Wang X, Kong H, Tanaka S. Substrate and product inhibition on yeast performance in ethanol fermentation. Energ Fuel. 2015;29:1019-27.

[217] Liu ZL, Slininger PJ, Gorsich SW. Enhanced biotransformation of furfural and hydroxymethylfurfural by newly developed ethanologenic yeast strains. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 2005;121:451-60.

[218] Taherzadeh MJ, Gustafsson L, Niklasson C, Lidén G. Conversion of furfural in aerobic and anaerobic batch fermentation of glucose by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Biosci Bioeng. 1999;87:169-74.

[219] Cruz ML, de Resende MM, Ribeiro EJ. Improvement of ethanol production in fed-batch fermentation using a mixture of sugarcane juice and molasse under very high-gravity conditions. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng. 2021;44:617-25.

[220] Cot M, Loret M-O, François J, Benbadis L. Physiological behaviour of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in aerated fed-batch fermentation for high level production of bioethanol. FEMS Yeast Res. 2007;7:22-32.

[221] Kiran EU, Liu Y. Bioethanol production from mixed food waste by an effective enzymatic pretreatment. Fuel. 2015;159:463-9.

[222] Imamoglu E, Sukan FV. The effects of single and combined cellulosic agrowaste substrates on bioethanol production. Fuel. 2014;134:477-84.

[223] Pinilla L, Torres R, Ortiz C. Bioethanol production in batch mode by a native strain of *Zymomonas mobilis*. World J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2011;27:2521-8.

[224] Bisson LF, Butzke CE. Diagnosis and rectification of stuck and sluggish fermentations. Am J Enol Vitic. 2000;51:168-77.

[225] Mendes-Ferreira A, Mendes-Faia A, Leão C. Growth and fermentation patterns of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* under different ammonium concentrations and its implications in winemaking industry. J Appl Microbiol. 2004;97:540-5.

[226] Nakagame S, Chandra RP, Saddler JN. The effect of isolated lignins, obtained from a range of pretreated lignocellulosic substrates, on enzymatic hydrolysis. Biotechnol Bioeng. 2010;105:871-9.

[227] Sluiter JB, Ruiz RO, Scarlata CJ, Sluiter AD, Templeton DW. Compositional analysis of lignocellulosic feedstocks. 1. Review and description of methods. J Agric Food Chem. 2010;58:9043-53.

[228] Zhao C, Qiao X, Shao Q, Hassan M, Ma Z. Evolution of the lignin chemical structure during the bioethanol production process and its inhibition to enzymatic hydrolysis. Energ Fuel. 2020;34:5938-47.

[229] Dodić S, Popov S, Dodić J, Ranković J, Zavargo Z, Mučibabić RJ. Bioethanol production from thick juice as intermediate of sugar beet processing. Biomass Bioenergy. 2009;33:822-7.

[230] Verardi A, De Bari I, Ricca E, Calabrò V. Hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass: Current status of processes and technologies and future perspectives. In: Lima MAP, editor. Bioethanol: IntechOpen; 2012. p. 95-122.

[231] Wentworth SD, Cooper DG. Self-cycling fermentation of a citric acid producing strain of *Candida lipolytica*. J Ferment Bioeng. 1996;81:400-5.

[232] Sauvageau D, Cooper DG. Two-stage, self-cycling process for the production of bacteriophages. Microb Cell Fact. 2010;9:1-10.

[233] Haddis DZ, Chae M, Asomaning J, Bressler DC. Evaluation of steam explosion pretreatment on the cellulose nanocrystals (CNCs) yield from poplar wood. Carbohydr Polym. 2024;323:121460.

[234] Beyene D, Chae M, Dai J, Danumah C, Tosto F, Demesa AG, et al. Enzymatically-mediated co-production of cellulose nanocrystals and fermentable sugars. Catalysts. 2017;7:322.

[235] Beyene D, Chae M, Vasanthan T, Bressler DC. A biorefinery strategy that introduces hydrothermal treatment prior to acid hydrolysis for co-generation of furfural and cellulose nanocrystals. Front Chem. 2020;8:323.

[236] Brexó RP, Sant'Ana AS. Impact and significance of microbial contamination during fermentation for bioethanol production. Renew Sustain Energ Rev. 2017;73:423-34.

[237] Narisetty V, Cox R, Bommareddy R, Agrawal D, Ahmad E, Pant KK, et al. Valorisation of xylose to renewable fuels and chemicals, an essential step in augmenting the commercial viability of lignocellulosic biorefineries. Sustain Energ Fuels. 2022;6:29-65.

[238] Beigbeder J-B, de Medeiros Dantas JM, Lavoie J-M. Optimization of yeast, sugar and nutrient concentrations for high ethanol production rate using industrial sugar beet molasses and response surface methodology. Fermentation. 2021;7:86.

[239] Ergun M, Mutlu SF. Application of a statistical technique to the production of ethanol from sugar beet molasses by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Bioresour Technol. 2000;73:251-5.

Appendix A: supplementary materials



Supplementary Figure 1. The correlation between OD₆₀₀ and cell dry weight (CDW, g/L) in Chapter 3.


Supplementary Figure 2. The correlation between OD₆₀₀ and cell dry weight (CDW, g/L) used in Chapter 4.



Supplementary Figure 3. pH in the SCF with continuous adapted feeding (stage 1) from synthetic fermentation medium (a) and lignocellulosic fermentation medium (b). Cycle numbers are indicated at the beginning of the cycle.



Supplementary Figure 4. The correlation between evolved gas produced (mL/L) and ethanol produced (g/L) per reactor volume in ethanol fermentation of *S. cerevisiae*. The datapoints are acquired from adapted pulsing fed-batch fermentation in Chapter 3.